& 9260 E Stockton Bivd.
On e I Elk Grove, California 95624

Communications

August 7, 2014

Oregon Public Utility Commission
Attention: Filing Center

P.O. Box 2148

550 Capitol Street N.E., Suite 215
Salem, OR 97301-2551

Fax (503) 373-7752

RE: UM 1431 Compliance Letter — Order No. 10-067

Dear Commission:

In compliance with Appendix A, condition # 2 of the above referenced order, Frontier
Communications Northwest Inc is providing a copy of its Quarterly 10-Q report filing and
inter-company receivables, payables and dividends report for the second quarter 2014.
The quarterly inter-company receivables, payables and dividends report is considered
confidential and should be treated as such. Pursuant to Order 09-197, the “Confidential”
document is being sent via US Mail in a sealed envelope with the proper labeling.

If you have any questions, please contact Renee Willer at (503) 629-2459 or
Renee.Willer@ftr.com or me.

Sincerely,

s{eph QC iegthe

Manager, Compliance and Reporting
916-686-3588
joe.chicoine@ftr.com

Enclosures

cc: Renee Willer



Frontier Communications Northwest Inc.
Intercompany Receivables/Payables and Dividends
Second Quarter 2014

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amount)

Assets ( )=cr

Liabilities ( )=dr Balance
Intercompany Receivables/Payables Mar 31, 2014

Accounts Receivable - Affiliates
Notes Receivable - Affiliates
Interest Receivable - Affiliates
Accounts Payable - Affiliates
Notes Payable - Affiliates
Accrued Interest - Affiliates

Cash Dividends Declared 2Q14
Frontier Northwest to Parent

Parent to Shareholders (total)

Parent to Shareholders (per share)

Redacted

Activity
2Q14

Balance
Jun 30, 2014
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FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2014




UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15@f THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June, 2014

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 1p@F THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number:_0011001

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 0€-061959€
(State or other jurisdiction ¢ (I.R.S. Employer Identification No
incorporation or organizatiot

3 High Ridge Parl
Stamford, Connecticut 06905
(Address of principal executive office (Zip Code)

(203) 6145600

(Registrant's telephone number, including area)code

N/A
(Former name, former address and former fiscal, yeelnanged since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ¢ filed all reports required to be filed by Sectk8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4l88ring the preceding 12 months (or for such &ngrériod that
the registrant was required to file such repogsy (2) has been subject to such filing requiremétthe past 90 days.

Yes_ X No_

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hdmmitted electronically and posted on its corpoiteb site, if any, every Interactive Data Filguied to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rofeof
Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months@ostich shorter period that the registrant wasireduo submit and post such files).

Yes_ X  No__

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlsrge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting compaS8ge definition of “accelerated filer,” “large &berated filer” and
“smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of thecBange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExge Act).
Yes__ NoX_

The number of shares outstanding of the regiss@®mmon Stock as of July 25, 2014 was 1,0020003.
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Item 1. Financial Statements

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, less allowance$64,401and$71,362, respectively
Restricted cas
Prepaid expens¢
Income taxes and other current as
Total current asse

Restricted cas
Property, plant and equipment, |
Goodwill
Other intangibles, n¢
Other asset
Total asset

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Long-term debt due within one ye

Accounts payabl

Advanced billings

Accrued taxe:

Accrued interes

Other current liabilitie:

Total current liabilities

Deferred income taxe

Pension and other postretirement ben:
Other liabilities

Long-term deb

Equity:

Common stock$0.25par value (1,750,000,00(authorized share
1,002,131,00fand999,462,00(outstanding, respectively, a
1,027,986,00(ssued, at June 30, 2014 and December 31, :

Additional paic-in capital

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net o

Treasury stocl
Total equity

Total liabilities and equit

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
($ in thousands)

(Unaudited)

June 30, 201 December 31, 201
801,697 $ 880,03¢
463,932 479,21C

3,200 11,411
64,596 68,573
77,830 179,606
1,411,25¢ 1,618,83¢
2,000 2,000
7,162,64¢ 7,255,762
6,337,71¢ 6,337,71¢
1,063,15(C 1,214,932
202,505 206,232
16,179,27¢ $ 16,635,484
262,527 $ 257,916
275,119 327,256
133,560 137,319
107,379 66,276
185,13C 188,639
318,53¢ 324,181
1,282,25¢ 1,301,587
2,355,49¢ 2,417,10¢
697,708 725,333
249,839 262,308
7,650,83: 7,873,667
256,997 256,997
4,086,54¢ 4,321,05¢€
153,062 76,108
(254,601 (260,530
(298,856 (338,150
3,943,15C 4,055,481
16,179,27¢ $ 16,635,48¢

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@msolidated Financial Statements.
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Revenue

Operating expense
Network access expens
Other operating expens
Depreciation and amortizatic
Acquisition and integration cos
Total operating expens:

Gain on sale of Mohave partnership inte
Operating incom:

Investment and other income (expense)
Losses on early extinguishment of d
Interest expens
Income (loss) before income ta>
Income tax expense (bene’
Net income (loss
Less: Income attributable to the noncontroll
interest in a partnersh

Net income (loss) attributable to common sharehsl

of Frontier

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per commones
attributable to common shareholders of Fror

Net income (loss

Other comprehensive income, net of tax (see Noj

Comprehensive income (los
Less: Income attributable to t
noncontrolling interest in a partnersi

Comprehensive income (loss) attributabli
the common shareholders of Fron

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
($ in thousands, except for per-share amounts)

(Unaudited)
For the three months end For the six months endt
June 30 June 30
2014 2013 2014 2013
$ 1,147,265 $ 1,190,53: $ 2,301,311 $ 2,395,92¢
106,224 107,114 213,31€ 216,512
523,385 534,015 1,052,311 1,075,514
273,463 297,84¢ 554,87C 601,524
19,851 - 30,447 -
922,923 938,978 1,850,94¢ 1,893,55(
- 14,601 - 14,601
224,342 266,156 450,367 516,98C
17) 2,956 1,378 7,610
- 159,78C - 159,78C
167,611 166,547 338,56¢ 337,967
56,714 (57,215 113,177 26,843
19,034 (18,755 36,223 14,520
37,680 (38,460 76,954 12,323
- - - 2,643
$ 37,680 $ (38,460 $ 76,954 $ 9,680
$ 004 $ 0.04 $ 008 $ 0.01
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT S OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (L OSS)
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013
($ in thousands)
(Unaudited)
For the three months end For the six months end¢
June 30 June 30
2014 2013 2014 2013

$ 37,680 $ (38,460 $ 76,954 $ 12,323
2,890 6,746 5,929 13,492
40,570 (31,714 82,883 25,815
- - - 2,643
$ 40,570 $ (3,714 $ 82,883 $ 23,172

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@msolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2013, THE SIX MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND THE
SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014
($ and shares in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Equity of Frontiel

Accumulatec

Additional Other
Common Stocl Paic-In Retainec C i Treasury Stocl Total
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Loss Shares Amount Interest Equity
Balance January 1, 20 1,027,98¢ $ 256,997 $ 4,639,56° $ 63,205 $ (483,576 (29,576 8 (368,593 $ 11,675 $ 4,119,271
Stock plans - - (31,045 - - 2,113 35,148 - 4,103
Dividends on common stot - - (199,866 - - - - - (199,866
Net income - - - 9,680 - - - 2,643 12,323
Other comprehensive income, |
of tax - - - - 13,492 - - - 13,492
Distributions - - - - - - - (6,400 (6,400
Sale of Mohave partnership inten - - - - - - - (7.918 (7,918
Balance June 30, 20: 1,027,98¢ 256,997 4,408,652 72,885 (470,084 (27,463 (333,445 - 3,935,008
Stock plan: - - 12,374 - - (1,061 (4,705 - 7,669
Dividends on common stot - - (99,970 (99,932 - - - - (199,902
Net income - - - 103,15¢ - - - - 103,15¢
Pension settlement costs, net of - - - - 27,381 - - - 27,381
Other comprehensive income, |
of tax - - - - 182,173 - - - 182,173
Balance December 31, 20 1,027,98€ 256,997 4,321,05€ 76,108 (260,530 (28,524 (338,150 - 4,055,481
Stock plant - - (34,071 - - 2,669 39,294 - 5,223
Dividends on common stoc - - (200,437 - - - - - (200,437
Net income - - - 76,954 - - - - 76,954
Other comprehensive income, |
of tax - - - - 5,929 - - - 5,929
Balance June 30, 20 1027.98¢ § 256,997 § 2086548 § 15306 § (254,601 (25855 § (298856 § - § 3.943,15(

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@mnsolidated Financial Statements.
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Cash flows provided by (used in) operating actagt
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashidesl by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Losses on early extinguishment of d
Pension/OPEB cos
Stock based compensation expense
Gain on sale of Mohave partnership inte
Other nor-cash adjustmen
Deferred income taxe
Change in accounts receivable
Change in accounts payable and other liabil

Change in prepaid expenses, income taxes and @ihrent asset

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows provided from (used by) investing atiag:
Capital expenditure- Business operatior
Capital expenditures - Integration activities
Network expansion funded by Connect America F

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

($ in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Grant funds received for network expansion from @ America Fun:

Proceeds on sale of Mohave partnership inte

Cash transferred from escrow

Other assets purchased and distributions recemnet
Net cash used by investing activit

Cash flows provided from (used by) financing atigs:
Long-term debt borrowing
Financing costs pai
Long-term debt payments
Premium paid to retire de
Dividends paic
Other financing activitie
Net cash used by financing activit

Decrease in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1,

Cash and cash equivalents at June

Supplemental cash flow informatic
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes, n¢

2014 2013
$ 76,954 $ 12,323
554,87C 601,524

- 159,78C

(417, 8,608

11,892 8,927

- (14,601

19,567 5,568

(66,493 (19,148

15,278 43,202

(34,881 (75,159

64,349 (50,317

641,11¢ 680,707

(260,595 (326,522

(41,575 -

(24,568 (9,233

3,748 5,998

- 17,755

8,211 21,790

21,986 1,721

(292,793 (288,491

10,801 750,00C

(6,140 (19,360

(229,626 (1,534,074

- (159,429

(200,437 (199,866

(1,266 (7,389

(426,668 (1,170,118

(78,342 (777,902

880,03¢ 1,326,532

$ 801,697 $ 548,63C
$ 319,326 $ 348,45¢
$ 14,408 $ 83,462

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@msolidated Financial Statements



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

(b

Frontier Communications Corporation and its sulasids are referred to as “we,” “us,” “our,” “Froetj” or the “Company” in this report. Our interirmaudited consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with accounting piieeigenerally accepted in the United States of Acagt).S. GAAP) and should be read in conjunctiaththe consolidated financial statements and
notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfee year ended December 31, 2013 . All sigaiftantercompany balances and transactions haved#einated in consolidation. These interim
unaudited consolidated financial statements inchltladjustments (consisting of normal recurringraels) considered necessary, in the opinion ofifileds management, to present fairly the resuits f
the interim periods shown. Revenues, net incomecastl flows for any interim periods are not neaglysiadicative of results that may be expectedtfee full year. For our interim financial statengnt
as of and for the period ended June 30 , 2014ewatiated subsequent events and transactions temtjzd recognition or disclosure through the date we filed this quarterly report on Form 10-Qhwi
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Frontier had a 33 % controlling general partner interest in a pahgr entity, the Mohave Cellular Limited PartnepsiMohave). Mohave's results of operations werduitied in our consolidated
financial statements through its date of disposaAgpril 1, 2013. The minority interest of the li t@il partners was reflected in the consolidateestants of operations as “Income attributable to the
noncontrolli ng interest in a partnership.” On Agrj 2013, the Company sold its partnership inteiedViohave and received proceeds of $17.8 millibhe Company recognized a gain on sale of
approximately $14.6 million before taxes in tleeand quarter of 2013.

The preparation of our interim financial statementsonformity with U.S. GAAP requires managementrtake estimates and assumptions that affectgiyeported amounts of assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, (i) the Idisare of contingent assets and liabilities, aiijlttie reported amounts of revenue and expensgisgithe reporting period. Actual results may eifrom
those estimates. Estimates and judgments are wiled acco unting for revenue recognition , inclgdihe allowance for doubtful accounts , impairmehtiong-lived assets, intangible assets,
depreciation and amortization, income taxes, cgeficies, and pension and other postretirement i®nafmong others. Certain information and footndigclosures have been excluded and/or
condensed pursuant to SEC rules and regulations.

Revenue Recognitian
Revenue is recognized when services are providethen products are delivere d to customers. Revémates billed in advance includes: monthly remgrnetwork access services (including data

services), special access services and monthlyriegwoi ce, video and related charges. The ureghportion of these fees is initially deferred ammponent of “Advanced billings” on our consolieldt
balance sheet and recognized as revenue over filoel pdat the services are provided. Revenueighiaitled in arrears includes: non-recurring netivaccess services (including data services), seitch
access services, non-recur ring voice and videdgices. The earned but unbilled portion of theses fiserecognized as revenue in our consolidateérstatts of operations and accrued in accounts
receivable in the period that the services areifgenls Excise taxes are recognized as a liabilitgnwhilled. Installation fees and their relatededirand incremental costs are initially deferred an
recognized as revenue and expense over the averageof a customer relationship. We recognizeuaeeat period expense the portion of installatiosts that exceeds installation fee revenue.

As required by law, the Company collects variousesafrom its customers and subsequently remitsetkeeees to governmental authorities. Substantglllyof these taxes are recorded through the
consolidated balance sheet and presented on asistib our consolid ated statements of operatMifesalso collect Universal Service Fund (USF) sarghs from customers (primarily federal USF) that
we have recorded on a gross basis in our consetidaatements of operations and included within/&Ree” and “Other operating expenses ” of $30lfam and $ 28.1 million , and $60.8 million and
$58.0 million, for the three and six months endeakeJ30 , 2014 and 2013, respectively .



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(c) Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Goodwill represent s the excess of purchase priee the fair value of identifiable tangible andaingible net assets acquired. We undertake stunlidstermine the fair values of assets and liagditi

acquired and allocate purchase prices to assetdiabilities, including property, plant and equipmtegoodwill and o ther identifiable intangibles.eVénnually (during the fourth quarter) or more
frequently, if appropriate, examine the carryindueaof our goodwill and trade name to determine tiviethere are any impairment | osses. We tesgdodwill impairment at the “operating segment”
level, as that term is defined in U.S. GAAP. Ounrfo operating segments consist of the followingioes: Cen tral, East, National and West. Our megli@perating segments are aggregated into one
reportable segment .

The Company amortizes finite-lived intangible asseter their estimated useful lives and reviewshsntangible assets at least annually (during theth quarter) to assess whether any potential
impairment exists and whether factors exist thatldmecessitate a change in useful life and amiffeamortization period.

(2) Recent Accounting Literature

Revenue Recoanition
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsfBq&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ARD)2014-09 , “Revenu e from Contracts with Custisrie This standard requires companies to

recognize revenue to depict the transfer of prothg®ods or services to customers in an amountréfigcts the consideration to which the companyeeipto be entitled in exchan ge for those goods or
services. This new standard is effective for aniamal interim reporting periods beginning after Deber 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted. Ganies are permitted to either apply the requirgsnen
retrospectively to all prior periods presentedapply the requirements in the year of adoptiorgugh a cumulative adjustment. The Company is ctirewaluating the impact of adopting the new stadd

on January 1, 2017 , but has not yet selectechaiti@n method or determined the impact of adoptinrits consolidated financial statements.

Discontinued Operations
In April 2014, the FASB issu ed ASU No. 2014-0&eporting Discontinued Operations and DisclosufeBigpo sals of Components of an Entity " whietises the threshold for a disposal to qualify as

discontinued operations and requires new disclsstoeindividually material disposal transactiohsttdo not meet the definition of a discontinueperation. Under the new standard, companies report
discontinued operations when they have a dispbsalrepresents a strategic shift that has or aieha major impact on op erations or financial ltes@This new standard will be a pplied prospedyivand
will be effective for the Company on January 1,20This new standard is not expected to havetarimbimpact on the Company's consolidated finalngiatements .

Internal Control— Integrated Framework
In May 2013, the Committee of Sponsoring Organizetiof the Treadway Commission (COSO) issued itiatgul Internal Control — Integrated Framework @0é3 Framework) and related illustrative

documents. COSO will continue to make availableitginal Framework during the transition periodemding to December 15, 2014. The Company currenilizes COSO'’s original Framework, which
was published in 1992 and is recognized as thergagliidance for designing, implementing and cotidgcinternal controls over external financial refimy and assessing its effectiveness. The 2013
Framework is expected to help organizations deaighimplement internal control in light of many obas in business and operating environments siecessuance of the original Framework, broaden the
application of internal control in addressing operss and reporting objectives, and clarify theuiegments for determining what constitutes effeziivternal control. We plan to adopt the 2013 Fraork
during 2014 and do not expect that it will haveégai§icant impact on the Company.



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(3) The Transactios:

(4

G

The 2010 Transaction

On July 1, 2010, the Company acquired the defirestta and liabilities of the local exchange busireesl related landline activities of Verizon Comiations Inc. (Verizon) in 14 states (the Acquired
Territories), including Internet access , long aliste services and broadband video provided to mi@sid customers in the Acquired Territories (thel@QAcquired Business). Frontier was considered the
acquirer of the 2010 Acquired Business for accagngiurposes. All integration activities for the BOlransaction were completed as of the end of 2012.

The AT&T Transaction

On December 17, 2013 , the Company announcedttéatared into an agreement to acquire the wirglioperties of AT&T Inc. (AT&T) in Connecticut (th&T&T Transaction) for a purchase price of $2.0
billion in cash, with ad justments for working ceghi Upon completion of the AT&T Transaction, Frientwill operate AT&T's wireline business and fibeptic network that provides services to residéntia
commercial and whole sale customers in Connecfitwt. Company will also acquire AT&T's U-verse® vidand satellite TV customers in Connecticut.

The Company will account for the AT&T Transactiondccordance with the guidance included in U.SAB for business combinations . We incurred $918illion and $ 30.4 million of acquisition
and integrat ion relat ed costs in connectiofmwie AT&T Transaction during the three and six therended June 30, 2014 , respectively .

On July 25, 2014, the Federal Communications Cosions(FCC) approved the AT&T Transaction. The Conypis currently also seeking approval from the Gamicut Public Utilities Regulatory
Authority , and has already receiv ed Justice Diepamt approval.

Accounts Receivabte
The components of accounts receivable, net arellasvé:
(8 in thousands June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Retail and Wholesal $ 487,268 $ 498,717
Other 41,065 51,855
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (64,401 (71,362
Accounts receivable, net $ 463,932 $ 479,210

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts Hame our estimate of our ability to collect accaurgceivable. Bad debt expense, which is recordearaduction to revenue, was $11.8 million and $
16.1 million , and $24.7 million and $32.3 milliofior the three and six months ended June 30 , 264013 , respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, net is as follows:

(8 in thousands) June 30, 201 December 31, 201

Property, plant and equipme $ 15,139,27: $ 14,850,697

Less: Accumulated depreciation (7,976,623 (7,594,935
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 7,162,64¢ $ 7,255,762

Depreciation expense is principally based on tirepmsite group method. Depreciation expense was7$Ifillion and $ 210.8 million , and $ 403.1 nuitii and $427.5 million, for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respect ively.rAsut of an independent study of the estimatethieing useful lives of our plant assets, we adibpte

8



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
new estimated remaining useful lives for certaiam assets as of October 1, 2013 , with an infségnit impact to depreciation expense.

(6) Goodwill andOther Intangibles
The components of goodwill by the reporting uniteffect as of both June 30, 2014 and Decembge2(L3 are as follows:

(8 in thousands)

Central $ 1,815,49¢
East 2,003,57¢
National 1,218,11¢
West 1,300,534

Total Goodwill $ 6 1<

The components of other intangibles are as follows:

$ in thousands June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Gross Carrying Accumulatec Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulatec Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Other Intangibles:

Customer bas $ 2,427,648 $ (1,488,634 $ 939,014 $ 2,427,648 $ (1,336,852 $ 1,090,79€
Trade name and licen 124,13€ - 124,13€ 124,13€ - 124,13€
Total other intangibles $ 2,551,78¢ $ (1,488,634 $ 1,063,15¢ $ 2,551,78¢ $ (1,336,852 $ 1,214,932

Amortization expense was $ 75.9 million and $087million , and $ 151.8 million and $174.0 llan, for the three and six months ended June 3014 and 2013 , respectively. Amortization expense
represents the amortization of intangible assetmgpily customer base) that were acquired in th&@Transaction based on a useful life of nine g/éar the residential customer base and 12 yearthéo
business customer base, amortized on an accelenatidd.

@

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table summarizes the carrying amouantd estimated fair values for long-term debt ateJ80 , 2014 and December 31, 2013 . For the dithencial instruments including cash, accounts
receivable, long-term debt due within one yearpaots payable and other current liabilities, theyéag amounts approximate fair value due to tHatieely short ma turities of those instrument&ther
equity method investments, for which market valaresnot readily available, are carried at costciviaipproximates fair value.

The fair value of our long-term debt is estimateddrl upon quoted market prices at the reportirggfdathose financial instruments.

($.in thousands June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Carrying Carrying
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Long-term deb $ 7,650,83: $ 8,419,06¢ $ 7,873,661 $ 8,191,74¢



(8) LongTerm Debt

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The activity in our long-term debt from December 3@1 3 to June 30, 2014 is summarized as follows:

(8 in thousands

Senior Unsecured De

Other Secured Del

Rural Utilities Service Loan Contrac
Total Lon¢-Term Debt

Less: Debt (Discount)/Premiu
Less: Current Portia

* Interest rate includes amortization of debt issce costs a nd debt premiums or discounts. TheeBtteates at June 30 , 2014 represent a weightedage of multiple issuances .

Six months ende

June 30, 201 Interest

Rate a

December 31 Payments New June 30 June 30

2013 and Retirement Borrowings 2014 2014 *

$ 8,107,06¢ $ (228,750 $ - 8 7,878,31€ 7.93%

13,550 (669, 10,801 23,682 3.62%

8,930 (207 - 8,723 6.15%

$ 8,129,54¢ § (229,626 $ 10,801 $ 7,910,721 7.91%
2,037 2,639
(257,916 (262,527

7,87 7,650,83:
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(Unaudited)
Additional information regarding our Senior UnsesiDebt is as follows:
($in thousands June 30, 201 December 31, 201
Principal Interest Principal Interest
Outstanding Rate Outstanding Rate
Senior Notes and Debentures D
5/1/2014 - - 200,00C 8.250%
3/15/2015 105,026 6.625% 105,02¢ 6.625%
4/15/2015 96,872 7.875% 96,872 7.875%
10/14/2016 * 431,250 3.025% (Variable 460,00C 3.045% (Variable
4/15/2017 606,874 8.250% 606,874 8.250%
10/1/2018 582,738 8.125% 582,73¢ 8.125%
3/15/2019 434,000 7.125% 434,00C 7.125%
4/15/202C 1,021,508 8.500% 1,021,508 8.500%
7/1/2021 500,000 9.250% 500,00C 9.250%
4/15/2022 500,000 8.750% 500,00C 8.750%
1/15/2023 850,000 7.125% 850,00C 7.125%
4/15/2024 750,000 7.625% 750,00C 7.625%
11/1/2025 138,000 7.000% 138,00C 7.000%
8/15/2026 1,739 6.800% 1,739 6.800%
1/15/2027 345,858 7.875% 345,858 7.875%
8/15/2031 945,325 9.000% 945,328 9.000%
10/1/2034 628 7.680% 628 7.680%
7/1/2035 125,000 7.450% 125,00C 7.450%
10/1/204€ 193,500 7.050% 193,50C 7.050%
7,628,31€ 7,857,06¢€
Subsidiary Senior Notes and Debentures Due:
2/15/2028 200,000 6.730% 200,00C 6.730%
10/15/202¢ 50,000 8.400% 50,000 8.400%
Total $ 7,878,31€ 7.78% ** 8,107,06¢ 7.78% **

*  Represents borrowings under the 2011 CoBaneklit Agreement, as defined below .
** |nterest rate represents a weighted averdgleostated interest rates of multiple issuances.

During the first six months of 2014, we enteredisécured financings totaling $10. 8 million withuf year terms and no stated interest rate foaiceejuipment purchases.

On December 16, 2013, we signed a commitment I&dtea bridge loan facility (the Bridge Facilityhd recognized interest expense related to this domemt of $7.5 million and $15.0 million during the
three and six months ended June 30 , 2014. On §aB8a2014, we entered into a bridge loan agre¢ifiea Bridge Loan Agreement) with the Lenders yp#nereto and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent, pursuant to which the Lendienge agreed at closing of the AT&T Transactiomprtovide to us an unsecured bridge loan facilitydprto $1.9 billion for the purposes of funding (i)
substantially all of the purchase price for the AT&ransaction and (ii) the fees and expenses iaduim connection with the transactions contemplétgdhe stock purchase agreement for the AT&T
Transaction. Pursuant to the Bridge Loan Agreeniéand to the extent we do not, or are unableéssye debt securities yielding up to $1.9 billiangross cash proceeds on or prior to the closintef
AT&T Transaction, we shall draw down up to $1.9ibil, less the amount of the debt securities, ¥, @sued by us on or prior to the closing of tiB&A Transaction, in aggregate principal amountaafrs
under the Bridge Facility to fund the purchaseg@oéthe AT&T Transaction.
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On July 16 , 2014, t he Bridge Facility was redubg&350.0 million following execution of the 20G6Bank Credit Agreement, as defined below. Alleotterms and conditions remain unchanged.

On June 2, 2014, the Company entered into a cagditement with CoBank, ACB, as administrative ageatl arranger and a lender, and the other leqaetg thereto, for a $350.0 million senior unsecur
delayed draw term loan facility (the 2014 CoBanledir Agreement). The facility will be drawn uporosing of the AT&T Transaction with proceeds usegbaatially finance the acquisition. The maturity
date is the earlie r of the fifth anniversary of diraw date and December 15, 2019 . Repaymeheautstanding principal balance will be made uarterly installments in the amount of $8.8 million
commencing one full fiscal quarter after the draated with the remaining outstanding principal batato be repaid on the maturity date. Borrowingdeurthe 2014 CoBank Credit Agreement will bear
interest based on the margins over the Base Ratefined in the 2014 CoBank Credit Agreement) I@QR, at the election of the Company. Interest raggins under the facility (ranging from 0.875% to
2.875% for Base Rate borrowings and 1.875% to 34#& LIBOR borrowings) are subject to adjustmeased on the Total Leverage Ratio of the Compasguah term is defined in the 2014 CoBank
Credit Agreement.

On June 2, 2014, t he Company entered into a neviviag credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase BahR., as administrative agent, the lenders pargyeto and the other parties named therein (the New
Revolving Credit Agreement), for a $750.0 millieevolving credit facility (the New Revolving Creditcility) with a scheduled termination date of May, 2018 and terminated its existing revolving dred
facility (the Prio r Revolving Credit Facility) ued the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3, 20®)ray the Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., agnétrative agent, the lenders party thereto aed th
other parties named therein (the Prior Revolvingd@rAgreement). As of June 30 , 2014, the Newd®ing Credit Facility was fully available and borrowings had been made thereunder . Associated
commitment fees under the New Revolving Crediilfg will vary from time to time depending on tf@ompany’s debt rating (as defined in the New Réngl Credit Agreement) and were 0.400 % per
annum as of June 30 , 2014 . During the term ofNee Revolving Credit Facility, the Company may rioov, repay and reborrow funds, and may obtainretté credit, subject to customary borrowing
conditions. Loans under the New Revolving Creditilg will bear interest based on the alternateebeate or the adjusted LIBO R ate (each as daterhin the New Revolving Credit Agreement), at the
Company'’s election, plus a margin based on the @oiyip debt rating (ranging from 0.50% to 1.50% ddternate base rate borrowings and 1.50% to 2.5@%adjusted LIBO R ate borrowings). The
current pricing on this facility would have bee® D.% or 2.0 0 % , respectively, as of June 301420Letters of credit issued under the New Rewg\Credit Facility will also be subject to feestthary
depending on the Company’s debt rating. The NewoRéw Credit Facility is available for general porate purposes but may not be u sed to fund didigeayments. The terms of the New Revolving
Credit Facility are substantially similar to thente of the Prior Revolving Credit Facility .

The Company has a credit agreement with CoBank, AGBdministrative agent, lead arranger and ateaeid the other lenders party thereto, for a $bbllion senior unsecured term loan facility with
final maturity of October 14, 2016 (the 2011 CoB&redit Agreement). The entire facility was drawson execution of the 2011 CoBank Credit Agreemer@dtober 2011. Repayment of the outstanding
principal balance is made in quarterly installmentthe amount of $14.4 million, which commencedMarch 31, 2012, with the remaining outstandinggipal balance to be repaid on the final maturity
date. Borrowings under the 2011 CoBank Credit Agrert bear interest based on the margins over tise Bate (as defined in the 2011 CoBank Credit Ages#) or LIBOR, at the election of the
Company. Interest rate margins under the facilianging from 0.875% to 2.875% for Base Rate bomgwiand 1.875% to 3.875% for LIBOR borrowings) subject to adjustments based on the Total
Leverage Ratio of the Company, as such term ismeéfin the 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement. The ctipening on this facility is LIBOR plus 2.875% .

As of June 30, 2014 , we were in compliance witbfeour debt and credit facility financial coventa.
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P rincipal payments for our currently outstandiedpifor the next five years are as follows as oJ80 , 2014 :

(9) Income Taxes:

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
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($ in thousands

2014 (remaining six month
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

(Unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of the provisifor income taxes computed at federal statutorysraiehe effective rates:

Consolidated tax provision at federal statutorg

State income tax provisions, net of federal inct
tax benefit

Noncontrolling interes

Tax reserve adjustme

Changes in certain deferred tax balar

IRS audit adjustmen

All other, net

Effective tax rate

Principal
Payments
$ 30,315
$ 262,541
$ 348,167
$ 610,075
$ 583,948
$ 434,565
For the three months end For the six months endt
June 30 June 30
2013 2014 2013
35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %
1.9 9.2 1.1 8.2)
- (0.6) - -
3.2 7.7 1.6) (154,
- (10.6, (2.5) 226
- (9.0) - 19.3
(0.1) 1.1 - 0.8
33.6 % 32.8 % 32.0 % 54.1 %

Income taxes for the three and six months ended 30n2014 include a $1.9 million benefit from tied reversal of reserves for uncertain tax positidtmcome taxes for the six months ended June28@4

incl ude the impactofa $2.9 million benefirising from state tax law changes .

Income taxes for the three and six months ended 30n2013 include the impact of a charge of $5lkom resulting from the settlement of the 20108IRRudit and a $6.0 million charge resulting frora th

adjustment of deferred tax balances, partiallyetffsy a $4.4 million benefit from the net reverstteserves for uncertain tax positions.

As of June 30, 2014, there were no uncertaipeesitions for which the statutes of limitations arpected to expire during the next twelve montigswhich would affect our effective tax rate .
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(10) Net IncoméLoss)Per Common Share
The reconciliation of the net income per commorreitalculation is as follows:
For the three months end For the six months ende¢
($ and shares in thousands, except per share am) June 30 June 30
2014 2013 2014 2013

Net income (loss) used for basic and diluted eas

per common shar
Net income (loss) attributable to common sharehrsldé Frontiet $ 37,680 $ (38,460 $ 76,954 $ 9,680
Less: Dividends paid on unvested restricted stvedrds (746) (755) (1,513 (1,276
Total basic and diluted net income (loss) attribleédo commor

shareholders of Frontit $ 36,934 $ (39,215 $ 75,441 $ 8,404
Basic earnings per common she
Total weighted average shares and unvested restisedck

awards outstandin- basic 1,002,191 999,234 1,001,47¢ 998,77C
Less: Weighted average unvested restricted stwakds (7,563 (6,623 (7,189 (6,606
Total weighted average shares outstan- basic 994,628 992,611 994,285 992,164
Basic net income (loss) per share attributableotormon

shareholders of Frontit $ 0.04 $ (0.04 $ 0.08 $ 0.01
Diluted earnings per common shs
Total weighted average shares outstan- basic 994,628 992,611 994,285 992,164
Effect of dilutive share 2,157 603 2,645 449
Total weighted average shares outstan- diluted 996,785 993,214 996,93C 992,612
Diluted net income (loss) per share attributablecxmmor

shareholders of Frontit $ 0.04 $ 0.04 3 0.08 $ 0.01

Stock Options
For the three and six months ended June 30 , 26fons to purchase 83,000 shares (at exercisespranging from $ 12.50 to $ 14.15 ) and for tree and six months ended June 30 , 2013, aption

purchase 93,000 shares (at exercise prices mfigim $ 12.50 to $ 14.15 ) , issuable under engeogompensation plans were excluded from the catipatof diluted earnings per share (EPS) for those
periods because the exercise prices were greaertile average market price of our common stock tedefore, the effect wou Id be antidilutive.dalculating diluted EPS, we apply the treasury lstoc
method and include future unearned compensatipaa®f the assumed proceeds.

Stock Units

At June 30, 2014 and 2013 , we had 1, 372,16312041,128 stock units, respectively, issued underNon-Employee Directors’ Deferred Fee Equity P(Breferred Fee Plan) and the Non-Employee
Directors’ Equity Incentive Plan (Directors’ EquiBlan). These securities have not been includeberdiluted income per share of common stock chilticin for the three and six months ended June 30 ,
2014 and 2013 because their inclusion would havengidilutive effect.

(11) Stock Plans
At June 30, 2014 , we had six stock-based comgiensglans under which grants were made and awardsined outstanding. No further awards may lbetgd under four of the plans: the 1996 Equity
Incentive Plan (the 1996 EIP), the Amended and@edt2000 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2000 EIP),26@9 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 E IP) andDle¢erred Fee Plan. At June 30 , 2014 , there were
22,540,761 shares authorized for grant and 14,88%Mhares available for grant under the 2013 Edndgntive Plan (the 2013 EIP and together with1t®@6 EIP, the 2000 EIP and the 2009 EIP,
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the EIPs ) and the Directors’ Equity Plan. Our gehpolicy is to issue shares from treasury upengfant of restricted shares and the exercisetafrep

Performance Shares

On February 15, 2012, the Company’s Compensatianriltiee, in consultation with the other non-managentirectors of the Company’s Board of Directansl he Committee’s independent executive
compensation consultant, adopted the Frontier Loemgn Incentive Plan (the LTIP ). LTIP awards ararged in t he form of performance shares. The LiFleurrently offered under the Company’s 2009
EIP and 2013 EIP, and participants consist of sené presidents and above. The LTIP awards haviepnance, market and time-vesting conditions.

Beginning in 2012, during the first 90 days of eeth-year performance period (a M easurement P¢riadarget number of performance shares are @&aaaieach LTIP participant with resp ect to the
Measurement Period. The performance metrics umget TIP are (1) annual targets for operating césh based on a goal set during the first 90 daysach year in the three-year Measurement Period and
(2) an overall performance “modifier” set duringeftfirst 90 days of the Measurement Period, basetherCompany’s total return to stockholders (i.€atal Shareholder Return or TSR ) relative to the
Integrated Telecommunications Services Group (Q08e 50101020) for the three-ye ar Measuremeno@®e@perating cash flow performance is determirtetieaend of each year and the annual results
will be averaged at the end of the three-year Memsent Period to determine the preliminary numiieshares earned under the LTIP award. The TSRmpeance measure is then applied to decrease or
increase payouts based on the Company’s threergiedive TSR performance. LTIP awards, to the exézmned, will be paid out in the form of commoackt shortly following the end of the three-year
Measurement Period.

In 2012, the Compensation Committee granted apprately 979, 000 performance shares under the LitPsat the operating cash flow performance goalHerfirst year in the 2012-2014 Measurement
Period and the TSR modifier for the three-year Meament Period. In 2013, the Compensation Commgtaated approximately 1,124,000 performance shamder the LTIP and set the operating cash
flow performance goal for 2013, which applies te flist year of the 2013-2015 Measurement Periatithe second year of the 2012-2014 Measurementd?e®in February 17 , 2014 , the Compensation
Committee granted 1,028,000 performance shareg tinelé.TIP and set the operating cash flow perfarceagoal for 2014, which applies to the first yisathe 2014-2016 Measurement Period , the second
year of the 2013-2015 Measurement Period and freykar of the 2012-2014 Measurement Period. Tumeber of shares of common stock earned at the eedab three-year Measurement Period may be
more or less than the number of target performahzges granted as a result of operating ¢ ash dlotv TSR performance. An executive must maintaitesfactory performance rating during the
Measurement Period and must be employed by the &oyrgt the end of the three-year Measurement Periaider for the award to vest. The Compensafiommittee will determine the number of shares
earned for each three year Measurement Perioddru&ey of the year following the end of the Measueat Period.

The following summary presents information regagdifTIP target performance shares as of June 304 a@d changes during the six months then endédregiard to LTIP shares awarded under the 2009
EIP and the 2013 EIP :

Number o

Shares
Balance at January 1, 2014 1,749,00C
LTIP target performance shares grar 1,028,00C
LTIP target performance shares forfeited (80,000
Balance at June 30, 20 2,697,00C

For the six months ended June 30 , 2014 and 20E3Company recognized an expense of $ 2.0 midlimh$ 0.7 million, respectively, for the LTIP.
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Restricted Stock
The following summary presents information regagdimvested restricted stock as of June 30 , 20d4hanges during the six months then ended witardet restricted stock under the 2009 EIP and the
2013 EIP:

Weightec
Average
Number of Grant Date Aggregate
Shares Fair Value Fair Value
Balance at January 1, 2014 6,234,000 $ 4.80 $ 28,988,000
Restricted stock grante 3,766,00C $ 471 $ 21,995,000
Restricted stock vested (2,282,00C $ 5.23 $ 13,329,00(
Restricted stock forfeite (242,000 $ 4.50
Balance at June 30, 2014 7,476,000 $ 4.64 $ 43,661,000

For purposes of determining compensation expehsdatr value of each restricted stock grant igvested based on the average of the high and lowenarice of a share of our common stock on the dat
grant. Total remaining unrecognized compensatiat @ssociated with unvested restricted stock anatrdene 30, 2014 was $ 28.9 million and theghted average period over which this cost is exquect
to be recognized is approximately two years.

Shares granted during the first six months of 2@t&led 3,340,000 . The total fair value of shapesited and vested at June 30 , 2013 was appratin&3.5 million and $ 7.6 million , respectivelthe
total fair value of unvested restricted stock ateJ80 , 2013 was $ 31.2 million . The weightedrage grant date fair value of restricted sharastgd during the six month s ended June 30 , 2Gk3%w
4.10.

We have granted restricted stock awards to empfoyeehe form of our common stock. None of therietd stock awards may be sold, assigned, pledgeatherwise transferred, voluntarily or
involuntarily, by the employees until the restidcts lapse, subject to limited exceptions. The ii&ins are time-based. Compensation expense, nézmtjin “Other operating expenses”, of $ 9.6 liomil
and $ 8.4 million for the six months ended June 3014 and 2013, respectively, has been recordedrinection with these grants.

Stock Options
There ha s been no activity with regard to stodioog during the first six months of 2014. Them@swo intrinsic value for the stock options outdiag and exercisable at June 30, 2014 and 2013 .

(12) Segment Information
We operate in one reportable segment. Frontierigesvboth regulated and unregulated voice, datavaled services to residential, business and whtesustomers and is typically the incumbent voice

services provider in its service areas.
As permitted by U.S. GAAP, we have utilized the rggtion criteria to combine our operating segmeetsause all of our properties share similar econaimaracteristics, in that they provide the same

products and services to similar customers usimgpaoable technologies in all of t he states in Whie operate. The regulatory s tructure is genesthilar. Differences in the regulatory regimeaof
particular state do not significantly impact thememic characteristics or operating results of iqudar property .
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(13) Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income aref ghins and losses affecting shareholders’ investand pension/postretirement benefit (OPEB) lligs that, under U.S. GAAP, are excluded from net
income.

The components of accumulated other comprehenssge het of tax at June 30, 2014 and 2013 , amadge's for the six months then ended, are as fallows

Deferred taxes on pension ¢

($ in thousands Pension Cost OPEB Cost: OPEB cost: All other Total

Balance at January 1, 20 $ (411,432 $ (5,230 $ 156,280 $ (148 $ (260,530
Other comprehensive income before reclassificar - - - 148 148
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmelve los: 9,660 (336, (3,543 - 5,781

Net curren-period other comprehensive income (Ic 9,660 (336; (3,543 148 5,929

Balance at June 30, 20 $ (401,772 $ (5566 $ 152,737 $ - $ (254,601

Deferred taxes on pension ¢

(8 in thousands Pension Cost OPEB Costt OPEB costt All other Total

Balance at January 1, 20 $ (697,874 $ (74,264 $ 288,712 $ (1500 $ (483,576
Other comprehensive income before reclassificar (230; - 356 2 128
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmslive los: 20,148 1,406 (8,190 - 13,364

Net curren-period other comprehensive income (Ic 19,918 1,406 (7,834 2 13,492

Balance at June 30, 20 $ (677,956 $ (72,858 $ 280,878 $ (148 $ (470,084

The significant items reclassified from each comgmrof accumulated other comprehensive loss fothtee and six months ended June 30 , 2014 and&@13s follows:

(S in thousands Amount Reclassified from
Other C L
Details about Other Comprehe For the three months ended June 30, For the June 30, Affected Line Item in the Statement Wht
Loss C 1 2014 2013 2014 2013 Net Income is Presented
Amortization of Pension Cost lter”
Prior-service cost $ an s @ s 22 s @)
Actuarial gains/(losse: (4819 (10,072 (9638 (20,144
(4,830 (10,074 (9,660 (20,148 Income (loss) before income tax
Tax impacl 1835 3828 3671 7.656 Income tax (expense) bene
$ 5% § (6,246 $ (5,989 § (12,492 Net income (loss
Amortization of OPEB Cost Itenfs
Prior-service costs $ 890 § 1525 § 1780 § 3,050
Actuarial gains/(losses) (722 (2,228 (1,444 (4,456
168 (703, 336 (1406 Income (loss) before income tax
Tax impact (64) 267 (128 534 Income tax (expense) bene
§ 104 § @36 § 208 § G72 Net income (loss

(a) Amounts in parentheses indicate losses.
(b) These accumulated other comprehensive loss aoemgs are included in the computation of net piigipension and OPEB cost s (see Note 1 4 - RetineRlans for additional details).
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(14) Retirement Plans
The following tables provide the components of periodic benefit cost:
Pension Benefit
For the three months end For the six months endt
June 30 June 30
2014 2013 2014 2013
($.in thousand)
Components of net periodic pension benefit:
Service cos $ 9,940 $ 12,834 $ 19,880 $ 25,668
Interest cost on projected benefit obligat 19,824 18,880 39,648 37,760
Expected return on plan ass (23,512 (24,590 (47,024 (49,180
Amortization of prior service cost /(cred 11 2 22 4
Amortization of unrecognized lo: 4,819 10,072 9,638 20,144
Net periodic pension benefit cc $ 11,082 $ 17,198 $ 22,164 $ 34,396

Postretirement Benefi
Other Than Pensions (OPE
For the three months end For the six months end

June 30 June 30
2014 2013 2014 2013

($.in thousand)

Components of net periodic postretirement benefit

Service cos $ 2,553 $ 3179 $ 5,106 $ 6,358
Interest cost on projected benefit obligat 4,788 4,440 9,576 8,880
Expected return on plan ass @ (43) (14) (86)
Amortization of prior service cost/(cred (890; (1,525 (1,780 (3,050
Amortization of unrecognized lo: 722 2,228 1,444 4,456
Net periodic postretirement benefit ¢ $ 7,166 $ 8279 ¢ 14332 % 16,558

During the first six months of 201 4 and 201 3 ,eapitalized $ 7.9 million and $ 10.0 million, resfively, of pension and OPEB expense into the abstr capital expenditures, as the costs retatut
engineering and plant construction activities. Base current assumptions and plan asset valuesstiraate that our 201 4 pension and OPEB expenifidsevapproximately $65 million to $ 85 million ffo
our current business operations, excluding amoeaytitalized into the cost of capital expenditu@scompared to  $ 97.1 million in 2013, excludihg impact of pension settlement costs and amounts
capitalized into the cost of capital expenditur¥ge made total cash contributions to our pensian pluring the six months ended June 30 , 20143df. $ million . An additional cash contribution$£9.6
million was made on July 15, 2014. We expect thatuill make total contributions of cash and/or othassets to our pension plan of approximately $tdidon in 2014.

The Compa ny’s pension plan assets have in créesad$1,2 16.5 million at December 31, 201 3 th,#76.5 million at June 30, 2014 , an in crezfs® 60.0 million, or 5 % . This in crease iseault
of positive investment returns of $ 95.5 milliordazash contributions of $ 31.2 million, offset lyenefit payments of $ 66.7 million during thesfisix months of 2014 .

(15) _Commitments and Contingencies
We anticipate total capital expenditures for ourrent business operations of approximately $57%anito $ 625 million for 2014 , excluding the exyiiture of funds previously received from th e Cectn
America Fund program. Although we from time to timake short-term purchasing commitments to venditfsrespect to these expenditures, we generallyale@nter into firm, written contracts for such
activities.
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In connection with the pending AT&T Transactione tBompany currently expects to incur operating Bsps and capital expenditures of approximately $22%on to $275 million in 2014 relate d to
integration ini tiatives. The Company incurred $43fillion of operating expenses, consisting of1.6 million and $ 28.8 million of acquisition aimtegration costs , respectively , and $ 41.6iomilin
capital expenditures related to the AT&T Transactiaring the six months ended June 30, 2014.

In connection with the 2010 Transaction, the FG@®d certain state regulatory commissions, in caimreaevith granting their approvals of the 2010 Tsaction, specified certain capital expenditure and
operating requirements for the Acquired Territofisspecified periods of time post-closing. Thesguirements focus primarily on certain capitaleistment commitments to expand broadband avaiiabili
to at least 85% of the households throughout thguiked Territories with minimum download speed8ahegabits per second (Mbps) by the end of 20Me are required to provide download speeds of 4
Mbps to at least 75%, 80% and 85% of the househbtdsighout the Acquired Territories by the en@813, 2014 and 2015, respectively . As of DecerBlie2013, we met our FCC requirement to provide
3 Mbps coverage to 85% of the hou seholds in thguiked Territories by the end of 2013. As of Decem®l, 2012 , w e also met our FCC requirementdwige 4 Mbps coverage to 75% and 80% of the
households in the Acquired Territories by the eh80i3 and 2014 , respectively . As of June 3014 , we expanded broadband availability in exoégsMbps to 83.9 % of the households throughbet t
Acquired Territories.

To satisfy all or part of certain capital investtheammitments to three state regulatory commissiorm®nnection with the 2010 Transaction , we pliageotal of $115.0 million in cash into escrow @aats
and obtained a letter of credit for $190 million2010. In September 2013, the letter of credit ®@dyi Another $72.4 milli on of cash in an escraecount was acquired in connection with the 2010
Transaction to be used for service quality initiesi in the state of West Virginia. As of June 2014 , $ 184.5 million had been released frometierow accounts and the Company had a restrietgl ¢
balance in the remaining escrow account in theeagge amount of $ 3.2 milli on , including intereatned. The aggregate amount of this escrow atedlicontinue to decrease over time as we make th
required capital expenditures in West Virginia .

In our normal course of business, we have obligationder certain non-cancela ble arrangementsefoices. During 2012, we entered into a “take oyf’marangement for the purchase of future long
distance and carrier services. Our remaining comanits under the arrangement are $145. 5 million$dd®.8 million for the years ending December 31, £and 2015, respectively. As of June 30, 2014 ,
we expect to utilize the services included witltiia &rrangement and no liability for the “take oy’parovision has been recorded.

We are party to various legal proceedings (inclgditividual, class and putative class actionsjiagiin the normal course of our business coveaimgde range of matters and types of claims incggbut
not limited to, general contracts, billing dispyteights of access, taxes and surcharges, consproggction, trademark and patent infringement, eyrplent, regulatory, tort, claims of competitors and
disputes with other carriers.

We accrue an expense for pending litigation whendetrmine that an unfavorable outcome is probaht: the amount of the los s can be reasonably &stinlLegal defense costs are expensed as
incurred. None of our existing accruals , aftemsidering insurance coverage, fo r pending matsensaterial . We monitor our pending litigatiasr the purpose of adjusting our accruals and rexgsbur
disclosures accordingly, when required. Litigatisrhowever, subject to uncertainty, and the outofrany particu lar matter is not predictable. Wil vigorously defend our interests for pendintigation,

and as of this date, we believe that the ultimas®lution of all such matters, after considerirguiance coverage or other indemnities to which neeeatitled, will not have a material adverse effat our
consolidated financial position, results of openasi, or our cash flows.

We sold all of our utility b usinesses as of A@il2004. However, we have retained a potential payrabligation associated with our previous eleattility activ ities in the State of Vermont. Thermont
Joint Owners (VJO), a consortium of 14 Vermontitig#, including us, entered into a purchase poageee ment with Hydro-Quebec in 1987. The agreew@mtains “step-up” provisions that state if any
VJO member defaults on its purchase obligation vttt contract to purchase power from Hydro-Quetiemm the other VJO participants will assume resiility for the defaulting part y's share on a pro
rata basis. Our pro-rata share of the purchase pobligation is 10% . If any member of the VJIGadsts on its obligations under the Hydro-Quebe®ament, then the remaining members of the VJO,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

including us, may be required to pay for a subgtyptarger share of the VJO's total purchase poulgigation for the remainder of the agreem ertti¢l runs through 2015). U.S. GAAP rules requir th
we disclose “the maximum potential amount of futpeyments (undiscounted) the guarantor could beinet)to make under the guarantee.” U.S. GAAP ralss state that we must make such disclosure
“... even if the likelihood of the guarantor’s havitggmake any payments u nder the guarantee is eenfof\s noted above, our obligation only arises assalt of default by another VJO me mber, such as
upon bankruptcy. Therefore, to satisfy the “maximpotential amount” disclosure requirement we mssuae that all members of the VJO simultaneousiguite an unlikely scenario given that all VJO
members are regulated utility providers with regedecost recovery. Despite the remote chance titdx an event could occur, or that the State of \datngould or would allow such an event, assumirag th
all the members of the VJO defaulted on JanuaB01,4 and remained in default for the durationhef tontract (another 2 years), we estimate thatindiscounted purchase obligation for 201 4 through
2015 would be approximately $ 287.4 million. In s scenario, the Company would then own the p@mercould seek to recover its costs. We wouldhiolty seeking to recover our costs from the
defaulting members and/or reselling the power keoutility provider s or the northeast power gfitiere is an active market for the sale of powsfe could potentially lose money if we were unatbleell

the power at cost. We caution that we cannot ptedib any degree of certainty any potential outeom
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Item 2. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations
Forward -Looking Statements
This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forwluking statements that are subject to risks amcerainties that could cause actual results tierdihaterial ly from those expressed or impliedtie
statements. Statements that are not historict e forward-looking statements made pursuatttesafe harbor provisions of The Private Secusritiéigation Reform Act of 1995. Words such aslitee,”
“anticipate,” “expect” and similar expressions areended to identify forward-looking statementsriard-looking statements (including oral represtmis) are only predictions or statements of curpans,
which we review continuously. Forward-looking staents may differ from actual future results duebta not limited to, and our future results mayrbaterial ly affected by, the following potentidgks or
uncertainties. You should understand that it ispessible to predict or identify all potentialkssor uncertainties. We note the following as aiklist:

Our ability to complete the acquisition of the Ceaticut operations from AT&on the terms or timeline currently contemplatedatall;

«  The ability to successfully integrate tConnecticut operatiorinto our existing operatiorand the diversion of managen's attention from ongoing business and regular lessimesponsibilities to effe
such integratioy;

+ The effects of increased expenses incurred duetitdtes related to the AT&T Transactio
The risk that the cost savings from the AT&T Tratgan may not be fully realized or may take lontgerealize than expecteor that our actual integration costs may exceecdestimate:;
« The sufficiency of the assets to be acquired froR&A to enable the combined company to ope the acquired busines
+  Failure to enter into or obtain, or delays in eimginto or obtaining, certain agreements and catsseecessary to operate the acquired businedaraseq;
The failure to obtain, delays in obtaining or aceeconditions contained in any required regulaamprovals for the AT&T Transactio
«  Disruption from the AT&T Transaction making it madéficult to maintain relationships with customenssupplier<of the Connecticut operatior

+ The effects of greater than anticipated competitiom cable, wireless and other wireline carriéwattould require us to implement new pricing, markgtitrategies or new product or service offeringd
the risk that we will not respond on a timely oofitable basis

+ Reductions in the number of our voice customerswieacannot offset with increases in broadbandailiers and sales of other products and serv
Our ability to maintain relationships with custosieemployees or suppliel

«  The effects of ongoing changes in the regulatiothefcommunications industry as a result of fedenal state legislation and regulation, or changéke enforcement or interpretation of such legjimteanc
regulation;

«  The effects of any unfavorable outcome with respeeiny current or future legal, governmental gutetory proceedings, audits or dispu’
The effects of changes in the availability of fedemd state universal service funding or othesisliées to us and our competito
Our ability to successfulladjustto changes in the communications industry and feément strategies for growt
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+  Continued reductions in switched access revenuasesult of regulation, competition or technolsgystitutions
Our ability to effectively manage service qualitydur territories and meet mandated service quaiisrics;
Our ability to successfully introduce new produffedngs, including our ability to offer bundledrsi&e packages on terms that are both profitablestand attractive to custome
«  The effects of changes in accounting policies acfices adopted voluntarily or as required by galiyeaccepted accounting principles or regulatic
Our ability to effectively manage our operationgemting expenses and capital expenditures, arepay, reduce or refinance our de

The effects of changes in both general and locah@mic conditions on the markets that we serveckvisan affect demand for our products and servimestomer purchasing decisions, collectabilit
revenues and required levels of capital expenditteated to new construction of residences anthesses

The effects of technological changes and competitio our capital expenditures, products and semwffegings,including the lack of assurance that our networriosvements in speed and capacity wil
sufficient to meet or exceed the capabilities amality of competing network:

« The effects of increased medical expenses (iimjuds a result of the impact of the Patient Ptaiecand Affordable Care Act) anuension and postemployment expenses, such aseretiedical an
severance costs, and related funding requirem

« The effects of changes in income tax rates, tas Jaggulations or rulings, or federal or statedagessment
+  Our ability to successfully renegotiate union caots;

Changes in pension plan assumptions and/or the wdlaur pension plan assets, which could requér®unake increased contributions to the pensian jpol 2014 and beyon
«  The effects of economic downturns which could ressudiifficulty in collection of revenues and losEcustomers

+ Adverse changes in the credit markets or in thegatgiven to our debt securities by nationallyradited ratings organizations, which could limitrestrict the availability, or increase the costfimancing
to us;

+  Our cash flow from operations, amount of capitgdenditures, debt service requirements, cash paidéome taxes and liquidity may affect our paymefrdividends on our common shar
The effects of state regulatory cash managementipea that could limit our ability to transfer baamong our subsidiaries or dividend funds up éoprent company; ar
« The effects of severe weather events such as aoas; tornadoes, ice storms or other natural o-made disastel, whichmay increase our operating expenses or adversglydntustomer reven.
Any of the foregoing events, or other events, caiddse financial information to vary from managetiseforward-looking statemen ts included in thipoet. You should ¢ onsider these important factors
evaluating any statement in this report on FornQ16r otherwise made by us or on our behalf. Thewing information is unaudited and should be réadonjunction with the consolidated financialtstaents

and related notes included in this report. We havebligation to update or revise these forwamking statements and do not undertake to do so.

Investors should also be aware that while we dojasibus times, communicate with securities analyitis against our policy to disclose to themestlely any material non-public information or eth
confidential information. Accordingly, investorsahd not assume that we agree with any statemeneport issued by an analyst irrespective of theemut of the
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statement or report. To the extent that reportses$y securities analysts contain any projectifirecasts or opinions, such reports are not apaesibility.

Overview
See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Finant¢&ksents included in Part |, Item 1 of t his réffor a discussion of T he Transaction s .

The Company is the largest communications compaayiging services predominantly to rural areas amall and medium-sized towns and cities in the éthitates. The Company currently operates in 27
states and will also operate in Connecticut afeersammation of the AT&T Transaction . The Compasishie nation’s fourth largest Incumbent Local ExgeaCarrier (ILEC), with 3.0 million customers91
million broadband connections and 13,900 emplogsesf June 30 , 2014 .

Regqulatory Developments

In October 2009, the FCC issued a proposed rulemgalkioking at rules to “Preserve a Free and Opéerriet,” (i.e., net neutrality) , including a resaderation of the legal classification of broadbamdi
proposed restrictions on broadband network managepractices. On December 21, 2010, the FCC adaptentder imposing some regulations on Interneticeproviders. These regulations affect fixed and
mobile br oadband providers differently. These tations became effective November 20, 2011, andireein compliance with these regulations. On Jgnid4, 2014, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C.
Circuit vacated the portions of the FCC's ruleg fhahibited blocking and required non-discrimingteatment. On May 15, 2014, the FCC adopted ticBl@f Proposed Rulemaking which sought comment on
how it can preserve the spirit of the vacated rulése Notice also sought comment on what otherlaggry actions the FCC could take to implement “@peternet” policies , in particular reclassifgin
broadband as a Title Il Telecommunications servite future state of these regulations and thécebn us is unknown.

On November 18, 2011, the FCC adopted an Ordesftom the Federal Universal Service High-Cost FuttSF ) and Intercarrier C ompensation (the 201de@r The Order changed how federal subsidies are
calculated and disbursed, with these changes hFiaged-in beginning in July 2012. These changesitian the USF , which supports voice servicehigh-cost areas, to the Connect America Fund (CAF),
which supports broadband deployment in high-casaarCAF Phase |, implemented in 2012 to provitiim support while the FCC developed CAF Phaseptbvide d for ongoing USF suppo rt for price cap
carriers capped at the 2011 amount. In additianR@C in the first round of CAF Phase | made abiégl#or price cap ILECs an additional $ 300 millionincremental high- cost broadband support tades for
broadband deployment to unserved areas. In 2012aniyi2013 , we received $71.9 million in CAFaBa& | funds and initially recorded such funds aseiases to Cash and Other liabilities in the balaheet.
The $71.9 million in the first round of CAF Phassupport is expected to enable an incremental 9)®tiseholds for broadband service and was acabémtexs Contribution s in Aid of Construction . \&lee
required to implement, spend and enable these Bh8dseholds no later than July 24, 2015. We spdi®5 million of the first round of CAF Phaseuhtils on network expansion during the first six rheraf
2014 and $ 51.1 million of th es e CAF Phase | futtddate through June 30, 2014, enabling 74y@8@rved households .

On May 21, 2013, the FCC released a Report andr@rdhorizing a second round of CAF Phase | (thE320rder) . As part of this May 2013 Report andéy the FCC expanded the areas eligible for fundin
to incl ude those that lack service of 3 Mbps dmadland 768 kbps upload. In 2013, Frontier apgbedunds from the second round of CAF Phase liaridecember 2013 the FCC awarded $57.6 millionsto u
to serve 94,899 locations in our high-cost, unstiaved underserved areas across multiple staté® FTC also announced on January 10, 2014, thati€revas eligible for an additional $3.7 milliofn fun

ding to serve 6,815 locations. We received thesddun February 2014. The second round of CAF Phasgudes certain accompanying spending requirgsmfom the Company, and our capital expenditure
plans take this into account . We spent $ 11.illiom of the second round of CAF Phase | fundsnetwork expansion during the first six months ofi2Q enabling 32,300 unserved and underserved
households .

In the aggregate, w e spent $24.6 million of theFGZase | funds received on network expansion agdades during the first six months of 2014 and. $6ghillion of all CAF Phase | funds received thgbu
June 30, 2014, enabling 106,300 householdgah to

The FCC continues to finalize its CAF Phase Il pang, which is intended to provide long-term supportoroadband in high-cost areas that were unsebyea competitor. The 2013 Order establishedhiae
cap carriers would have the right of first refusahccept support across the high-cost footprirtheir state in exchange for committing to provileadband and voice services to those areas flytars. On
June 10, 2014, the FCC released an Order and NiftReposed Rulemaking
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seeking comment on potential changes to the CABéhastructure. The Notice seeks comment on wietieeFCC should raise the broadband speed oldigéar CAF Phase Il from 4 Mbps download to 10
Mbps download. Recognizing that such a changpéed may also be more costly, the FCC seeks conwnenhether it should lengthen the term of CAF RBhHasupport available to price cap carriers arsw al
whether it should relax price cap carriers’ obligatto deploy to 100% of the supported locationsxphange for a commensurate reduction in fundihgese changes to the CAF Phase Il program havieeen
finalized .

The 2011 Order also reformed Intercarrier Compémsaivhich is the payment framework that governs lsarriers compensate each other for the exchahigéeostate traffic, and it began a multi-yeans#ion
in July 2012, with the second step implementeduily 2013 and the third step in July 2014 . Thediion will move terminating traffic to a near merate by 2017. Frontier expects to be able towerca
significant portion of those revenues through eselruates and other replacement support mechanigres2011 Order has been challenged by certaifepart court and certain parties have also petitiothe
FCC to reconsider various aspects of the 2011 O@ieMay 23, 2014, the U.S. Court of Appeals fa& 10" Circuit issued a decision denying all chaleentp the 2011 Order. Certain parties have contitoie
appeal that decision. Accordingly, we cannot prettiie long-term impact at this time but believet the 2011 Order will provide a stable regulatagniework to facilitate our ongoing focus on theldgment of
broadband into our rural markets.

Effective December 29, 2011, the 2011 Order requim®viders to pay interstate access rates fotetmination of VolP toll traffic. On April 25, 2012he FCC, in an Order on Reconsideration, spetifiat
changes to originating access rates for VolP waffil not be implemented until July 2014. The 20Qdder has been challenged by certain parties imt@nd certain parties have also petitioned th€ F&
reconside r various aspects of the 2011 Order. fiehémpact of the 2011 Order during the periodnfrauly 2012 through June 2014 was insignificaftte net effect of this change to originating ascafer
July 1, 2014 is dependent upon the percentage ¥ Yaffic.

Certain states also have their own open proceedingsidress reform to intrastate access chargesthed intercarrier compensation and state uniVeesaice funds. Although the FCC has pre-emptates

jurisdiction on most access charges, many statelsl @mnsider moving forward with their proceedingge cannot predict when or how these matters wildbcided or the effect on our subsid y or switched
access revenues.
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The following should be read in conjunction witkrit 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofiRaial Condition and Results of Operations” inchlide our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013 .

(a) Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2014 , we had cash and cash equigahggregating $ 801.7 million , excluding ltatatricted cash , primarily representing fundsresed for future broadband expansion, of $ 5.Hani Our
primary source of funds continued to be cash géedfaom operations. For the six months ended 30ne2014 , we used cash flow from operationsh cashand and debt proceeds to fund principallpfatiur
cash investing and financing activities, primadgpital expenditures, dividends and debt repayments

We have a revolving credit facility with a line afedit of $750.0 million that we believe providesfiient flexibility to meet our liquidity needsAs of June 30, 2014 , this credit facility wiably available and
we had not made any borrowings under it .

At June 30, 2014 , we had a working capital suwaii$ 129.0 million . We believe our operatirggle flows, existing cash balances, and existinglveyy credit facility will be adequate to finanoar working
capital requirements, fund capital expendituresken@quired debt payments, pay taxes, pay dividémdsur stockholders, and support our short-terih lang-term operating strategies for the next teelv
months . However, a number of factors, including ot limited to, losses of customers, pricing pres from increased competition, lower subsidy swidched access revenues, and the impact of thrergur
economic environment may negatively impact our gesherated from operations. In addition, basechfriation available to us, we believe that thafficial institutions syndicated under our revolvangdit
facility would be able to fulfill their commitments us, but this could change in the future. ASwfe 30 , 2014 , we had $ 30.3 million of debturiag during the last six months of 2014 ; $ 262ilion and $
348. 2 millio n of debt will matur e in 201 5 an@126 , respectively.

Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities deddi$e39.6 million, or 6 %, for the six months endetie 30 , 2014 , as compar ed with the prior yedog@. The decrease was primarily the result ofelorevenue
and net income before depreciation and amortization

We paid $ 14.4 million in net cash tax es duting first six months of 201 4 as compared to $ 8aillion during the first six months of 2013 . 02013 cash taxes paid reflect ed the continued ¢tnpfsbonus
depreciation in accordance with the American Tagpa&elief Act of 2012. Absent any legislative chasigw e expect that in 201 4 our cash tax paynfenthe full year will be approximately $1 30 milt to
$16 0 million for our current business operationgaking into account our estimated pre-closegirgton expenditures relating to the AT&T Transawcti

In connection with the pending AT&T Transactione tBompany recognized $ 30.4 million of acquisitionl integration costs incurred during the firstrsianths of 2014 and $ 15.0 million of interespense
related to the Bridge Facility commitment. The Qamy expects to incur operating expenses of apmately $140 million to $170 million in 2014 relatéal integration activities for the pending AT&T
Transaction.

Cash Flows used by Investing Activities

Capital Expenditures

For the six months ended June 30 , 2014 and 2608 capital expenditures were $ 302.2 million ar@2$.5 million (including $ 41.6 million of integian-related capital expenditures for the six msnghded
June 30, 2014 for the AT&T Transaction), respestfiv In addition to the capital expenditures timred above, n etwork expansion funded by preWoeseived CAF funds amounted to $ 24.6 millaw $
9.2 million for the six months ended June 30 1£2@nd 2013 , respectively. We anticipate cagitqenditures for business operations to decrea@9d1 4 related to our currently owned properteées
approximately $ 575 million to $62 5 million, asnapared to $ 634.7 million in 201 3. We anticipateaaditional $85 million to $105 million of capitakpenditures in 2014 related to the integratidivities of
the pending AT&T Transaction.
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Cash Flows used and provided fronfinancing Activities

DebtFinancings
During the first six months of 2014, we enteredisécured financings totaling $ 10. 8 millionithafour year terms and no stated interest rateéotain equipment purchases.

Debt Reduction
During the first six months of 2014 and 2013, wtree an aggregate principal amount of $ 229.6iamilland $ 1,534.1 million, respectively, of debnsisting of $ 228. 7 million and $ 1,533.9 million,
respectively, of senior unsecured debt and $0.Bomil of rural utilities service loan contractis each period . Additionally, we retired $0.7 ruif of other secured debt during the first six nhsnof 2014.

We may from time to time repurchase our debt inadpen market, through tender offers, exchange®bf securities, by exercising rights to call ophivately negotiated transactions. We may alsmeefce
existing debt or exchange existing debt for newSuid debt obligations.

Bridge Facility

On December 16, 2013, we signed a commitment Ifitex bridge loan facility (the Bridge Facilityha recognized interest expense related to this doment of $ 15.0 million during the six months eddkine
30, 2014. On January 29, 2014, we entered intadgéd loan agreement with the Lenders party themetbJPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administratijemi(the Bridge Loan Agreement), pursuant to which
the Lenders have agreed at closing of the AT&T Faation to provide to us an unsecured bridge laaiiit for up to $1.9 billion for the purposes foinding (i) substantially all of the purchase prfoe the
AT&T Transaction and (i) the fees and expensesriredl in connection with the transactions contetepldy the stock purchase agreement for the AT&n$action. Pursuant to the Bridge Loan Agreement, i
and to the extent we do not, or are unable togisiabt securities yielding up to $1.9 billion irogs cash proceeds on or prior to the closing oAfR®T Transaction, we shall draw down up to $1.8idm, less
the amount of the debt securities, if any, issued$on or prior to the closing of the AT&T Trangan, in aggregate principal amount of loans urttierBridge Facility to fund the purchase pricels AT&T
Transaction.

On July 16 , 2014, the Bridge Facility was redubg$350.0 million following execution of the 2014Bank Credit Agreement, as defined below. All otteems and conditions remain unchanged.

Bank Financing

On June 2, 2014, the Company entered into a cagdéement with CoBank, ACB, as administrative ageid arranger and a lender, and the other lenmietg thereto, for a $350.0 million senior unsecur
delayed draw term loan facility (the 2014 CoBankdir Agreement). The facility will be drawn uporosing of the AT&T Transaction with proceeds usegddially finance the acquisition. The maturitytelés
the earlie r of the fifth anniversary of the dramteland December 15, 2019. Repayment of the odtsprincipal balance will be made in quarterlgtaliments in the amount of $8.8 million, commegoame
full fiscal quarter after the draw date, with them@ining outstanding principal balance to be repaidhe maturity date. Borrowings under the 20bB&hk Credit Agreement will bear interest basedhen
margins over the Base Rate ( as defined in the ZiBank Credit Agreement) or LIBOR, at the electidrthe Company. Interest rate margins under thiitfa(ranging from 0.875% to 2.875% for Base Rate
borrowings and 1.875% to 3.875% for LIBOR borrovéhgre subject to adjustments based on the Tota@rage Ratio of the Company, as such term is defiméhe 2014 CoBank Credit Agreement.

The Company has a credit agreement with CoBank, AGBdministrative agent, lead arranger and &teadd the other lenders party thereto, for a 5l lion senior unsecured term loan facility kv final
maturity of October 14, 2016 (the 2011 CoBank GrAdreement). The entire facility was drawn upaeeution of the 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement indbet 2011. Repayment of the outstanding principal
balance is made in quarterly installments in thewamh of $14.4 million, which commenced on March 2012, with the remaining outstanding principakipaie to be repaid on the final maturity date. 8amngs
under the 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement bear inté@sed on the margins over the Base Rate (asedefirthe 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement) or LIBORha election of the Company. Interest rate nmergi
under the facility (ranging from 0.875% to 2.8756t Base Rate borrowings and 1.875% to 3.875% fBR borrowings) are subject to adjustments basetth®iTotal Leverage Ratio of the Company, as such
term is defined in the 2011 CoBank Credit Agreeméfite current pricing on this facility is LIBORplus 2.875%.
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RevolvinaCredit Facility
On June 2, 2014, t he Company entered into a newlviag credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase B&hR,., as administrative agent, the lenders paréyeto and the other parties named therein (the New

Revolving Credit Agreement), for a $750.0 millicewvolving credit facility (the New Revolving Credtacility) with a scheduled termination date of Mad, 2018 and terminated its existing revolving dred
facility (the Prior Revolving Credit Facility) undéhe Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2013ragrthe Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., asrasingitive agent, the lenders party thereto and the
other parties named therein (the Pr ior Revolvimgd® Agreement). As of June 30 , 2014, the NewdReng Credit Facility was fully available and nerpowin gs had been made thereunder . Associated
commitment fees under the New Revolving Credit ltgakill vary from time to time depending on thee@pany’s debt rating (as defined in the New Revij\Credit Agreement) and were 0.400% per annum as
of June 30, 2014. During the term of the New Reingl Credit Facility, the Company may borrow, read reborrow funds, and may obtain letters ofigredbject to customary borrowing conditions. Lean
under the New Revolving Credit Facility will beatérest based on the alternate base rate or thstedjLIBO Rate (each as determined in the New RigpCredit Agreement), at the Company’s electipius

a margin based on the Company’s debt rating (rgnfyjom 0.50% to 1.50% for alternate base rate lings and 1.50% to 2.50% for adjusted LIBO Ratedwings). The current pricing on this facility wolul
have been 1.00% or 2.00%, respec tively, as of 30ne2014. Letters of credit issued under the Rawolving Credit Facility will also be subject teefs that vary depending on the Company’s debtgaiihe
New Revolving Credit Facility is available for geakcorporate purposes but may not be u sed to diridend payments. The terms of the New Revoh@ngdit Facility are substantially similar to therte of

the Prior Revolving Credit Facility .

Covenants

The terms and conditions contained in our indestutee 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement, the 201Bab& Credit Agreement, the New Revolving Credit égnent and the Bridge Loan Agreement include the
timely payment of principal and interest when dile, maintenance of our corporate existence, kegmioger books and records in accordance with USAR; restrictions on the incurrence of liens on our
assets, and restrictions on asset sales and transfergers and other changes in corporate comfelare not subject to restrictions on the paynoéntividends either by contract, rule or regulafiother than
that imposed by the General Corporation Law of$tete of Delaware. However, we would be restricteder the 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement , the 20dBank Credit Agreement, the New Revolving
Credit Agreement and the Bridge Loan Agreement fdeularing dividends if an event of default occdraed was continuing at the time or would reswltrfithe dividend declaration.

The 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement , the 2014 CoBaradit Agreement and the New Revolving Credit Agreat each contain a maximum leverage ratio covetmder those covenants, we are required to
maintain a ratio of (i) total indebtedness minushcand cash equivalents (including restricted casé)cess of $50.0 million to (ii) consolidatedusied EBITDA (as defined in the agreements) olerlast four
quarters not to exceed 4.50 to 1.

The 2011 CoBank Credit Agreement, the 2014 CoBzmeklit Agreement, the New Revolving Credit Agreeméhe Bridge Loan Agreement and certain indestfme our senior unsecured debt obligations limit
our ability to create liens or merge or consolidait other companies and our subsidiaries’ abtlitporrow funds, subject to important exceptiond gualifications.

As of June 30, 2014 , we were in compliance witofeour debt and credit facility covenants.

Dividends

We currently intend to pa y regular quarterly désids. Our ability to fund a regular quarterly dend will be impacted by our ability to generatehc&®m operations. The declarations and paymeffitafe
dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Bioes, and will depend upon many factors, includig financial condition, results of operationspwth prospects, funding requirements, applicable la
restrictions in agreements governing our indebtssiaed other factors our Board of Directors dedavaat.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not maintain any off-balance sheet arrangénémnsactions, obligations or other relationshifth unconsolidated entities that would be expeid¢do have a material current or future effect upon

financial statements.

27



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

Future Commitments

In our normal course of business we have obligatiomder certain non-cancelable arrangements feicesr During 2012, we entered into a “take or'@ayangement for the purchase of future long distaand
carrier services. Our remaining commitments unberarrangement are $145. 5 million and $140.8 anilfor the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2@$pectively. As of June 30 , 2014 , we expect to
utilize the services included within the arrangetrand no liability for the “take or pay” provisidras been recorded.

To satisfy all or part of certain capital investrheammitments to three state regulatory commissipr=nne ction with the 2010 Transaction , we ethe total of $115.0 million in cash into seversdrew
accounts and obtained a letter of credit for $198il0on in 2010. In September 2013, the lettecrddi t expired. Another $72.4 million of cdshan escrow account was acquired in connectioh thi¢ 2010
Transaction to be used for service quality initiesi in the state of West Virginia. As of June 3®014, $ 184.5 million had been released frometheow a ccounts. As of June 30 , 2014, the Compadya
restricted cash balance in the remaining escrowwattof $ 3.2 million , including interest earndthe aggregate amount of this escrow account wiltinoe to decrease over time as we make the retoéagital
expenditures in West Virginia.

T he FCC and certain state regulatory commissianspnnection with granting their approvals of #810 Transaction, specified certain capital expeneliand operating requirements for the Acquireifteies

for specified periods of time post-closing. Theegquirements focus primarily on certain capital stweent commitments to expand broadband availatifitat least 85% of the households throughout the
Acquired Territories with minimum download speeds3dVibps by the end of 2013 . We are required twvijosle download speeds of 4 Mbps to at least 75%6 88d 85% of the households throughout the
Acquired Territories by the end of 2013, 2014 aAd®, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, we onet=-CC requirement to provide 3 Mbps coverage5 &f the households in the Acquired Territories by
the end of 2013. As of December 31, 2012, w e aisb our FCC requirement to provide 4 Mbps coverag@&5% and 80% of the households in the Acquirettifbeies by the end of 2013 and 2014 ,
respectively . As of June 30, 2014 , we exparmeddband availability in excess of 4 Mbps to 83.8f the households throughout the Acquired Tenigs.

As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , weskpanded our broadband availability to the houlsishihiroughout the Company 's territories as foow

As of As of
(In excess of June 30, 2014 December 31, 2013
1 Mbps 90% 90%
3 Mbps 88% 86%
4 Mbps 87% 83%
6 Mbps 83% 76%
12 Mbps 75% 61%
20 Mbps 54% 48%

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We review all significant estimates affecting oonsolidated financial statements on a recurringstered record the effect of any necessary adjustpréor to their publication. Uncertainties witbspect to such
estimates and assumptions are inherent in the ratépaof financial statements; accordingly, ipisssible that actual results could differ from thestimates and changes to estimates could octue imear term.
The preparation of our interim financial statementsonformity with U.S. GAAP requires managementrtake estimates and assumptions that affecte(ijeported amounts of assets and liabilities adéte of
the financial statements, (i) the disclosure afitaigent assets and liabilities, and (iii) the népd amounts of revenue and expense s during feetirg period. Actual results ma y differ from #eoestimates.
Estimates and judgments are used when acco umting¥enue recognition , including the allowance doubtful accounts , impairment of long-lived @ssémpairment of intangible assets, depreciatiod a
amortization, pension and other postretirement fitsnén come taxes and contingencies, among others

Management has discussed the development andiseletthese critical accounting estimates with uelit Committee of our Board of Directors and éurdit Committee has reviewed our disclosures negpti
to such estimates.
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There have been no material changes to our criticebunting policies and estimates from the infdimmaprovided in Item 7. “Management’s Discussiord &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” included in our Annual Report on FordaKL for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

New Accounting Pronouncements

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards o@&ASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASId) 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Custonier§his standard requires companies to
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of prothggeods or services to customers in an amountéfiatts the consideration to which the companyeetgpto be entitled in exchange for those good®nrices.
This new standard is effective for annual and intereporting periods beginning after December 1616 Early ad option is not permitted. C ompanies germitted to either apply the requirements
retrospectively to all prior periods presentedapply the requirements in the year of adoptiompugh a cumulative adjustment. The Company is ctlyrewvaluating the impact of adopting the new staddn
January 1, 2017, but has not yet selected a tiamsitethod or determined the impact of adoptioit®oonsolidated financial statements.

Discontinued Operations

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, {Reting Discontinued Operations and DisclosureDisposals of Components of an Entity” which raises threshold for a disposal to qualify as
discontinued operations and requires new disclestoe individually material disposal transactiomtt do not meet the definition of a discontinue@ragion. Under the new standard, companies report
discontinued operations when they have a dispbs&lrépresents a strategic shift that has or \aileha major impact on operations or financial tssilhis new standard will be applied prospectiaiyd will be
effective for the Company on January 1, 2015. Tieiw standard is not expected to have a materiadégn the Company's consolidated financial statésne

Internal Control— Integrated Framework

In May 2013, the Committee of Sponsoring Organiretiof the Treadway Commission (COSO) issued itkatgal Internal Control — Integrated Framework (@043 Framework) and related illustrative
documents. COSO will continue to make availableitginal Framework during the transition periodexd ing to December 15, 2014. The Company cuyrenifizes COSO's original Framework , which was
published in 1992 and is recognized as the leaglindance for designing, implementing and conductitigrnal controls over external financial repogtiand assessing its effectiveness. The 2013 Frarkes/o
expected to help organizations design and implerim¢etnal control in light of many changes in besis and operating environments since the issudntte @riginal Framework, broaden the applicatién o
internal control in addressing operations and répgiobjectives, and clarify the requirements fetedmining what constitutes effective internal cohtWe plan to adopt the 2013 Framework in 201d &mn not
expect that it will have a significant impact or tBompany.
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(b) Results of Operations
REVENUE

Revenue is generated pri marily through the prowisif voice services, data services , video sesvjaeetwork access, carrier services and otherriet services. Such revenues are generated theitiger a
monthly recurring fee or a fee based on usage rewghue recognition is not dependent upon signifigudgments by management, with the exceptiandstermination of a provision for uncollectibleamts.

Revenue for the three months ended June 30 , 20ddreased $ 43.3 million, or 4 %, to $ 1,147.Bioni as compared with the three months ended 30ng2013. Revenue for the six months ended June 30
2014 decreased $94.6 million, or 4% , to $2,3@ilBon as compared with the six months ended BMe2013. The decline s during bo th the secordtguand the first six months of 201 4 are pritpahe
result of decreases in voice services revenuedoavet switched and nonswitched access revenudalhanffset by an increase in data services reeemach as described in more detail below. Addifign
wireless revenue decreased by $ 7.8 millionHersix months ended June 30, 2014 due to thebala Mohave Cellular Limited Partnership (Mohairggrest on April 1, 2013.

Switched access and subsidy revenue of $ 267.Ibmitpresented 12 % of ou r revenues for the sirtirs ended June 30 , 2014. Switched access reweasu$ 106.1 million for the six months ended J8@e
2014 , or 5 % of our revenues, down from $ 124xfllion, or 5 % of our revenues, for the six montxled June 30 , 2013. Subsidy revenue was $ 18lillon, or 7 % of our revenues, for the six must
ended June 30 , 2014, as compared to $156.8&millir 7%, of our revenues, for the six months dnilene 30, 2013 . We expect declining revenuesrén switched access revenue to continue duhieg t
remainder of 2014 .

During the first six months of 2014, we lost 48,@@Gtomers, net, as compared to a loss of 52,280rers, net, during the first six months of 2042 believe the improvement in customer retentioddh4 as
compared to 2013 is due to simplified products pricing, our local engagement strategy, improvest@mer service and our investments in our netwbrking the second quarter of 2014 , we lost 33,00
customers , net, as compared to a loss of 14,08@mers , net, during the first quarter of 2014Residential customer losses increased sequeniiplB2,200 in the second quarter of 2014 as the faom
focused a greater proportion of its residentialketing efforts on bundled customer additions, asmared to our Simply Broadband customer prospects.

Total residential revenue for the three and six tn@ende d June 30, 2014 declined $ 8.1 mjliiw 2 % , and $26.7 million, or 3% , respediveas compared to the three and six months edded 30 ,
2013 pri marily as a result of decreases in voieises revenue and the sale of our interest itMbleave partnership , partially offset by increasedata services revenue and increases in subsdirie charges
due to additional access recovery charges. Thessscecovery charges are a result of regulataaggds related to Intercarrier Compensation refarchae expected to continue to increase, as alldyetie
FCC to partially offset regulatory mandated dedliie switched access rates. We had approximat@§22100 and 2, 842,900 total residential custorasrsf June 30 , 2014 and 2013, respectively. We los
approximately 31,800 and 16,400 residential custs , net, during the quarter s ended June 304 aAd 2013, respectively, and lost approximat&l@0 and 44,200 residential customers, net, duhegix
months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectjitgjpally driven by declines in voice customeesd our residential customer monthly churn wa® ¥8and 1.64% for the quarter s ended June 304 aod
2013, respectively. Average monthly residentalenue per customer (res idential ARPC) increase®®, or 1 %, to $59.64 and $ 0.40 , or 1%$ 69.35, during the three and six months eddee 30 ,
2014 , respectively, as compared to the three anthenths ended June 30 , 2013 . The overalease in residen tial ARPC is due to a higher péagenof the Company’s residential custome rs thiee t
broadband services, Frontier Secure products, besaticustomer migration to higher speeds and oeptiging actions . The Company expects continiiegeases in data services revenue, primarily drive
increased broadband subscribers , and continuiclinde in voice services revenue .

Total business revenue for the three and  six hsoanded June 30 , 2014 declined $ 30.4 milbo6, %, and $54.0 million, or 5% , respectively compared to the three and six months ended3n201

3, principally as a result of decreases in mice services revenue and wireless backhaul revent®e had approximately 264,200 and 278,108l totisiness customers as of June 30 , 2014 and 2013
respectively. We lost approximately 2,200 and D ,9Business customers , net, during the quaréeided June 30 , 2014 and 2013, respectively loahdpproximately 6,600 and 8,000 business custenmet,
during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 28%Bectively. Average monthly business revenuepstomer (business ARPC) de creased $ 3.04 t8F B4 and increased $ 1.95 to $ 649.97 duttieg
three and six months ended June 30 , 2014 as cethpathe three and six months ended June 30 , 20IBe decrease in business ARPC during the segoarter of 2014 as compared to 2013 is drivethby
declines in our voice services revenue and wirddaskhaul revenue . The overall increase in ssiARPC during the six
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months ended June 30, 2014 as compared to 20XBniarjty due to declining customer counts for oaradl business customers that carry a lower ARP@. Clompany expects the declines in voice services
revenues and wireless backhaul revenues from tBssmestomers to continue in 2014, mitigated, in, figrincreases in data services revenues.

During the three and six months ended June 304 2€@ie Company added approximately 27,7 00 ar@l @@ net broadband subscribers , respectivelyurinD the three and six months ended June 30, 2013
Company added approximately 29,500 and 57,700 meetdband subscri bers , respectively . As of RBhe 2014 , approximately 7 2 % of our residentialadband customers subscribe d to a bundle of
services. As of June 30, 2014, we were able tr dffoadband to approximately 6.5 million housebotd 90 % of the 7.2 million households in our ke#s. The increase in broadband subscribers catedtto

our improved data services revenue performancecafiénue to invest in network speed and capacisufzport our goal of increasing broadband penetrathd market share . We expect to continue tease
broadband subscribers d uring the remainder of 2014

Management believes that customer counts and avenagthly revenue per customer are important fecitoevaluating our trends. Among the key servigegrovide to residential customers are voiceiserv
data service and video service . We continuepioee the potential to provide additional serviee®ur customer base, with the objective of megtith of our customers’ communications needs .r Htsiness
customers we provide voice and data services, Bhssva broad range of value-added services.

In the section “Other Financial and Operating Ddtalow is a table that presents customer counesage monthly revenue per customer and customenchiualso categorizes revenue into customermeee

( residential and business) and regulatory revesugiched access and subsidy revenue). The deiclitiee number of customers was partially offsetibgreased penetration of additional higher revenue
generating products sold to both residential ansiness customers, which has increased our averagéhly revenue per customer. Economic conditiasubstantial loss of customers, and increasing
competition could make it more difficult to sellraservice offerings, which w ould adversely affeat revenue, profitability and cash flows.
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OTHER FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

® calculation excludes the Mohave Cellular LirdiRartnership (Mohave), which was sold to Verizoneléss on April 1, 2013.

Note: As stated in our report for the quarterlyige ended March 31, 2014, prior period revenue @@nthin operating statistics have been revisem fite previously disclosed amounts to reflect
average monthly revenue per customer amounts.
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As of As of
June 30, 201 As of December 31, 201 % Increase (Decreas June 30, 201 % Increase (Decreas
3,026,281 3,074,280 2% 3,121,012 (3)%
1,931,521 1,866,67(C 3% 1,812,11C 7%
393,901 385,352 2% 380,18C 4%
For the three months end For the six months endt
3 $ Increast % Increast $ Increast % Increast
2014 2013 Decrease Decrease 2014 2013 Decrease Decrease
497,0408 505,181 (8,141 2)% $ 993,0048 1,019,70€$ (26,702 3)%
516,261 546,66¢ (30,408 (€)% 1,041,23¢ 1,095,282 (54,047 (5)%
1,013,301 1,051,850 (38,549 (4% 2,034,23¢ 2,114,98¢ (80,749 (4%
133,964 138,682 (4,719 3)% 267,072 280,941 (13,869 (5)%
1,147,26E8 1,190,533 (43268 (% 5 2.301,3115 2,395,925 (94,618 (@)%
3,760 4,109 @)% 7,703 8,399 8%
As of or for the three months ended June % Increase As of or for the six months ended June % Increas¢
2014 2013 (Decrease 2014 2013 (Decrease)
2,762,09¢ 2,842,88% (&) 2,762,09¢ 2,842,88% (&)
497,0408 505,181 2% $ 993,004% 1,019,70€ 3%
59.64% 59.06 1% $ 59.35% 58.95 1%
1.80% 1.64% 10% 1.71% 1.64% 4%
264,182 278,131 [ 264,182 278,131 )%
516,261% 546,66¢ ©)n $ 1,041,238 1,095,282 (@)
648.718 651.75 ©)yn $ 649.97% 648.02 0%
of certain to business and the related impact




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

REVENUE
($.in thousand) For the three months ended June

$ Increast % Increast

2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Voice service: $ 471570 $ 513,800 $ (42,230 (8)%
Data and Internet servic 462,730 467,428 (4,698 )%
Other 79,001 70,622 8,379 12%
Customer revenu 1,013,301 1,051,85C (38,549 @)%
Switched access and subs 133,964 138,683 (4,719 Q)%
Total revenue $ 1,147,268 $ 1,190,53:  $ (43,268 (4%

For the six months ended June

$ Increase % Increast

2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Voice service: $ 953,889 $ 1,039,742 $ (85,855 (8)%
Data and Internet servic 924,226 922,264 1,962 0%
Other 156,124 152,980 3,144 2%
Customer revenu 2,034,23¢ 2,114,98¢ (80,749 (4)%
Switched access and subs 267,072 280,941 (13,869 (B)%
Total revenue $ 2,301,311 $ 2,395,92¢ $ (94,618 (4)%

Voice Services

Voice services revenue for the three and six moatited June 30 , 2014 decreased $ 42.2 mitho8,%, to $ 471.6 million , and $85.9 million, &¥ , to $953.9 million, respectively , as conguawith the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013, piyrdue to the continued loss of voice customers ,aoda lesser extent, decreases in long distagregéces revenue and individual features packagestially
offset by increase d local voice charges to exdidl and business end users . Local and entia®®ices revenue for the three and six monthedtddne 30 , 2014 decreased $ 37.8 million, %r, %0 $
384.1 million , and $74.7 million, or 9% , to 9 million, respectively , primarily due to thentinued loss of voice customers and, to a lessent, decreases in individual features packgmasially offset
by increase d local voice charges to residentidllarsiness end users . Long distance servicesueventhe three and six months ended June 304 26écreased $ 4.4 million, or 5 %, to $ 87.8iam| and
$11.2 million, or 6% , to $174.0 million , resperetly, primarily due to lower minutes of use drivienfewer customers , partially offset by increhsest recovery surcharge rates .

Data and I nternet Services

Data and Internet services revenue for the thremtiiscended June 30, 2014 decreased $ 4.7 midiial %, to $ 462.7 million, as compared wita three months ended June 30, 2013 , primduiéyto the
decline in wireless backhaul revenue , partiaffget by an increase in residential and business services revenue . Data and Internet serves@sue for the six months ended June 30, 2014dsede $2.0
million to $924.2 million, as compared with the shonths ended June 30, 2013, primarily due to erease in residential and business data servigesue, partially offset by the decline in wireldskhaul
revenue. Data services revenue increased $ 17i6mbr 8 %, to $ 249.3 million , and $38.7 nlti, or 9% , to $491.4 million, respectively, fhe three and six months ended June 30 , 2014qrapar ed
with the same period s of 2013 , primarily duerioréases in the number of broadband subscribers salés of Frontier Secure products. As of June 3014 , the number of the Company’s broadband
subscribers increased by approximately 119,4007, %r, since June 30, 2013 . Data and Intemmices also includes nonswitched access reveoune data transmission services to other carriershagit
volume business customers with dedicated hig heigpmternet and E thernet circuits. Nonswitcleetess revenue decreased $ 22.6 million, or 1@ %213.5 million , and $36.7 million, or 8%o,$432.8
million, respectively, for the three and six mon#éreled June 30 , 2014 , as compared with the sanmdps of 201 3 , primarily due to lower monthicurring charges attributable to a reduction ireless
backhaul revenue and other business revenuesirieC servi ces excluding wireless backhaul reeetiecreased slightly , as we continue to provideork bandwidth to other communications carriers.
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We expect wireless data usage to continue to isereghich may drive the need for additional wirslbackhaul capacity. Despite the need for additioapacity, we expect to experience declines ireless
backhaul revenue throughout the remainder of 2@k4co mpared to the same periods of the prior,y&sour carrier partners migrate to Ethernettiois at a lower price point.

Other

Other revenue for the three and six months endee 30 , 2014 increased $ 8.4 million, or 124 #9.0 million, and $3.1 million, or 2% , toS&L1 million, respecti vely, as compared with theee and six
months ended June 30, 2013, primarily duewe@tdad debt expenses that are charged againstueaad increased cost recovery surcharge ratem|lyeoffset by lower directory services revenueFor the
six month period, we also experienced lower wirelevenue associated with the sale of our intérese Mohave partnership on April 1, 2013.

Switched Access and Subsidy

Switched access and subsidy revenue for the thvek aix months ended June 30 , 2014 decre&séd million, or 3 %, to $ 133.9 million, and $23nillion, or 5% , to $267.1 million, respectively as
compared with the three and six months ended JOn&B13 . Switched access revenue decreased riil8dh, or 14 %, to $ 52.9 million, and $18.0 fith, or 15% , to $106.1 million, respectively, fitve first
three and six months of 2014 , as compared wittsthme period s of 2013 , primarily due to the iotp a decline in minutes of use related to actiesslosses and the displacement of minutes oftyse
wireless, email an d other communications servamesbined with a reduction due to the impact of ltheer rates enacted by the FCC's intercarrier carsption reform in July 2013 . Switched access and
subsidy revenue includes subsidy payments we redeiwn federal and state agencies, including sugesabilled to customers that are remitted to usideservice administrators. Subsidy revenue aszd
$4.1 million , or 5%, to $81.0 million, and $4.million , or 3%, to $161.0 million, respectivefpr the three and six months ended June 30 , 28$4ompared with the same period s of 2013 ,gifyndue to

the higher contribution factor for end user USR@14 .

Federal and state subsidies and surcharges (wredbilied to customers and remitted to universatise administrators) for the Company were $ 84itfian, $ 16.0 million and $ 60.8 million, respeatly, and
$ 161.0 million in total, or 7 % of our revenuest the six months ended June 30 , 2014 . The dderd state subsidy revenue for the six montkie@dune 30 , 2014 represents 4 % of our cordetd
revenues. Total federal and state subsidies antiatges were $ 156.8 million, or 7 % of our revesydier the s ix months ended June 30, 2013 .

On November 18, 2011, the FCC adopted the 20#&rQo reform the USF and Intercarrier Compensaifitre 2011 Order changed how federal subsidiesacellated and disbursed, with these changes being
phased-in beginning in July 2012. These changesitian the USF , which supports voice servicesigh-cost areas, to the CAF, which supports broadtdeployment in high-cost areas. CAF Phase |,
implemented in 2012 to provide interim support whlie FCC developed CAF Phase Il , provide d fgoamy USF support for price cap carriers cappetie@2011 amount. In addition, the FCC in the fieatnd

of CAF Phase | made available for price cap ILE@sadditional $300 million in incremental high-cdsbadband support to be used for broadban d deployto unserved areas. In 2012 and early 2013, we
received $71.9 million in the first round of CAF e | funds. The $71.9 million in the first rourfd@AF Phase | support is expected to enable areinental 92,877 households for broadband servicevasd
accounted for as Contributions in Aid of Constroiti We are required to spend the CAF Phase | ftmdsable these 92,877 households no later tHgr2dp2015. We initially recorded such funds msréases

to Cash and Other lia bilities in the balance shaet spent $ 13.5 million of the first round of CRRase | funds on network expansion during the dissmonths of 2014 and $ 51.1 million of the seFPhase |
funds to date through June 30, 2014, enablin@0Dunserved households .

On May 21, 2013, the FCC released the 2013 Ordépegring a second round of CAF Phase |. As phthis May 2013 Report and Order, the FCC expariledareas eligible for funding to incl ude thosatth
lack service of 3 Mbps download and 768 kbps upldad2013, Frontier applied for funds from the aet round of CAF Phase | and in December 2013 @@ Bwarded $57.6 million to us to serve 94,899
locations in our high-cost, unserved and underskareas across multiple states. The FCC also aedwn January 10, 2014, that Frontier was eiditnl an additional $3.7 million in funding torse 6,815
locations. We received these funds in Februaryt2The second round of CAF Phase | includes cesabompanying spending requirements from the Cownpard our capital expenditure plans take this into
account. We spent $ 11 .1 million of the secanthd of CAF Phase | funds on network expansiomdttie first six months of 2014, enabling 32,868erved and underserved households .
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In the aggregate, w e spent $24.6 million of theFGZase | funds received on network expansion agdades during the first six months of 2014 and. $6hillion of all CAF Phase | funds received thgbu
June 30, 2014, enabling 106,300 householdgah to

The FCC continues to finalize its CAF Phase |l pang, which is intended to provide long-term supportoroadband in high-cost areas that were unseoyea competitor. The 2013 Order establishedphae

cap carriers would have the right of first refusahccept support across the high-cost footprirtheir state in exchange for committing to provileadband and voice services to those areas fiyfars. On
June 10, 2014, the FCC released an Order and Nuftiteoposed Rulemaking seeking comment on potestienges to the CAF Phase Il structure. The Maigeks comment on whether the FCC should raise
the broadband speed obligation for CAF Phase thffoMbps download to 10 Mbps download. Recognitiveg such a change in speed may also be morg cthatl FCC seeks comments on whether it should
lengthen the term of CAF Phase Il support availablerice cap carriers and also whether it shoelabprice cap carriers’ obligation to deploy t@%®of the supported locations in exchange for amensurate
reduction in funding. These changes to the CAFsPHigprogram have not been finalized .

The 2011 Order also makes changes to Intercardenp@nsation. Intercarrier Compensation, which & ghyment framework that governs how carriers corsqte each other for the exchange of interstate
traffic, began a multi-year transition in July 20%dth the second step implemented in July 2013taadhird step in July 2014 . The transition wilbve terminating traffic to a near zero rate by 20Ve expect

to be able to recover a significant portion of thesvenues through end user rates and other repdatesupport mechanisms . We do not expect themegels to have a significant impact on our reveies
2014 .

Effective December 29, 2011, the 2011 Order requim@viders to pay interstate access rates fotetmination of VolP toll traffic. On April 25, 2012he FCC, in an Order on Reconsideration, spetifiat
changes to originating access rates for VolP traffil not be implemented until July 2014. The 20Qdder has been challenged by certain parties imt@nd certain parties have also petitioned th€ k&
reconsider various aspects of the 2011 Order. fiehémpact of the 2011 Order during the perioarfrduly 2012 through June 201 4 was insignificaFtte net effect of this change to originating ascafter
July 1, 2014 is dependent upon the percentage ¥ Yaffic.

Certain states also have their own open proceedingsldress reform to intrastate access chargesthed intercarrier compensation and state uniVeeaice funds. Although the FCC has pre-emptatkest
jurisdiction on most access charges, many statalsl consider moving forward with their proceedingé cannot predict when or how these matters willecided or the effect on our subsidy or switchezkss
revenues.

OPERATING EXPENSES

NETWORK ACCESS EXPENSES

($.in thousand) For the three months ended June
$ Increase % Increast
2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Network access expens $ 106,224 $ 107,114 $ (890, (1)%
For the six months ended June
$ Increase % Increast
2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Network access expens $ 213,316 $ 216,512 $ (3,196 (1)%

Network access expenses for the three and six memttied June 30 , 2014 decreased $ 0.9 millich %6y to $ 106.2 million, and $ 3.2 million , b¥% , to $213.3 million , respectively, as compangtth the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013 , piymdare to decreased promotion al costs thatewerded in network access expenses , partiallgoffg an increase in network access expensesdetatégher
broadband subscriber counts.
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

($.in thousand) For the three months ended June
$ Increas¢ % Increast
2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Wage and benefit expens $ 257,747 $ 287,317 $ (29,570 (10)%
All other operating expens: 265,638 246,698 18,940 8%
$ 523,385 $ 534,015 $ (10,630 2)%
For the six months ended June
$ Increas¢ % Increast
2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Wage and benefit expens $ 534,607 $ 578,891 $ (44,284 (8)%
All other operating expens: 517,704 496,623 21,081 4%
$ 1,052,311 $ 1,07551¢ $ (23,203 (2%

Wage and benefit expenses

Wage and benefit expenses for the three and sittm@mded June 30 , 2014 decreas ed $ 29.@mjlbr 10 %, to $ 257.7 million, and $44.3 milli@m 8% , to $534.6 million, respectively, as conegito the
three and six months ended June 30 , 2013 , piymdue to lower costs for compensation resultingrfrlower average employee headcount combined laitier costs for certain other benefits, including
pension and OP EB expense, as discussed below. &adeenefit expenses included $ 1.2 million atd7#million of severance costs for the six monttiquis in 201 4 and 201 3, respectively .

Pension and OPEB costs for the Company are inclirdedr wage and benefit expenses. Pension and3@®Es for the three months ended June 30 , 26d£2@13 were approximately $ 14. 2 million and $
20.5 million, respectively. Pension and OPEB costiide pension and OPEB expense of $ 18.2 mibliod $ 25.5 million, less amounts capitalized th®cost of capital expenditures of $ 4.0 millaord $ 5.0
million, respectively.

Pension and OPEB costs for the six months endeel 3002014 and 2013 were approximately $ 28.5anilind $ 41. 0 million, respectively. Pension aflRE® costs include pension and OPEB expense of $
36.4 million and $ 51.0 million, less amountsitajzed into the cost of capital expenditures af.§ million and $ 10.0 million, respectively.

Based on current assumptions and plan asset vavgesstimate that our 201 4 pension and OPEB ergenwill be approximately $ 65 million to $85 rioth for our current business operations , exclgdi
amounts capitalized into the cost of capital exjtenes , as compared to $ 97.1 million in 201)&leding the impact of pension settlement costsandunts capitalized into the cost of capital exiitenes .

All other operating expenses

All other operating expenses for the three andrsinths ended June 30 , 2014 increased $ 18li@mibr 8 %, to $ 265.6 million, and $21.1 millicor 4% , to $517.7 million, respectively, as congpbwith
the three and six months ended June 30 , 2018manly due to an increase in certain litigati@serves in the first quarter of 2014 , incredket and facilities costs and gross receiptestx expenses .
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DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE

($.in thousand) For the three months ended June 30,
$ Increase % Increast
2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Depreciation expens $ 197,572 $ 210,828 $ (13,256 (6)%
Amortization expens 75,891 87,021 (11,130 (13)%
$ 273,463 $ 297,849 $ (24,386 8)%
For the six months ended June 30,
$ Increase % Increast
2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Depreciation expens $ 403,088 $ 427,482 $ (24,394 (6)%
Amortization expens 151,782 174,042 (22,260 (13)%
$ 554,870 $ 601,524 $ (46,654 (8)%

Depreciation and amortization expense for the tlrek six months ended June 30 , 2014 decreaszti4$nillion, or 8 %, to $ 273.5 million , and $Z6nillion, or 8% , to $554.9 million, respectively as
compared to the three and six months ended Jup@@B8. Amortization expense decreased $ 22.3omillin 2014, due to the amortization recognizecan accelerated method related to the custoas® b
Depreciation expense decreased $ 24.4 millior20i4, primarily due to changes in the remainingfuldives of certain plant assets and a lowerasset base .

We annually commission an independent study to tepttie estimated remaining useful lives of our p&ssets. The latest study was complet ed inaieH quarter of 2013 , and after review and anslykthe
results, we adopted new lives for certain planetssa s of October 1, 2013. This change had agnifisiant impact on depreciation expense for tht faalf of 2014. Our “composite depreciation réft&” plant
assets was 6.24 % as a result of the study. Viigate depreciation expense of approximately $m@bon to $81 0 million for 201 4 for our currebtisiness operations .

Amortization expense includes the apportionménhe cost of the intangible assets (primarily onstr base) that were acquired in the 2010 Tramsabtsed on an estimated useful life of nine y&marthe
residential customer base and 12 years for thenbssicustomer base, amortized on an acceleratédanetVe anticipate amortization expense of appnasély $ 285 million for 201 4 for our current sss
operations .

ACQUISITION AND INTEGRATION COSTS

For the three months ended June

$ in thousands
2014 2013

Acquisition and integration cos $ 19,851 $ -

For the six months ended June

2014 2013

Acquisition and integration cos $ 30,447 $ -
During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company Ibegaincur acquisition and integration costs inreection with the AT&T Transaction. Acquisition ceshclude legal, financial advisory, accountinggue

latory and other related costs. Integration castiude expenses incurred in connection with the ATRansaction to integrate the network and infofaratechnology platforms and to enable other iraégn
initiatives. The Company incurred $ 30.4 millionagferating expenses ,
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consisting of $ 1.6 million and $ 28.8 million adicquisition and integration costs , respebtiverelated to the AT&T Transaction during tig months ended June 30, 2014 . We also inciH 6 million
in capital expenditures related to integrationwaiiéis during the six months ended June 30 , 2de! anticipate closing the AT&T Transaction durihg fourth quarter of 2014.

GAIN ON SALE OF MOHAVE PARTNERSHIP INTEREST

For the three and six mont
ended June 3(

(8 in thousands
2014 2013

Gain on sale of Mohav
partnership intere: $ - $ 14,601

On April 1, 2013, the Company sold its 83 % partnership interest in the Mohave Cellular LeditPartnership, in which Frontier was the Geneeatriér. The Company recognized a gain on sale of
approximately $14.6 million before taxes in thes&tquarter of 2013.

INVESTMENT AND OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) , NET / LOSSE S ON EARLY EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT /
INTEREST EXPENSE / INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)

For the three months ended June

($.in thousand) $ Increast % Increas¢

2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Investment and other income (expense) $ a7 $ 2,956 $ (2,973 (101%
Losses on early extinguishment of d $ - $ 159,78¢C $ (159,780 (100%
Interest expens $ 167,611 $ 166,547 $ 1,064 1%
Income tax expense (bene $ 19,034 $ (18,755 $ 37,789 (201%

For the six months ended June

$ Increast % Increas¢

2014 2013 (Decrease (Decrease
Investment and other income, 1| $ 1,378 $ 7610 $ (6,232 (82)%
Losses on early extinguishment of d $ - $ 159,78C $ (159,780 (100%
Interest expens $ 338,568 $ 337,967 $ 601 0%
Income tax expens $ 36,223 $ 14520 $ 21,703 149%

Investment and other i ncome (expense) , net

Investment and other income (expense) , net fothtee and six months ended June 30 , 2014 dwmted 3.0 million and $6.2 million , respectivel as compared with the three and six montheeddne
30, 2013, primarily due to proceeds of $2.3 miilin the settlement of a split-dollar life insucanpolicy for a former senior executive during #eeond quarter of 2013, a decrease of $ 1.7ommillin the
settlement of customer advances and investmens gasociated with cash received in connection exithpreviously written-off investment in Adelphi$i.4 million during the first half of 2013 .

Our average cash balances were $ 878.7 million$a®7.0 million for the six months ended June 2014 and 2013, respectively. Our average totaficestl cash balance s were $ 10.7 million ars%$
million for the six months ended June 30 , 2014 203 , respectively.
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Losses on Early Extinguishment of Debt
During the second quarter of 2013, we recognizéass of $ 159.8 million on the early extinguishmeftlebt in connection with various debt tendeeddf, privately negotiated transaction s and oparket
repurchases that resulted in the retirement 008214 million of the Company’s senior notes.

Interest expense

Interest expense for the three and six months edidleel 30 , 2014 increased $ 1.1 million, or 1%,$ 167.6 million, and $0.6 million to $338.@llian, respectively, as compared with the thred aix months
ended June 30, 2013 , primarily due to the comenitnfees of $15.0 million on the Bridge Loan Fagiliuring the first half of 2014, mostly offset tiye lower average debt levels resulting from thiet de
refinancing activities and debt retirements of 8.8Imillion during 2013 . Our average debt outdtag was $ 8,021.9 million and $ 8,272.7 millfor the second quarter of 2014 and 2013, resedyt and

$ 8,065.4 million and $8,416.2 million for the sixonths ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectiveQur composite average borrowing rate as of Bhe 2014 and 201 3 was 7.91 % and 7.95 % ,
respectively .

Income tax expense (benefit)

Income tax expense (benefit) for the three ardrginths ended June 30 , 2014 in cre ased $m3iMli6n to $ 19.0 million, and $21.7 million to $2 million, respectively, as compared with theethand six
months ended June 30 , 2013 , primarily due todrighetax income in 2014 , re sulting from the $858illion in losses recognized in 2013 on the gagktinguishment of debt . The effective tax fatethe first
six months of 201 4 and 201 3 was 32.0 % andl %4 respectively.

Income taxes for the three and six months ended 30n2014 include a $1.9 million benefit from thet reversal of reserves for uncertain tax posstioncome taxes for the six months ended June2Bd4
include the impact of a  $ 2.9 million benefitising from state tax law changes .

Income taxes for the three and six months ended 30n 2013 include the impact of a charge of $5lf2om resulting from the settlement of the 2010SlRudit and a $6.0 million charge resulting frora th
adjustment of deferred tax balances, partiallyeifts a $4.4 million benefit from the net revershieserves for uncertain tax positions.

As of June 30, 2014, there were no uncertain taiipas for which the statute s of limitations aspected to expire during the next twelve monthswahich would affect our effective tax rate.

We paid $ 14.4 million and $ 83.5 million in netsh taxes during the six months ended June 304 &0d 2013 , respectively. Our 2013 cash taxesnefliected the continued impact of bonus depreaaith
accordance with the American Taxpayer Relief Ac2@f2. Absent any legislative changes , we expettih 2014 our cash tax payments for the full yeitirbe approximately $ 130 million to $1 6 O nidlh for
our current business operations , taking into actour estimated pre-close integration expendittekgted to the AT&T Transaction .

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders of Frontier

Net income attributable to common shareholdersrofifier for the second quarter of 201 4 was ¥ 3fillion, or $ 0.0 4 per share, as compared tdost of $ 38.5 million, or $ 0.04 per share, ia gecond
quarter of 2013 , and net income of $77.0 million$ 0.0 8 per share , as compared to $9.7 miJlmr$0.01 per share, for the six months ended 30n2013 .

39



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures bout Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafssur business operations due to ongoing investimdj funding activities , including those assoclatéth our pension plan assets . Market risk referthe
potential change in fair value of a financial imstient as a result of fluctuations in int erestgaad equity prices. We do not hold or issue dévieanstruments, derivative commodity instrumeotsother
financial ins truments for trading purposes. Agsuit, we do not undertake any specific actiorsoteer our exposure to market risks , and we ar@axty to any market risk management agreemenés dian in
the normal course of business . Our primary ntaikk exposures from interest rate risk and eqpiitge risk are as follows:

Interest Rate Exposure

Our exposure to market risk for changes in inter@tsts relates primarily to the interest-bearingipo of our pension investment portfolio ancatet! obligations, and floating rate indebtednessofAJune 30 ,
2014, 95 % of our long-term debt had fixed inserate s with minimal exposure to interest ra@ngfes . We had no interest rate swap agreeneatsd to our fixed rate debt in effect at June 3014 .

Our objectives in managing our interest rate rigkta limit the impact of interest rate changessamings and cash flows and to lowe r our ovemitdwing costs. To achieve these objectives, all§hd31.3
million of our outstanding borrowings at June 3014 have fixed interest rates. In addition, eadrawn $ 750.0 million revolving credit facilityas interest rates that float with the LIBO Rates defined.
Consequently, we have limited material future eagsior cash flow exposures from changes in interates on our long-term debt. A n adverse changetérest rates would increase the amount thgptayeon
our variable rate obligations and could resulfictuations in the fair value of our fix ed ratdightions. Based upon our overal | interest raggosxre at June 30 , 2014 , a near-term changéeirest rates would
not material ly affect our consolidated financiakijtion, results of operations or cash flows.

At June 30 , 2014 , the fair value of our long-tetebt was estimated to be approximately $ 8. 4ohil| based on our overall weighted average kdng rate of 7.91 % and our overall weighted averag
maturity of approximately nine years. As ohéB0, 2014, there has been no significantgdamthe weighted average maturity applicableuoabligations since December 31, 2013 .

Equity Price Exposure
Our exposure to market risks for changes in ecaéturity prices as of June 30 , 2014 is limiteduopension plan assets. We have no other sedaviggtments of any significant amount.
The Company’s pension plan assets have in creasedd 1,216.5 million at December 31, 2013 to,&76.5 million at June 30 , 2014 , an in creds® 60.0 million, or 5 %. This in crease is a resil

positive investment returns of $ 95.5 milliamdacash contributions of $ 31.2 million , offést benefit payments of $ 66.7 million . An adulital cash contribution of $19.6 million was madeJaty 15,
2014. We expect that we will make total contribntiof cash and/or other assets to our pensiongblapproximately $100 million in 2014 .
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedi

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervisiot with the participation of our management, udaig our principal executive officer and princigalancial officer, regarding the effectivenessonir
disclosure controls and procedures (as defineduile B 13a-15(e) and 15d - 15(e) under the Secuiffichange Act of 1934, as amended) . Based upsrevaluation, our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer concluded, as of thedesf the period covered by this report, June 30142, that our disclosure controls and procedwese effective.

(b) Changes in internal control over financial repat
We reviewed our internal control over financial egfmg at June 30 , 2014 . There have been nogesaim our internal control over financial repogtidentified in an evaluation thereof that occurdeing the
second fiscal quarter of 201 4 that materiaffgcted, or is reasonably likely to material ffeat, our internal control over financial repogin

In May 2013, the Committee of Sponsoring Organiretiof the Treadway Commission (COSO) issued itkatgal Internal Control — Integrated Framework (@043 Framework) and related illustrative
documents. COSO will continue to make availableitginal Framework during the transition periodeaxding to December 15, 2014. The Company cuyretitizes COSO's original Framework , which was
published in 1992 and is recognized as the leaglingance for designing, implementing and conduciigrnal controls over external financial repogtand assessing their effectiveness. The 2013 Rvarkes
expected to help organizations design and implerimi¢etnal control in light of many changes in besis and operating environments since the issudntte @riginal Framework, broaden the applicatién o
internal control in addressing operations and répgiobjectives, and clarify the requirements fetedmining what constitutes effective internal cohtWe plan to adopt the 2013 Framework in 2014 &mn not
expect that it will have a significant impact or tBompany.
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Item1. _Legal Proceedings

See Note 1 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Finar8tiements included in Part I, Item 1 of this repdhere have been no material changes to oat fEgceedings from the information provided imit8. “
Legal Proceedings " included in our Annual Reporform 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

We are party to various legal proceedings (inclgditividual, class and putative class actionsjiagiin the normal course of our business covesimgde range of matters and types of claims indgdibut not

limited to, general contracts, billing disputeghts of access, taxes and surcharges , cargumtection, trademark and patent infringememipleyment, regulatory , tort, claims of compatitand disputes
with other carriers . Litigation is subject to eninty and the outcome of individual matters a$ predictable. However, we believe that the wtienresolution of all such matters, after considginsurance
coverage or other indemnities to which we are ledtitwill not have a material adverse effect anfinancial position, results of operations, or oash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

T here have been no changes to the Risk Factocsiloled in Part 1, Item 1A. “ Risk Factors "thre Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tleedil year ended December 31, 2013 .

ltem 2. Unreqistered Sales of Equity Securitiesnd Use of Proceeds

There were no unregistered sales of equity seesritiring the quarter ended June 30 , 2014 .

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total Number Average Price
Period of Shares Purchasi Paid per Shar

April 1, 2014 to April 30, 201«
Employee Transactions (1) 353 $ 5.83

May 1, 2014 to May 31, 2014
Employee Transactions ( 976 $ 5.82

June 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014
Employee Transactions (1) 6,838 $ 5.70

Totals April 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014
Employee Transactions ( 8,167 $ 5.72

(1) Includes restricted shares withheld (under the sesfngrants under employee stock compensation ptansffset minimum tax withholding obligations theccur upon the vesting of restricted shares.
Compan’'s stock compensation plans provide that the vaishares withheld shall be the average of the highlow price of the Compa’s common stock on the date the relevant transaotioars.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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Exhibits:
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103
311
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.PRE
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.DEF
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Credit Agreement dated as of June 2, 2014 with @&BACB.

Offer of Employment Letter, dated January 15, 2@itween the Company and Mark D. Niels

Offer of Employment Letter, dated June 9, 2014wien the Company and Donald W. Daniels

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo Rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1!

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursutato Rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1!

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiioBe906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiio8e906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is dated as of June 2, 2014 and is made by andng FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, as Borrowey lfareinafter defined), the LENDERS (as hereinadiefined), and COBANK, ACB, in its capacity as
Administrative Agent (as hereinafter defined).

The Borrower has requested that the Lenders prowididne Borrower a delayed draw term loan facilityan aggregate principal amount not to exceed
$350,000,000, the proceeds of which are to be tespdrchase the wireline business of AT&T Inc.lie State of Connecticut and to pay fees and expenisie respect
to the foregoing transactions. In consideratiothefr mutual covenants and agreements hereinsdteforth and intending to be legally bound herebg,parties hereto
covenant and agree as follows:
|. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

1.1 Certain Definitions . In addition to words and terms defined elsewletbis Agreement, the following words and terrhalshave the following meaning
respectively, unless the context hereof clearlyireg otherwise

“ Acquisition ” means the acquisition by the Borrower of the Ve business of AT&T Inc. in the State of Conneati
“ Acquisition Agreement” means that certain Stock Purchase Agreementddag@eember 16, 2013, between AT&T, Inc. and the®oer.

“ Adjusted LIBOR Rate ” means for the Interest Period for any LIBOR Rlat@n, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwargdessary, to the next whole
multiple of 1/100 of 1%) equal to (i) the LIBOR Rdor such Interest Period multipliedy (i) the Statutory Reserve Rate for such Interestdel.

“ Administrative Agent " means CoBank, in its capacity as administratigers under the Loan Documents and any successaucim capacity appointed
pursuant to Section 10.8

“ Administrative Questionnaire ” means an administrative questionnaire in a foopptied by the Administrative Agent.

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to any specified Person tend®erson that directly, or indirectly through @menore intermediaries, Controls, is Controlled by
or is under common Control with the Person spetifie

“ Alternate Base Rate” means a rate per annum determined by the Admatige Agent on the first Business Day of each weshkich shall be the highest of
(a) the Prime Rate, (b) the Federal Funds Effed®ateplus one half of one percent (0.50%) per annum, anth@Adjusted LIBOR Rate for an Interest Period o o
month on such daplus one percent (1.00%) per annum; provided thfithe LIBOR Rate is no longer available for suokterest Period, the Adjusted LIBOR Rate
shall be calculated for such Interest Period ad\theinistrative Agent



shall select in its sole discretion. Any changéhim Alternate Base Rate due to a change in thelesilen thereof shall be effective at the openifbusiness on the fir:
Business Day of each week or, if determined marquently, at the opening of business on the fitgtilless Day immediately following the date of sdetermination
and without necessity of notice being providech®s Borrower or any other Person.

“ Anti-Terrorism Laws ” means any Laws relating to terrorism, “know yeustomer” or money laundering, including Execut®&ler No. 13224, the USA
Patriot Act, the Laws comprising or implementing Bank Secrecy Act, and the Laws administered éyJthited States Treasury Department’s Office oelgpr Asset
Control.

“ Applicable Margin " means, as applicable:

(0] the percentage spread to be added to the AlterBase Rate applicable to Base Rate Loans bas#tedrotal Leverage Ratio then in
effect according to the Pricing Grid, or

(i) the percentage spread to be added to the fetjusiBOR Rate applicable to LIBOR Rate Loans basethe Total Leverage Ratio then in
effect according to the Pricing Grid.

“ Approved Fund ” means any Fund that is administered or managg@ lyLender, (ii) an Affiliate of a Lender orifiian entity or an Affiliate of an entity that
administers or manages a Lender.

“ Asset Exchange” means the exchange or other transfer of teleconuations assets between or among the Borrower astti@mPerson or other Persons in
connection with which the Borrower would transfelecommunications assets and/or other propertgmsideration of the receipt of telecommunicatiossegs and/or
other property having a fair market value subsdgtiequivalent to those transferred by the Bormoas determined in good faith by the Borrower's Board of
Directors);_providedhat the principal value of the assets being temstl to the Borrower shall be represented by ¢ebecunications assets.

“ Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption agreememeerit¢o by a Lender and an assignee permittedrubeetion 11.7 in
substantially the form of Exhibit Ar any other form approved by the AdministrativeeAty

“ Bankruptcy Code” means title 11 of the United States Code.
“ Base Rate Loari means a Term Loan bearing interest calculateataordance with the Base Rate Option.

“ Base Rate Option” means the option of the Borrower to have portiohthe Term Loans bear interest at the rate adeuthe terms set forth in Section 2.2(a)
().

“ Board " means the Board of Governors of the Federal Ressystem of the United States of America.
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“ Borrower ” means Frontier Communications Corporation, a catmr organized and existing under the laws ofStae of Delaware

“ Borrowing " means as of any date of determination (a) wipeet to LIBOR Rate Loans outstanding as of sut¢h, @aborrowing consisting of Term Loans
having the same Interest Period, and (b) with retiSpeBase Rate Loans, all Base Rate Loans ouisigad of such date.

“ Borrowing Date ” means, with respect to any Term Loan, the dateHe making thereof or the renewal or conversi@rdof at or to the same or a different
Interest Rate Option, which shall be a Business Day

“ Budget " means, for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries arpasolidated basis, forecasted; (A) balance shé@sprofit and loss statements; (C) cash flow
statements; (D) operating budget; and (E) capitdgpt, all prepared on a consistent basis wittBthreower’s historical financial statements, togetivith appropriate
supporting details and a statement of underlyimgmptions. The Budget represents and will represeof the date thereof the good faith estimathe@Borrower and
its senior management concerning the most proluaiese of its business.

“ Business Day’ means any day other than a Saturday or Sundaylegal holiday on which banks are authorized quired to be closed for business in
Denver, Colorado or New York, New York and if theplicable Business Day relates to any LIBOR RatarLor Base Rate Loan determined by reference to the
LIBOR Rate, such day must also be a day on whielirgs in Dollar deposits by and between banksarged on in the London interbank market.

“ Capital Lease Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Pacspay rent or other amounts under any lease dftfwr arrangement
conveying the right to useyeal or personal property, oa combination thereof, which obligations are reeglito be classified and accounted fas capital leases on a
balance sheet of such Person under GAAP and, équuhposes of this Agreement, the amount of suibaitons at any time shall be the capitalized antabereof at
such time determined in accordance with GAAP.

“ Change in Control ” shall be deemed to have occurred if (A) any Perso group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 of ®ecurities and Exchange
Commission as in effect on the date hereof) shafi directly or indirectly, beneficially or of reabrshares representing 50% or more of the aggregdieary voting
power represented by the issued and outstandinitatagck of the Borrower; or (B) a majority ofetlseats (other than vacant seats) on the boarulestats of the
Borrower shall at any time have been occupied bygdPs who were neither (1) nominated by the managemf the Borrower, nor (2) appointed by directsos
nominated; or (C) any Person or group (within theaming of Rule 13d-5 of the Securities and Exchabgmmission as in effect on the date hereof) sttakbrwise
directly or indirectly Control the Borrower.

“ Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this &mgemnt, of any of the following: (i) the adoptiontaking effect of any Law, (ii) any change
in any Law or in the administration, interpretatianplementation or application thereof by any €iéfl Body or
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(iii) the making or issuance of any request, rglaideline or directive (whether or not having tleeck of Law) by any Official Bodyprovidedthat notwithstandini
anything herein to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Framéll Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act alhdequests, rules, regulations, guidelines,rpretations or
directives thereunder or issued in connection thighe(whether or not having the force of Law) aryl 4ll requests, rules, regulations, guidelinegerppretations or
directives promulgated by the Bank for InternatioBattlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Stgien (or any successor or similar authority) loe tUnited
States or foreign regulatory authorities (whethenat having the force of Law), in each case pumstm Basel Ill, shall in each case be deemed ta 6bange in Law

regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issusmyfated or implemented.

“ Closing Date” means the Business Day on which each of the tiondiprecedent in Section sas been satisfied or waived by the Requisite Liesaehich
date is June 2, 2014.

“ CoBank ” means CoBank, ACB, a federally chartered instrtality of the United States.

“ CoBank Equities” has the meaning specified in Section 6.4

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

“ Communications” has the meaning given in Section 11.4(d)

“ Communications Act” means the Communications Act of 1934 and thesraled regulations of the FCC thereunder.

“ Communications System’” means a system or business providing voiceg datvideo transport, connection, monitoring sesior other communications
and/or information services (including cable teswn), through any means or medium.

“ Compliance Certificate” means a certificate of the Borrower, signed Wiireancial Officer of the Borrower, substantiallytire form of Exhibit Bhereto.

“ Connection Income Taxes' means Other Connection Taxes that are imposedraneasured by net income (however denominatedairare franchise
Taxes or branch profits Taxes.

“ Consolidated Net Worth” means, as at any date of determination, the cateeli stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and its cordatied Subsidiaries,
including redeemable preferred securities whereg¢demption date occurs after the Maturity Datenaagorily redeemable convertible preferred seasjtmandatorily
convertible Indebtedness (or Indebtedness suljentindatory forward purchase contracts for equitsimilar securities) and minority equity interestother persons,
as determined on a consolidated basis in confgpnvith GAAP consistently applied.
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“ Consolidated Tangible Asset” means, for anPerson, total assets of such Person and its cdasadi Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidateid,Has:
goodwill, patents, trademarks and other assetsifils as intangible assets in accordance with GAAP

“ Control " means the possession, directly or indirectlythef power to direct or cause the direction of ttemagement or policies of a Person, whether through
the ability to exercise voting power, by contracbtherwise. ‘Controlling ” and “ Controlled ” have meanings correlative thereto.

“ Conversion or Continuation Notice” has the meaning specified_in Section 2.3

“ Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptcy Code, and all other liquaiatconservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment feriténefit of creditors, moratorium,
rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorgénizaor similar debtor relief Laws of the Unitetafs or other applicable jurisdictions from tirogime in effect.

“ Default ” means any event or condition that with noticepassage of time, or both, would constitute an Egétefault.

“ Defaulting Lender ” means, subject to Section 2.12(lgny Lender that (i) has failed to (a) fund itsrfidLoans on the Business Day such Term Loan was
required to be funded hereunder unless such Lematdies the Administrative Agent and the Borroviemriting that such failure is the result of sucender’s good
faith determination that one or more conditionscpdent to funding (each of which conditions preogdmgether with any applicable default, shalldpecifically
identified in such writing) has not been satisfied(b) pay to the Administrative Agent or any athender any other amount required to be paid Imieunder within
two Business Days of the date when due, (ii) hafied the Borrower and the Administrative Agentwriting that it does not intend to comply with fisnding
obligations hereunder, or has made a public statetoethat effect (unless such writing or publiatstnent relates to such Lender’s obligation to fang Term Loan
hereunder and states that such position is basetidnLender’s good faith determination that a @t precedent to funding (which condition precetléogether
with any applicable default, shall be specificatlgntified in such writing or public statement) nat be satisfied), (iii) has failed, within threeidness Days after
written request by the Administrative Agent or B@rrower, to confirm in writing to the Administra& Agent and the Borrower that it will comply wits prospective
funding obligations hereunder (provided that suehder shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender putgoghis clause (i) upon receipt of such writeonfirmation by
the Administrative Agent and the Borrower), or (hgs, or has a direct or indirect parent compaay tias, (a) become the subject of a proceedingrardeDebtor
Relief Law, or (b) had appointed for it a receiveustodian, conservator, trustee, administrataigase for the benefit of creditors or similar Pergharged with
reorganization or liquidation of its business eis, including the Federal Deposit Insurance Gatjmm or any other state or federal regulatonharity acting in such
a capacity; providethat a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lenderlgdig virtue of the ownership or acquisition of aeguity interest in that Lender or any direct or
indirect parent company thereof by a Governmentathérity so long as such ownership interest dodsregult in or provide such Lender with immunityrn the
jurisdiction of courts within the United Statesfaym the



enforcement of judgments or writs of attachmenitsrassets or permit such Lender (or such Govertahéuthority) to reject, repudiate, disavow oraffdm any
contracts or agreements made with such Lender. detgrmination by the Administrative Agent thatenter is a Defaulting Lender under any one or mb@auses
(i) through (iv) above shall be conclusive and bigdabsent manifest error, and, subject to any dghts expressly provided above, such Lender slmtleemed to be
a Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 2)1%on delivery of written notice of such deterntioa to the Borrower and each Lender.

“ Default Rate” means, as of any date of determination, the fahg: (a) for Base Rate Loans, the rate determinextcordance with the Base Rate Option as
of such date pluan additional margin of 2.00% per annum, (ii) fdBOR Rate Loans, the rate determined in accordarnitethe LIBOR Rate Option as of such date
plus an additional margin of 2.00% per annum, and {@r)all other Obligations, the rate determined ac@dance with the Base Rate Option as of suchglasan
additional margin of 2.00% per annum.

“ Delayed Draw Date” means the Business Day on which each of the tiondiprecedent in Section 4as been satisfied or waived by the Requisite Lesnde
“ Dollar ,” “ Dollars ,” “ U.S. Dollars” and the symbol $" means lawful money of the United States of Americ

“ EBITDA " means, with respect to the Borrower and its Siibsies, on a consolidated basis, for the periodab¢ulation, the sum of (A) (1) net income or
deficit, as the case may be (excluding extraorgigains, extraordinary non-cash losses, the wptefiany assets, and any gain or loss on the $assets), (2) total
interest expense, (3) depreciation and amortizatiqgense, (4) dividends on preferred stock, (S)ustincome or franchise taxes, federal, stateaal l(whether paid
or accrued as a liability), and (6) losses attablg to minority interests, investment losses aod-recurring charges for severance, restructurimg) @cquisition
(including acquisition integration) costs, min(B) the sum of (i) investment income, (ii) interestome, (iii) dividend and patronage income, (iRfome from
unconsolidated subsidiaries, partnerships and jantures, and (v) other non-operating income ¢tloerwise included in clauses (i), (i), (iii) afig)); in all cases in
clauses (A) and (B) only to the extent otherwisguded in calculating net income or deficit. Faygeriod of calculation, EBITDA shall be adjustedyive pro forma
effect to any Material Transaction, as determiressonably and in good faith by a Financial Offickrring the period of calculation as if such Makfiransaction
occurred on the first day of such period of caltiata providedthat such pro forma calculations shall only inclsdeh adjustments as are permitted under Regul&tion
X of the SEC.

“ Eligible Assignee” means any Person that meets the requirements &mtassignee under Sections 11.7(b)(iiiL1.7(b)(v)and_11.7(b)(viXsubject to such
consents, if any, as may be required under Setfiofr(b)(iii) ).

“ Environmental Laws ” means all national, federal, state, provincialimaipal or local laws, statutes, ordinances, ardeidgments, decrees, injunctions,
writs, policies and guidelines (having the forcdavf), directives, approvals, notices, rules arglitgtions and other applicable laws relating toimmental or
occupational health and safety matters, includimgé¢ relating to the Release or threatened Reté&eecified Substances and to the generation,
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use, storage or transportation of Specified Substgreach as in effect of the date of determinatio
“ ERISA " means the Employee Retirement Income Securityohd974.

“ ERISA Affiliate " means, at any time, any trade or business (whetheot incorporated) under common control wite Borrower such that such trade or
business, together with the Borrower and all oBRRISA Affiliates, are treated as a single emplayeder Section 4001(b)(1) of ERISA.

“ ERISA Termination Event ” means (A) a “Reportable Event” described in Setd043 of ERISA (other than a “Reportable Evertt subject to the
provision for 30-day notice to the PBGC under skegulations), or (B) the withdrawal of the Borrovegrany of its ERISA Affiliates from a Plan duriagplan year in
which it was a “substantial employer” as define®action 4001(a)(2) of ERISA, or (C) the filing@hotice of intent to terminate a Plan or the treatt of a Plan
amendment as a termination under Section 4041 t8/&Ror (D) the institution of proceeding to terrate a Plan by the PBGC or (E) any other event ndition
which might constitute grounds under Section 4042RISA for the termination of, or the appointmeifita trustee to administer, any Plan.

“ Event of Default” means any of the events described in Sectiom@dlreferred to therein as aiVent of Default.”

“ Excluded Taxes” means any of the following Taxes imposed on ahwespect to a Recipient or required to be witthleel deducted from a payment to a
Recipient, (i) Taxes imposed on or measured byneetme (however denominated), franchise Taxes,baadch profits Taxes, in each case, (a) imposedrasult of
such Recipient being organized under the laws ohawing its principal office or, in the case ofyadrender, its applicable lending office located time jurisdiction
imposing such Tax (or any political subdivisionréw) or (b) that are Other Connection Taxes,ilfifhe case of a Lender, U.S. federal withholdirgds imposed on
amounts payable to or for the account of such Lendtd respect to an applicable interest in a T&an or Term Loan Commitment pursuant to a lawfieat on the
date on which (a) such Lender acquires such irttémesuch Term Loans or Term Loan Commitment (othe@n pursuant to an assignment request by theo®err
under_Section 3.6(b)or (b) such Lender changes its lending offic&egt in each case to the extent that, pursuangéd¢tid® 3.2, amounts with respect to such Taxes
were payable either to such Lender’s assignor inmatelgt before such Lender became a party hereto such Lender immediately before it changed itslileg office,
(iii) Taxes attributable to such Recipient’s fadup comply with Section 3.2(g)hnd (iv) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposeder FATCA.

“ Executive Order No. 13224 means the Executive Order No. 13224 on Terrdtisancing, effective September 24, 2001.
“ Farm Credit Lender " means a federally-chartered Farm Credit Systemditey institution organized under the Farm Credit 8f 1971.
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“ FATCA ” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, dBeotlate of this Agreement (or any amended oresswr version that is substantiv
comparable and not materially more onerous to cpmyith) and any current or future regulations ofiail interpretations thereof and any agreementsred into
pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code.

“ FCC " means the Federal Communications Commission.
“ FCPA " means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, 15 U.8&78dd-1, et seq.

“ Federal Funds Effective Rate’ means, for any day, the rate of interest per anrounded upward, if necessary, to the nearestenhaltiple of 1/100th of
1%) equal to the weighted average of the ratesvemaht federal funds transactions with memberthefFederal Reserve System arranged by federds forokers on
such day, as published by the Federal Reserve 8aNkw York on such date, or if no such rate igsblished on such day, on the most recent day giegesuch day
on which such rate is so published.

“ Fee Letter” means that certain fee letter dated as of Ajl2014 between the Borrower and the Administrafigent.

“ Financial Officer " of any Person means the President, Chief Fina@fficer, Chief Executive Officer, Vice Presiderfinance, Executive Vice President,
Chief Accounting Officer, Controller or Treasurdrsoich corporation. Any document delivered hereurbat is signed by a Financial Officer shall badusively
presumed to have been authorized by all necessgpgrate action on the part of the Borrower andhgtinancial Officer shall be conclusively presuntethave acted
on behalf of the Borrower.

“ Foreign Lender " means (i) if the Borrower is a U.S. Person, adarmthat is not a U.S. Person, and (i) if the Baser is not a U.S. Person, a Lender that is
resident or organized under the Laws of a jurigalicother than that in which the Borrower is residfer tax purposes. For purposes of this debnitthe United States
of America, each State thereof and the Distric€ofumbia shall be deemed to constitute a singlediation.

“ Fund " means any Person (other than a natural Persah)gttor will be) engaged in making, purchasingiding or otherwise investing in commercial loans
and similar extensions of credit in the ordinaryrse of its activities.

“ GAAP " means generally accepted accounting principlethéUnited States of America as are in effect friomme to time, subject to the provisions of
Section 1.3

“ Governmental Approvals” means all authorizations, consents, approvalenies and exemptions of, registrations and filmgs, and reports to, all
Governmental Authorities.

“ Governmental Authority ” means the government of the United States of Acaesr any other nation, or of any political subisiion thereof, whether state or
local, and any agency, authority, instrumentaliggulatory body, court, central bank or other gnékercising executive, legislative, judicial, tagj regulatory or
administrative powers or functions of or



pertaining to government (including any st-national bodies such as the European Union or thiefgean Central Bank), including, without limitatiche FCC an
any applicable PUC.

“ Guaranty " or “ Guarantee” means, with respect to any Person, without dagitin, any obligation, contingent or otherwiseso€h Person pursuant to which
such Person has directly or indirectly guaranteelanl the economic effect of guaranteeing any Itedkiess or other obligation or liability of any ettPerson and,
without limiting the generality of the foregoingnyaobligation, direct or indirect, contingent ohetwise, of any such Person (a) to purchase or(@agdvance or
supply funds for the purchase or payment of) suckebtedness or other obligation or liability (wheetlrising by virtue of partnership arrangemenysagreement to
keep well, to purchase assets, goods, securitissreices, to take-or-pay, or to maintain finanstatement condition or otherwise), (b) to purcharskiease property or
services for the purpose of assuring another Peargayment or performance of any Indebtednesshweratbligations or liabilities, (c) to maintain therking capital
of such Person to permit such Person to pay sutébtedness or other obligations or liabilities @y entered into for the purpose of assuring in ater manner the
obligee of such Indebtedness or other obligatiotiatility of the payment thereof or to protect Buabligee against loss in respect thereof (in wtaslén part);
provided, that the term Guaranty/Guarantee shall not ircleiddorsements for collection or deposit in thenamy course of business. Unless otherwise spekithe
amount of any Guaranty shall be deemed to be #wmieof the principal amount of the Indebtednesstlver obligations or liabilities guaranteed artl stitstanding
and the maximum stated or determined amount fochwvtiie guaranteeing Person may be liable pursoahetterms of the instrument embodying such Gugran if
not stated or determinable, the maximum reasorsattigipated liability in respect thereof as deterad by the guaranteeing Person in good faith.

“ Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (A)@bligations of such Person for borrowed money or with respect to dépasi advances of
any kind (other than customer deposits made imotbdaary course of business), (B) all obligatiorissoch Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, optmilar
instruments, (C) all obligations of such Personrupthich interest charges are customarily paid,gDpbligations of such Person under condition# sa other title
retention agreements relating to property or agsetshased by such Person, (E) all obligations of such Peissned or assumed as the deferred purchasee of
property or services (other than current trade pl@gaincurred, expense accruals and deferred casapen items arising, in each case, in such Pessandinary course
of business) , (F) all Indebtedness of others sethy (or for which the holderof such Indebtedness has an existing right, coetingr otherwise, to be secured by)
any Lien on property owned or acquired by such dtersshether or not the obligations secured thetadye been assumed, provided that, if such Persemdia
assumed such obligations, then the amount of ledeless of such Person for purposes of this cld)sghéll be equal to the lesser of the amount efothligations of
the holder of such obligations and the fair mawskdtie of the assets of such Person which secutechigations , (G) all Capital Lease Obligatiofisoch Person, (H)
all obligations of such Person in respect of Swap Contracts (exodpe extent such obligations are used as a b hedge of other Indebtedness of such Person) ,
provided the amount of such obligations shall bented to be the net termination obligations of sBehson thereunder calculated as if such Swap Gusitveere
terminated on such date of calculation but sucheretination shall not be less than zero for puegasf this definition , (I) all obligations of suéterson as an account
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party in respect of letters of credit and ban acceptances (except to the extany such obligations are incurrein support of other obligations constituti
Indebtedness of suchPerson and other than, to the extent reimbursdchifin, letters of credit in support of ordinary csmiperformance obligations), (J) obligations
under partnership, organizational or other agre¢snem fund capital contributions or other equityllcavith respect to any Person or investment, oredeem,
repurchase or otherwise make payments in respempital stock or other securities of such Persml, (K) all Guarantees of such Person in respeengfof the
foregoing;_provided however, that the term Indebtedness shall not include erdoests for collection or deposit, in either casthanordinary course of business.

“ Indemnified Taxes” means (i) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, irepam or with respect to any payment made by axamount of any obligation of the
Borrower under any Loan Document and (ii) to theeeknot otherwise described in the preceding elg)sOther Taxes.

“ Indemnitee” has the meaning specified_in Section 11.3
“ Information ” has the meaning specified_in Section 11.8

“ Insolvency Proceeding’ means, with respect to any Person, (i) a casgraor proceeding with respect to such Persorbéére any court or any other
Governmental Authority under any Debtor Relief Lawother similar Law now or hereafter in effect, (b) for the appointment of a receiver, liquidatassignee,
custodian, trustee, sequestrator, conservatoiir(olas official) of the Borrower or otherwise reiag to the liquidation, dissolution, winding-up @lief of such Person,
or (i) any general assignment for the benefit mfditors, composition, marshaling of assets foditoes, or other, similar arrangement in respecswdh Person’s
creditors generally or any substantial portiontefcreditors; undertaken under any Law.

“ Interest Payment Date” means the last day of each calendar quarter tifétedate hereof until the Maturity Date.

“ Interest Period " means the period of time selected by the Borrowearonnection with (and to apply to) any electirmitted hereunder by the Borrower to
have a Term Loan bear interest under the LIBOR Rygtion. Subject to the last sentence of thisnikidin, such period shall be one, two, three, six,to the extent
made available by all the Lenders, twelve montsch Interest Period shall commence on the effedfiate of such LIBOR Rate Loan, which shall bett{g
Borrowing Date if the Borrower is requesting thermieLoans, or (ii) the date of renewal of or coni@nsto a LIBOR Rate Loan if the Borrower is renewior
converting any Term Loan. Notwithstanding the seceentence hereof: (a) any Interest Period thatdvatherwise end on a date that is not a BusiBessshall be
extended to the next succeeding Business Day uslegs Business Day falls in the next calendar monttwhich case such Interest Period shall endhennext
preceding Business Day, (b) the Borrower shallssi¢ct, convert to or renew an Interest Periodafgr portion of the Term Loans that would end after applicable
Maturity Date and (c) if any Interest Period beginsthe last Business Day of a month or on a dayrabnth for which there is no numerically corresgiog day in the
month in which such Interest Period is to end, dntérest Period shall be deemed to end on theBlasiness Day of the final month of such Interesidl.
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“ Interest Rate Option” means any (i) LIBOR Rate Option or (ii) Base Raf#ian.

“ IRS " means the United States Internal Revenue Service.
“ Laws " means, collectively, all international, foreighederal, state and local statutes, treaties, rgaglelines, regulations, ordinances, codes and
administrative or judicial precedents or authositimcluding the interpretation or administratibvereof by any Governmental Authority charged witd eénforcement,
interpretation or administration thereof, and alplécable administrative orders, directed dutiesjuests, licenses, authorizations and permitsnof,agreements with,
any Governmental Authority, in each case whetharovhaving the force of law, including, withoutmiiation, the Communications Act, any applicableCPLaws and
Environmental Laws.

“ Lenders” means each of the financial institutions fromeito time party hereto as a lender and their resgesuccessors and assigns as permitted hereunder,
each of which is referred to herein as a Lender.

“ LIBOR Rate " means, with respect to any Interest Period, @ o&tinterest (rounded upward to the next wholetiplel of 1/100th of one percent) reported by
Bloomberg Information Services (or on any successosubstitute service providing rate quotationsparable to those currently provided by such sepvas
determined by the Administrative Agent from timetitne, for the purpose of providing quotationsmirest rates applicable to dollar deposits inLitvedon interbank
market) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London tina& Business Days prior to the commencement of sutehest Period, as the rate for dollar deposith wimaturity
comparable to such Interest Period; provided thathe event the Administrative Agent is not ableditermine the LIBOR Rate using such methodolobg, t
Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower atiet Administrative Agent and the Borrower will agnegpon a substitute basis for obtaining such giooisit

“ LIBOR Rate Loan " means a Term Loan bearing interest at the LIBGReFOption.

“ LIBOR Rate Option " means the option of the Borrower to have Termrsbear interest at the rate and under the ternisreie in Section 2.2(a)(ii)

“ Licenses ” means any cable television franchise or any laeditelephone, cellular telephone, microwave, pebkocommunications, or other
telecommunications or similar license, authorizatiowaiver, certificate of compliance, franchisecliding cable television and telecommunicatiorendhise),
approval, or permit, whether for the acquisitioonstruction or operation of any Communications 8ystgranted or issued by the FCC or any applidabl€ or other
Governmental Authority and held by the Borrowernny of its Subsidiaries.

“ Lien " means, with respect to any asset, (a) any moetgéeed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance, charggecurity interest in or on such asset, (b) the
interest of a vendor or a lessor under any cidit sale agreement, capital lease, or title t&irragreement relating to such asset and (c)arcéise of securities, any
purchase option, call, or similar right of a thparty with respect to such securities.
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“ Loan Documents” means this Agreement, the Fee Letter, the SolvEectificate and the Term Loan Not:
“ Loan Request’ means a request for the Term Loans, substantialige form of Exhibit Chereto.
“ Margin Regulations” means Regulations T, U and X of the Board.

“ Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on the busiresssts, operations, financial condition or resafitsperations of the Borrower and
its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

“ Material Transaction ” means any acquisition or disposition outside the ordinaoyrse of business of any property or assets(fjatonstitute assets
comprising all or substantially all of an operatimgit of a business or equity interests of a Perspnesenting a majority of the ordinary voting gover economic
interests in such Person that are represented hiy alitstanding capital stock and (B) involveg@gate consideration in excess of $50,000,000.

“ Maturity Date " means the earliest of (a) the date of accelanatiothe Obligations in accordance with Section,9(2) the fifth anniversary of the Delayed
Draw Date and (c) December 15, 2019.

“ Maximum Priority Amount " shall mean, at any time, the sum of (A) 10% o thalue of the consolidated total assets of thedeaer and (B) 20% of the
sum of the total consolidated current assets andmperty, plant and equipment of the Borrowergach case, as shown on, or computed from, the raosnt
quarterly or annual consolidated balance shedteoBbrrower delivered by the Borrower pursuanteot®n 8.2(apr 8.2(b).

“ Maximum Rate ” has the meaning specified in Section 11.13

“ Multiemployer Plan ” means any employee benefit plan that is a “moip®yer plan” within the meaning of Section 400L8x)of ERISA and to which the
Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate is then making otcauing an obligation to make contributions or,hiitthe preceding five (5) p lan yearsf such Multiemployer
Plan, has made or had an obligation to make such cottiits

“ Non-Consenting Lender” has the meaning specified_ in Section 11.1

“ Non-Defaulting Lender” means, at any time, each Lender that is not alllefig Lender at such time.

“ Obligation ” means any obligation or liability of any of theoBower, howsoever created, arising or evidencdtgtier direct or indirect, joint or several,
absolute or contingent, for payment or performancey or hereafter existing (and including obligagar liabilities arising or accruing after the coencement of any

Insolvency Proceeding with respect to the Borroarewhich would have arisen or accrued but for thiemencement of such Insolvency Proceeding, evéreitlaim
for such obligation or liability is not enforceatdeallowable in
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such proceeding), or due or to become due, underaamnection with this Agreement, the Term Loastd$, the Fee Letter or any other Loan Documegg(tiess o
whether any Term Loan is in excess of the amouminsitted under or contemplated by the Loan Documengse made in circumstances in which any conditoany
Term Loan is not satisfied) whether to the Admiaisve Agent, any of the Lenders or their Affiliater other persons provided for under such Loarubwents.

“ Official Body ” means (i) any Governmental Authority and (ii) agsoup or body charged with setting financial actig or regulatory capital rules or
standards (including, without limitation, the Fic#@l Accounting Standards Board, the Bank for Imé¢ional Settlements or the Basel Committee on Bank
Supervision or any successor or similar authodtgrty of the foregoing).

“ Organizational Documents” means the certificate or articles of incorporatibylaws, certificate of limited partnership, pemtship agreement, certificate of
formation, limited liability company agreement dher organizational documents of any Person.

“ Other Connection Taxes’ means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes irajass a result of a present or former connectitwdsn such Recipient and the
jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than conrmui arising from such Recipient having executetlyeled, become a party to, performed its obligaiander,
received payments under, received or perfectedcarige interest under, engaged in any other tramsagursuant to or enforced any Loan Documentsald or
assigned an interest in any Term Loan or Loan Desijn

“ Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court or dantary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Xes that arise from any payment made under,
from the execution, delivery, performance, enforestror registration of, from the receipt or perifeatof a security interest under, or otherwise wehpect to, any
Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are @benection Taxes imposed with respect to an assgh(other than an assignment made pursuant to8&c6

(b)).
“ Participant " has the meaning specified_in Section 11.7(d)
“ Participant Register” has the meaning specified_in Section 11.7(d)

“ Payment In Full ” means the payment in full in cash of the Termsand other Obligations (other than contingenemuification Obligations) hereunder
and the termination of the Term Loan Commitments.

“ PBGC " means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporatitabéished pursuant to Subtitle A of Title IV of EFA.

“ Person” means any natural person, corporation, compaaytnprship, limited liability company, associatigaint-stock company, trust, unincorporated
organization, joint venture, Official Body, or aother entity.
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“Plan” meansany pension plan (including a multiemployer plampject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or &®n 412 of the IRC which is maintain
for or to which contributions are made for emplayeéthe Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate.

“ Pricing Grid " means the table and text set forth below:

Total Applicable
Ll LR Applicable Margin Margin for
I Ratiog for Base Rate LIBOR Rate
— Loans Loans
Level | >4.00:1.0C 2.875% 3.875%
>3.50:1.00
Level Il <4.00:1.0C 2.375% 3.375%
>3.00:1.00
Level lll < 3.50:1.0C 1.875% 2.875%
>2.50:1.00
Level IV < 3.00:1.0C 1.375% 2.375%
Level V < 2.50:1.0C 0.875% 1.875%
For purposes of determining the Applicable Margin:
(0] The initial Applicable Margin shall be set agvel Il until the earlier of (x) delivery of therdit Compliance Certificate after the Closing

Date or (y) the date on which the first Compliar@ertificate is due after the Closing Date pursuanBection 8.2(c) The Applicable Margin shall be adjusted
according to the above pricing grid as of the ehdazh full fiscal quarter after the Closing Datny increase or decrease in the Applicable Magegljusted as of a
quarter end shall be effective no later than fisg Business Days following the date on which then@lance Certificate evidencing such computationétivered
under_Section 8.2(c) If a Compliance Certificate is not delivered wtdue in accordance with such Section 8.2¢ben the rates at Level | shall apply as of its f
Business Day after the date on which such Compdiaertificate was required to have been delivened shall remain in effect until the date on whickcts
Compliance Certificate is delivered. Notwithstarglianything contained in this definition to the tary, to the extent that the Applicable Margin lslchange as a
result of operation of this Section (i), such cheusall not apply to any existing LIBOR Rate Loartiluisuch time as the current Interest Period withpect to such
LIBOR Rate Loan expires.

(i) Notwithstanding anything in clause (i) hereafitil receipt of the first Compliance Certificadelivered at least four fiscal quarters after
the Delayed Draw Date, the Applicable Margin wil ®et at Level Il if the Total Leverage Ratio issi¢han 4.00:1.00 for the applicable fiscal quaeed Level | if the
Total Leverage Ratio is greater than or equal 8:4:00 for the applicable fiscal quarter.
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(iii) If, as a result of any restatement of or other stdjient to the financial statements of the Borrowefior any other reason, the Borrowet
the Lenders determine that (i) the Total Leveragédras calculated by the Borrower as of any applie date was inaccurate and (ii) a proper calculaif the Total
Leverage Ratio would have resulted in higher pgdior such period, the Borrower shall immediatehyl aetroactively be obligated to pay to the Adntiiaisve Agent
for the account of the applicable Lenders, promptiydemand by the Administrative Agent (or, aftex bccurrence of an actual or deemed entry of derdor relief
with respect to the Borrower under the Bankruptoygl€ automatically and without further action bg thdministrative Agent or any Lender), an amountado the
excess of the amount of interest and fees thatldh@ve been paid for such period over the amotfintterest and fees actually paid for such periddis paragraph
shall not limit the rights of the Administrative Agt or any Lender, as the case may be, under 86&tfio or Section 3.5 or Section VIII.

“ Prime Rate” means a variable rate of interest per annum etuttie “U.S. prime rate” as reported on such dethe Money Rates Section of the Eastern
Edition of The Wall Street Journalor if the Eastern Edition dfhe Wall Street Journa not published on such day, such rate as ladispell in the Eastern Edition of
The Wall Street Journal In the event the Eastern EditionTdie Wall Street Journaleases to publish such rate or an equivalent egalar basis, the termPrime
Rate” shall be determined on any day by reference thsuther regularly published average prime ratestwh date applicable to such commercial banks as i
acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its rewdule discretion. Any change in Prime Rate shellabtomatic, without the necessity of notice predido the
Borrower.

“ Principal Office ” means the main banking office of the AdministratiAgent in Greenwood Village, Colorado, or sucheotbanking office as may be
designated by the Administrative Agent from timeinoe.

“ Principal Subsidiaries” shall mean any Subsidiary of the Borrower whosesBhbaated Tangible Assets comprise in excess of b0%he Consolidated
Tangible Assets of the Borrower and its consolid&absidiaries as of the date hereof or at any tiereafter.

“ Pro Rata Share” means as of any date of determination, (i) if @®ym Loan Commitments remain in effect, the prtiparthat a Lender’s unused Term Loan
Commitments bears to the aggregate amount of Tesam lCommitments of all of the Lenders as of sude,dar (ii) if the Term Loan Commitments have been
terminated or have expired, the proportion thatahtstanding principal amount of a Lender’s Ternah® as of such date bears to the aggregate outsggmihcipal
amount of the Term Loans as of such date.

“ PUC " means any state, provincial or other local publitity commission, local franchising authorityr similar regulatory agency or body that exercises
jurisdiction over the rates or services or the awhig, construction or operation of any Communamagi System (and its related facilities) or oversBes who own,
construct or operate a Communications System,ch ease by reason of the nature or type of thenbasisubject to regulation and not pursuant to &wdsregulations
of general applicability to Persons conducting bess in any such jurisdiction.
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“ PUC Laws” means all relevant rules, regulations, and publigi@icies of, and all Laws administered by, any(Passerting jurisdiction over the Borrower
its Subsidiaries.

“ Recipient” means (i) the Administrative Agent and (ii) angrider, as applicable.
“ Regulation D” means Regulation D of the Board as from time t@timeffect and all official rulings and interprétas thereunder or thereof.

“ Related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Perdffil@ates and the partners, directors, officersypoyees, agents, trustees, administrators,
managers, advisors and representatives of sucbrPansl of such Person’s Affiliates.

“ Release” means any spilling, emitting, discharging, depaositiescaping, leaching, dumping or other releasimgduding the movement of any Specified
Substance through the air, soil, surface wateynptwater or property, and when used as a verb liles meaning.

“ Removal Effective Datée’ has the meaning given in Section 10.8.

“ Requisite Lenders” means, to the extent more than one Lender hailgisofthe Term Loan Commitments or the outstangiirigcipal amount of the Term
Loans, at least two Lenders, including Voting Rgrants, who are not Defaulting Lenders and whoehiavthe aggregate Pro Rata Shares greater th@0%0.
(calculated without giving effect to any Term Loamald or deemed to be held by a Defaulting Lend@rpvided that for purposes hereof, such two (2) or more
Lenders (including Voting Participants) may not sishsolely of Voting Participants who purchasegirtiparticipations from the same Lender or of Vgtiparticipants
and the Lender who sold such participations to &(mting Participant .

“ Resignation Effective Daté’ has the meaning given in Section 10.8.

“ Restricted Payment” means any dividend or other distribution (whettrecash, securities or other property) with respe@ny capital stock or other equity
interest of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or payment (whether in cash, securities or other ptgpencluding any sinking fund or similar depgsinh account of the
purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, eat@on or termination of any such capital stockother equity interest, or on account of any metof capital to the
Borrower’s stockholders, partners or members (erettuivalent Person thereof).

“ Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country or territory whighhe subject or target of any Sanctions.

“ Sanctioned Person’ means, at any time, (a) any Person publicly idiect in any Sanctions-related list of designatesens maintained by the Office of

Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department ef Theasury or the U.S. Department of State, (b)Rergon that engages in material operations, organized or
resident, in a Sanctioned Country or (c) any Pecsmttrolled by any such Person.
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“ Sanctions” means economic or financial sanctions or trade egolea imposed, administered or enforced from tintnte by the U.S. government, includi
those administered by the Office of Foreign As§aatrol of the U.S. Department of the Treasuryhert).S. Department of State.

“ Securitization Transaction” means (A) any transfer of accounts receivablintarests therein (1) to a trust, partnership, cmpon or other entity (other
than a Subsidiary), which transfer or pledge isdfdhby such entity in whole or in part by the isgeato one or more lenders or investors of indetess or other
securities that are to receive payments princigfadign the cash flow derived from such accountsiv@t®e or interests in accounts receivable, ord{&ctly to one or
more investors or other purchasers (other thanSamsidiary), or (B) any transaction in which ther®aver or a Subsidiary incurs Indebtedness secpmiedipally by
Liens on accounts receivable. The “amount” of Seguritization Transaction shall be deemed at iamg to be (i) in the case of a transaction desdribelause (A) of
the preceding sentence, the aggregate uncolleatedr of the accounts receivable transferred putsteasuch Securitization Transaction, net of amghsaccounts
receivable that have been written off as uncolietiand (ii) in the case of a transaction desdrilpeclause (B) of the preceding sentence, theeagge outstanding
principal amount of the Indebtedness secured bysLém accounts receivable incurred pursuant to Sechritization Transaction.

“ Solvency Certificate” shall mean the certificate of the Borrower in tbem of Exhibit Ehereto, or otherwise in form acceptable to the Adstiative Agent.

“ Specified Substancé means (i) any chemical, material or substance défas or included in the definition of “hazardous substaficészardous wastes”,
“hazardous materials”, “extremely hazardous waste’stricted hazardous waste” or “toxic substaneags’words of similar import under any applicable Ennimeental
Laws; (ii) any (A) oil, natural gas, petroleum cetmleum derived substance, any drilling fluidspdarced waters and other wastes associated witlexibleration,
development or production of crude oil, natural gageothermal fluid, any flammable substancesxptasives, any radioactive materials, any hazardeastes or
substances, any toxic wastes or substances ottl{B) materials or pollutants that, in the caseathifA) and (B), (1) pose a hazard to the propeftthe Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries or any part thereof or éospns on or about such property or to any othepesty that may be affected by the Release of suaterials or
pollutants from such property or any part thereafoopersons on or about such other property océRpse such property or such other property ta lwoiation of any
Environmental Law; (iii) asbestos, urea formaldehyfdam insulation, toluene, polychlorinated bipHengnd any electrical equipment which contains aityor
dielectric fluid containing levels of polychlorireat biphenyls in excess of fifty parts per milli@nd (iv) any sound, vibration, heat, radiation tireo form of energy
and any other chemical, material or substance,®xpdo which is prohibited, limited or regulatgddmy Governmental Authority.

“ Statutory Reserve Rateé’ means, for the Interest Period for any LIBOR Riatan, a fraction (expressed as a decimal), theemator of which is the number
one and the denominator of which is the numberroimis the arithmetic mean, taken over each dayceh $nterest Period, of the aggregate of the maximeserve
percentages (including any marginal, special,
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emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed@simal established by the Board to which the Adstiative Agent is subject for eurocurrency fund{ogrrently
referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regtitm D of the Board). Such reserve percentagedl shelude those imposed pursuant to such Reguiatio
D. Eurocurrency Loans shall be deemed to constiturocurrency funding and to be subject to sushrve requirements without benefit of or credit ooration,
exemptions or offsets that may be available franetto time to any Lender under such Regulation Bngrcomparable regulation. The Statutory ResBate shall be
adjusted automatically on and as of the effectate @f any change in any reserve percentage.

“ Subsidiary " of any Person at any time means any corporatioist, partnership, any limited liability companyather business entity (i) of which more than
50% of the outstanding voting securities or otméeriests normally entitled to vote for the electadrone or more directors or trustees (regardlésny contingency
that does or may suspend or dilute the voting sigig at such time owned, or the management of twisiccontrolled, directly or indirectly through oe more
intermediaries, or both, by such Person or one arerof such Person’s Subsidiaries, or (ii) thadirectly or indirectly Controlled by such Persaname or more of
such Person’s Subsidiaries.

“ Swap Contract” means (a) any and all rate swap transactions, bagips, credit derivative transactions, forware r@ansactions, commodity swaps,
commodity options, forward commodity contracts, iggor equity index swaps or options, bond or bamite or bond index swaps or options or forwarddon
forward bond price or forward bond index transawiointerest rate options, forward foreign exchatg@sactions, cap transactions, floor transactieofiar
transactions, currency swap transactions, crogefey rate swap transactions, currency optiond, apatracts, or any other similar transactionsror @mbination of
any of the foregoing (including any options to ente¢o any of the foregoing), whether or not angtstransaction is governed by or subject to anytenagreement,
and (b) any and all transactions of any kind, amel related confirmations, which are subject to tdrens and conditions of, or governed by, any fofrmaster
agreement published by the International Swaps Bedvatives Association, Inc., any Internationalréign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other maste
agreement (any such master agreement, togetheramthielated schedules, aMaster Agreement”), including any such obligations or liabilitiesder any Master
Agreement.

“ Swap Termination Value” means, in respect of any one or more Swap Conjraftes taking into account the effect of any Iéga@nforceable netting
agreement relating to such Swap Contracts, (apmyr date on or after the date such Swap Contraate heen closed out and termination value(s) déatednin
accordance therewith, such termination value(s),(ah for any date prior to the date referencedlause (a), the amount(s) determined as the mankattet value(s)
for such Swap Contracts, as determined based uperoomore mid-market or other readily availabletgtions provided by any recognized dealer in stalap
Contracts (which may include a Lender or any Adfii of a Lender).

“ Tax Compliance Certificate” means a tax certificate substantially in the fasfiExhibit Fhereto, prepared and delivered by any Lender inrdance with

Section 3.2(q)
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“ Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, impastses, deductions, withholdings (including backuithholdings), assessments, fees or other ch
imposed by any Governmental Authority, includiny amterest, additions to tax or penalties applieahkreto.

“ Term Loans” has the meaning given in Section 2.1(a)

“ Term Loan Commitment ” means, as to any Lender at any time, the amaitially set forth opposite its name on ScheduldB) , as such Term Loan
Commitment is thereafter assigned or modified arfftefm Loan Commitments ” means the aggregate Term Loan Commitments offathe Lenders. As of the
Closing Date, the aggregate amount of the Term I@Q@ammitments of the Lenders is $350,000,000.

“ Term Loan Commitment Termination Date " means the earliest of (i) the date on which tledmount of the Term Loan Commitments have bekmaced
to the Borrower, (ii) the date of the acceleratidrthe Obligations pursuant to Section 9.@i) December 16, 2014 or (iv) the date the Barer gives notice to the
Administrative Agent of the Borrower’s election terminate the Term Loan Commitments; provided, that Term Loan Commitment Termination Date may be
extended to a date no later than June 16, 2015 delorery to the Administrative Agent of written tiee from the Borrower that the “Termination Dafe’ defined in
the Acquisition Agreement) has been extended th date.

“ Term Loan Facility ” means the term loan credit facility extendedhe Borrower pursuant to Section 2.1(a)

“ Term Loan Notes” means the promissory notes of the Borrower suibisti#y in the form of Exhibit Dhereto evidencing the Term Loans.

“ Total Indebtedness” means , as of any date, the aggregate principauat of Indebtedness of the Borrower and its clissied Subsidiaries outstanding as
of such date, in the amount and only to the extieait such Indebtedness would be reflected on anbalaheet prepared as of such date on a consdlidagss in
accordance with GAAP, minuke amount of the unrestricted cash and cash dquaigeof the Borrower and its consolidated Subsigkain excess of $50,000,000 that
would be reflected on such balance sheet .

“ Total Leverage Ratio” means, with respect to any fiscal quarter, athefdate ending such fiscal quarter, the rati@pfTptal Indebtedness as of such fiscal
quarter end to (b) EBITDA for the most recently gdeted four fiscal quarters (including such fisgaérter).

“ Unused Delayed Draw Commitment Fe& has the meaning specified_in Section 2.5(a)

“ USA Patriot Act " means the Uniting and Strengthening America byvRling Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept a@ioistruct Terrorism Act of 2001,
Public Law 107-56.

“ U.S. Borrower” means any Borrower that is a U.S. Person.
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“ U.S. Persor” means any Person that i“United States Pers” as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the C¢
“ Voting Participant " has the meaning specified_in Section 11.7

“ Voting Participant Notice " has the meaning specified in Section 11.7

“ Withholding Agent ” means (i) the Borrower and (ii) the Administraifgent.

1.2 _Construction. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwlearty requires, the following rules of constructishall apply to this Agreement and each
of the other Loan Documents: (a) references tgthil include the singular, the plural, the pard &he whole; (b) the wordsiticlude,” “ includes” and “including”
shall be deemed to be followed by the phras&ttiout limitation”; (c) the words “hereof,” “ herein,” “ hereunder,” “ hereto” and similar terms in this Agreement or
any other Loan Document refer to this Agreemergumh other Loan Document as a whole; (d) artigetisn, Section, clause, schedule and exhibit eefegs are to
this Agreement or other Loan Document, as the n#e be, unless otherwise specified; (e) refereaa@ny Person includes such Person’s successorasaighs; (f)
reference to any Governmental Authority includeg similar or successor Governmental Authority; (@ference to any agreement, including this Agre¢raad any
other Loan Document together with the scheduleseathibits hereto or thereto, document or instrunmeeans such agreement, document or instrument esdad,
extended, modified, supplemented, replaced, substitfor, superseded, renewed, refinanced, refundegstated at any time and from time to time;réiative to the
determination of any period of timeffom” means “from and including” “ to ” means “to but excluding” and “through” means “through and including; (i) the
words “asset’ and “ property” shall be construed to have the same meaning fiect @nd to refer to any and all tangible andrigile assets and properties, including
cash, securities, accounts and contract rightssegtion headings herein and in each other Loarulent are included for convenience and shall nfgcatthe
interpretation of this Agreement or such Loan Doentn(k) any pronoun shall include the correspogdirasculine, feminine and neuter terms; (1) refeeeto any Law
or regulation shall refer to such Law or regulatas amended, modified or supplemented from timgnte, and to any successor statutes or rules agdatéons
promulgated thereunder or substantially relatedetie (m) the word Will ” shall be construed to have the same meaning fiect as the word $hall”; and (n) unless
otherwise specified, all references herein to tiofeday shall be references to Denver, Colorade tim

1.3 _Accounting Principles. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreemafitcomputations and determinations as to accogntinfinancial matters
(including financial ratios and other financial emants) and all financial statements to be delt/grersuant to this Agreement shall be made andapeepin
accordance with GAAP (including principles of colidation where appropriate), applied on a consiskasis and, except as expressly provided heneia,manner
consistent with that used in preparing auditedrfaia statements in accordance with Section 8.2(ld) all accounting or financial terms have the rirggnascribed to
such terms by GAAP. Notwithstanding anything te tontrary herein, in the event of any change #fterdate hereof in GAAP, and if such change wadlect the
computation of any of the financial covenants setfin Article VIII , then the parties hereto agree to endeavor, in
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good faith, to agree upon an amendment to this éxgent that would adjust such financial covenanta manner that would preserve the original intesteof, bu
would allow compliance therewith to be determinedccordance with the Borrower’s financial staterse that time, provided that until so amended dirancial
covenants shall continue to be computed in accaslaith GAAP prior to such change therein. Notsifinding the foregoing, for purposes of determimiogpliance
with any covenant (including the computation of dimancial covenant) contained herein, Indebtedrdsthe Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be degno be
carried at 100% of the outstanding principal amdhateof, and the effects of FASB ASC 825 and FASEC 470-20 on financial liabilities shall be disaeded.

1.4 _Rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintainagquant to this Agreement shall be calculated kydifig the appropriate component by the
other component, carrying the result to one placeenthan the number of places by which such ratipescentage is expressed herein and roundingethétrup or
down to the nearest number (with a rounding-upefe is no nearest number).

1.5 _Holidays. Whenever payment of a Term Loan to be madekantaereunder shall be due on a day that is natsinBss Day such payment shall be due
on the next Business Day (except as provided itidBe2.3) and such extension of time shall be includedamjguting interest and fees, except that the Teramko
shall be due on the Business Day preceding the fidatDate if the Maturity Date is not a BusinessyDaVhenever any payment or action to be made l@nta
hereunder (other than payment of the Term Loaral) bl stated to be due on a day that is not angssi Day, such payment or action shall be madakenton the
next following Business Day, and such extensiotinsé shall not be included in computing interestess, if any, in connection with such paymentaiioa.

1.6 _Covenant Compliance Generally For purposes of determining compliance undeickrtVlll , any amount in a currency other than Dollars Wwél
converted to Dollars in a manner consistent witht thsed in calculating consolidated net incomehim most recent financial statements of the Borroaret its
Subsidiaries delivered pursuant_to Section.8Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes efedmining compliance with Article VIl with respect to any covenant
with respect to the amount of Indebtedness or invest in a currency other than Dollars, no breacany basket contained therein shall be deemedte bccurred
solely as a result of changes in rates of exchangerring after the time such Indebtedness or tnvest is incurred; provided, that for the avoidanteoubt, the result
of any changes in rates of exchange occurring #feetime such Indebtedness or investment is iedushall otherwise apply in all other cases, indgdietermining
whether any additional Indebtedness or investmesy be incurred at any time in accordance with Aeti¢ll and for purposes of calculating financial ratios in
accordance with Article VIII

1.7 _Administration of Rates. The Administrative Agent does not warrant, nocept responsibility, nor shall the Administratifgent have any liability
with respect to the administration, submissionry ether matter related to the rates in the dédiniof “LIBOR Rate” or with respect to any compaabr successor
rate thereto.
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Il. CREDIT FACILITIES
2.1Term Loans.

(a) Term Loan Commitment. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, rfying upon the representations and warrantiesiieset forth, eac
Lender severally agrees to make a delayed drawlgamunder its Term Loan Commitment (each such,lad Term Loan ”) to the Borrower on the Delay
Draw Date in a single advance in an aggregate atmmirto exceed $350,000,000; providbdt the aggregate amount of Term Loans from eacidér sha
not exceed such LenderTerm Loan Commitment. Each request by the Baerdar a Term Loan shall be deemed to be a reptatsem by the Borrower that
shall be in compliance with_Section 4imediately after giving effect to the requestednid.oans. The Term Loan Commitments are not réng
commitments, and the Borrower shall not have thietrio repay and reborrow any Term Loan underSection 2.1.

(b) Term Loans Reque. The Borrower shall request the Lenders to mhkelerm Loans by delivering to the Administrativgeht, not later than 11:
a.m., (i) three (3) Business Days prior to the psmu Borrowing Date with respect to LIBOR Rate Lsjand (i) one (1) Business Day prior to the psms
Borrowing Date with respect to Base Rate Lo@nsin each case, such shorter period as may teedgo by the Administrative Agent in consultatieith the
Lenders) , a duly completed request therefor sahatly in the form of Exhibit C The Loan Request shall be irrevocable and speitify the Interest Peric
providedthat the Borrower may revoke the Loan Request @n(dpoccasion due to a delay in the closing ofAbguisition by delivering a written notice to
Administrative Agent received prior to wiring of duadvance, such revocation to be without premiumpemalty (except as provided in Section B.5The
Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount equtildaggregate Term Loan Commitmel

(c) Nature of LendetsObligations with Respect to Term Loan&ach Lender shall be obligated to participateaoh request for a Term Loan purs
to this_Section 2.1n accordance with its Pro Rata Share. The agtpegfeeach Lendes’ Term Loans outstanding hereunder to the Borr@wveny time she
never exceed its Term Loan Commitment. The ohbigatof each Lender hereunder are several. Thedaf any Lender to perform its obligations herde
shall not affect the Obligations of the Borroweraimy other party nor shall any other party be &afloir the failure of such Lender to perform itsigations
hereunder. The Lenders shall have no obligationake the Term Loans after the Term Loan Commitriientination Date

(d) Repayment of Term LoansIn addition to any prepayments or repaymentseradsuant to Sections 2.ahd_2.12, the Borrower shall repay t
aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Tlewams in equal quarterly principal payments onlés¢ day of each March, June, September and Dexr
beginning one full fiscal quarter after the Delayzrdw D ate in an amount equal to $8,750 ,000.wibstanding
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anything herein to the contrary, the entire outditagn principal balance of the Term Loans shall be dnd payable in full in cash on the Maturity D

2.2 _Interest Rate Provisions The Borrower shall pay interest in respect ef dtstanding unpaid principal amount of the Bag®Roans and LIBOR Rate
Loans, it being understood that, subject to thevipions of this Agreement, the Borrower may sellifferent Interest Rate Options and different IagrPeriods to
apply to different Borrowings at any time outstargdand may convert to or renew one or more Intd&agt Options with respect to all or any portioran§ Borrowing
(subject to minimum amounts in a principal amouqia to $1,000,000 or any whole multiple of $500,@® excess thereof); provided that there shallogoat any one
time outstanding more than five (5) Borrowings ®BOR Rate Loans, and provided, further, that iffearent of Default or Default has occurred and isticwing, the
Borrower may not request, convert to, or renew ldBOR Rate Loans. If at any time the designated egplicable to any Term Loan made by any Lengeeeds the
Maximum Rate, the rate of interest on such LendEeisn Loan shall be limited to the Maximum Rate.

(a) Interest Rate Optior. All other Obligations not constituting the Tetroans shall bear interest calculated based upoBalse Rate Option. Subj:
to the limitations set forth iSection 3.4, the Borrower shall have the right to select fiii following Interest Rate Options applicablette Term Loans

(i) Base Rate Option An option to pay interest at a fluctuating raer annum equal to the Alternate Base Rate in effecof any date
determinatiorplusthe Applicable Margin as of such date;

(ii) LIBOR Rate Optiol: An option to pay interest at a fluctuating rpeg annum equal to the Adjusted LIBOR Rate witlpees to the applicak
Interest Period and as in effect as of any datketdrminatiorplusthe Applicable Margin as of such da

(b) Day Count Basis Interest on Base Rate Loans shall be calculanetthe basis of a 365/366-day year for the actualber of days elapsed (except at
times that the Alternate Base Rate is calculategdapon the LIBOR Rate, in which case the intesdlsbe calculated on the basis of a 360-day yeathe
actual number of days elapsed.) Interest on LIBGReR.oans and all other Obligations, including antewdue under Section 3,5hall be calculated on the
basis of a 360-day year for the actual number p$ @dapsed. The date of funding or conversioa blBOR Rate Loan to a Base Rate Loan and thedagtof
an Interest Period shall be included in the catmreof interest. The date of payment of any Té&wan and the last day of an Interest Period staticluded
from the calculation of interest; provided a Term Loan is repaid on the same day thiatritade, one (1) day’s interest shall be charged.

2.2 Interest Periods . In order to convert a Base Rate Loan or LIBOReRaoan or continue a LIBOR Rate Loan, the Borrowkall deliver to th
Administrative Agent a duly completed, written regtitherefor substantially in the form of Exhibi{&ch, a “Conversion or Continuation Notice”) not later tha
11:00 a.m. (i) with respect to a conversion to or
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continuation of a LIBOR Rate Loan, at least thr@eRusiness Days prior to the proposed effective @& such conversion or continuation and (ii) wiéspect to
conversion to a Base Rate Loan, at least one (&)nBss Day prior to the proposed effective datsugh conversion. The Conversion or Continuatiotidéoshal
specify (i) which Borrowings (including the prineibamount thereof) are subject to such request,iarie case of any LIBOR Rate Loan to be congeotecontinuec
the last day of the current Interest Period therdfd the proposed effective date of such coniersr continuation (which shall be a Business D4yi) whether th
Borrower is requesting a continuation of LIBOR Rhat&ns or a conversion of Borrowings from one iesérrate option to the other interest rate optiong (iv) if €
continuation of or conversion to LIBOR Rate Loassequested, the requested Interest Period wiffeceshereto. In addition, the following provissoshall apply t
any continuation of or conversion of any Borrowin

(a) Amount of Loans. Immediately after giving effect to such conversor continuation, each Borrowing of Term Loanallshe in an amount no le
than the applicable minimum amount for such Terrarias set forth iSection 2.Z.

(b) Commencement of Interest Perioth the case of any borrowing of, conversion teantinuation of any LIBOR Rate Loan, the Inter@stiod shall
commence on the date of advance or continuationrafpnversion to, any LIBOR Rate Loan and, ind¢hse of immediately successive Interest Periods) ea
successive Interest Period shall commence on tieeotiawhich the immediately preceding Interestdteexpires. Upon a conversion from a LIBOR RatarLo
to a Base Rate Loan, interest at the Base RatetDgliall commence on the last day of the existimerést Period.

(c) Selection of Interest Rate Optiondf the Borrower elects to continue a LIBOR Ratan but fails to select a new Interest Periodpplyathereto,
then a one month Interest Period automaticallyl gtpgdly. If the Borrower fails to duly request tbentinuation of any Borrowing consisting of LIBCRate
Loans on or before the date specified and otherimisecordance with the provisions of this Secfd®, then such LIBOR Rate Loan automatically shall be
converted to a Base Rate Loan, commencing on sheldgy of the Interest Period then in effect.

2.4 _Making of Loans.

(a) Notifications and PaymentsThe Administrative Agent shall, promptly afteceipt by it of a Loan Request (or revocation tbBr@ursuant t
Section 2.1(b)notify the applicable Lenders of its receipt of sliwan Request (or revocation thereof) specifylmginformation provided by the Borrower &
in the case of a new Loan Request, the apportionamanng the Lenders of the requested Term Loaretsrdined by the Administrative Agent in accord:
with Section 2.1 Each applicable Lender shall remit the princialount of their Pro Rata Share of the Term LoathéoAdministrative Agent such that
Administrative Agent is able to, and the Adminigtra Agent shall, to the extent the Lenders havearfands available to it for such purpose and slgethe
terms and conditions of Section 2.fund such Term Loan to the Borrower in U.S. Dalland immediately available funds to the Borrower’
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account specified in the Loan Request prior to 2:00. on the proposed Borrowing De

(b) Pro Rata Treatment of Lenderd&ach selection of, conversion to or renewal rof lnterest Rate Option and each payment or prepayiy the
Borrower with respect to principal and interest diuen the Borrower hereunder to the Lenders sleadt€pt as otherwise may be provided with respeet to
Defaulting Lender and except as provided_in Secfigh, Section 3.Jor Section 3.6 be payable ratably among the Lenders entitledutth payment in
accordance with the amount of principal and intette=n due or payable such Lenders as set foithisPAgreement.

(c) Presumptions by the Administrative Agentinless the Administrative Agent shall have reedinotice from a Lender prior to the proposed
Borrowing Date that such Lender will not make aafalié to the Administrative Agent such Lender’s Téman, the Administrative Agent may assume thahsuc
Lender has made such Term Loan available on suhidaccordance with Section 2..and may, in reliance upon such assumption, makédable to the
Borrower a corresponding amount. In such evers, liender has not in fact made its Term Loans abkilto the Administrative Agent, then the applieab
Lender and the Borrower severally agree to papéoAdministrative Agent forthwith on demand suchresponding amount with interest thereon, for edah
from and including the date such amount is madédadla to the Borrower to but excluding the datgpayment to the Administrative Agent, at (i) in tteese of
a payment to be made by such Lender, the greattreoFederal Funds Effective Rate and a rate aomebly determined by the Administrative Agent in
accordance with banking industry rules on interbemkipensation and (ii) in the case of a paymebgttmade by the Borrower, the interest rate theficaiye
to Base Rate Loans. If such Lender pays its Teoank to the Administrative Agent, then the amownpaid shall constitute such Lender’'s Term Loamy A
payment by the Borrower shall be without prejudizeany claim the Borrower may have against a Lettidatr shall have failed to make such payment to the
Administrative Agent. If the Borrower and such den pay such interest for the same period, the Adhtnative Agent promptly shall remit to the Borremthe
amount of interest paid by Borrower for such ovgpiag period. Nothing in this Section 2.4(@)elsewhere in this Agreement or the other Loacubeents,
including the provisions of Section 2.12hall be deemed to require the Administrative #der any other Lender) to advance funds on besfadihy Lender or
to relieve any Lender from its obligation to fulils commitments hereunder or to prejudice anfiteghat the Administrative Agent or the Borrowemynhave
against any Lender as a result of any default loj &ender hereunder.

25 _Fees
(a) Unused Delayed Draw Commitment Fedccruing from the Closing Date until the earlferoccur of (i) the Delayed Draw Date or (ii) Tetroar

Commitment Termination Date, the Borrower agreepay to the Administrative Agent for the accounteatch Lender according to its Pro Rata Share «
Term Loan Commitments, a nonrefundable unused ctrmeni fee (each anUnused Delayed Draw
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Commitment Fee”) equal to 0.40% (computed on the basis of a ye@&66fdays, as the case may be, and actual daysed)apsiltiplied by the maximu
available amount of the Term Loan Commitments; jgled, however, that any Unused Delayed Draw Commitrkeet accrued with respect to the Term L
Commitment of a Defaulting Lender during the penpibr to the time such Lender became a Defaultielgder and unpaid at such time shall not be paya
the Borrower so long as such Lender shall be auléfg Lender except to the extent that such UnuBelhyed Draw Commitment Fee shall otherwise
been due and payable by the Borrower prior to simek; and provided further that no Unused DelayeavwDCommitment Fee shall accrue with respect t
Term Loan Commitment of a Defaulting Lender so lasgsuch Lender shall be a Defaulting Lender. &l the provisos in the directly preceding secd
all Unused Delayed Draw Commitment Fees shall lyalgle in arrears on each Interest Payment [

(b) Other FeesThe Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrafigent such other fees as agreed in the Fee Letter.

2.6 _Notes The obligation of the Borrower to repay the aggite unpaid principal amount of the Term Loansentadt by each Lender, together with interest
thereon, shall, at the request of the applicabledee, be evidenced by a Term Loan Note, dated #laeyed Draw Date payable to the order of such Lendéts
registered assigns in a face amount equal to the Tean Commitment, as applicable, of such Len@ibe Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to,gaythe
order of each of the Lenders and the Administrafigent or their registered assigns, as applicable,outstanding principal amount of the Term Loand other
Obligations as provided in this Agreement and tieioLoan Documents.

2.7 _Drawing Payments

(a) Payments GenerallyAll payments and prepayments to be made in oegdeorincipal, interest, Unused Delayed Draw Cdtmment Fees, other fe
referred to in_Section 2.6r other fees or amounts due from the Borrower ureter shall be payable prior to 11:00 a.m. on thg dvhen due witho
presentment, demand, protest or notice of any katidof which are hereby expressly waived by therBwer, and without set#ff, counterclaim or oth:
deduction of any nature, and an action therefot shenediately accrue. Such payments shall be ntadiee Administrative Agent at the Principal O#fitor the
account of Lenders to which they are owed, in ezde in U.S. Dollars and in immediately availabieds. The Administrative Agent shall promptly distite
such amounts to the applicable Lenders in immegliaeailable funds. The Administrative Agent’s aedch Lendes statement of account, ledger or o
relevant record shall, in the absence of manifastrebe conclusive as the statement of the amotiptincipal of and interest on the Term Loans aittk|
amounts owing under this Agreement and shall benddear” account state.”

(b) Payments by the Borrower; Presumptions by tliniAistrative Agent. Unless the Administrative Agent shall have reedinotice from the
Borrower prior to the date on which any paymentus to the Administrative Agent for the accounthef
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Lenders hereunder that the Borrower will not makehspayment, the Administrative Agent may assuraé ttie Borrower has made such payment on suct

in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upeh sissumption, distribute to the Lenders the amduet In such event, if the Borrower has not ot faade
such payment, then each of the Lenders severalgeado repay to the Administrative Agent forthwetihdemand the amount so distributed to such Lemdtr
interest thereon, for each day from and includheydate such amount is distributed to it to butweing the date of payment to the AdministrativeeAg at the
greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate andta determined by the Administrative Agent in ademice with banking industry rules on interbank
compensation.

2.8 _Interest Payment Dates Interest on Base Rate Loans shall be due anabfmjn arrears on each Interest Payment Daterelstton LIBOR Rate Loans

shall be due and payable on the last day of eaehelst Period for those Term Loans and, if sucerést Period is longer than three (3) months, afsthe date that is
the three-month anniversary of the first day oftsliterest Period. Interest on the principal antafreach Term Loan or other monetary Obligatioallshe due and

payable on demand after such principal amount lerotmonetary Obligation becomes due and payabletheh on the stated Maturity Date, upon an acdeldra
Maturity Date or otherwise).

2.9 _Voluntary Prepayments and Reduction of Comitments .

(a) Right to Prepay. The Borrower shall have the right at its optfosm time to time to prepay the Term Loans in whotepart without premium
penalty (except as provided in Sectig®5). Whenever the Borrower desires to prepay anygfahe Term Loans, it shall provide a prepaynmastice to th
Administrative Agent by 11:00 a.m. at least (Ajeh (3) Business Days prior to the date of prepaymiLIBOR Rate Loans, or (B) one (1) Business peagpr
to the date of prepayment of Base Rate Loansngstiirth the following information

(i) the date, which shall be a Business Day, on witielptoposed prepayment is to be mi
(i) a statement indicating the application of the pyepent among Borrowings; ar

(iii) the total principal amount of such prepayment, Wkhall not be less than $250,000 (provided, thataimount of any prepayment to wt
this Section 2.9(a)(iiiapplies shall be in integral multiples of $250,0(

All prepayment notices shall be irrevocable (pded that any such notice of a prepayment in fuly i@ conditioned upon the effectiveness of other
credit facilities, the incurrence of other Indebitesis or a change of control and revoked by natitkee Administrative Agent on or before 10:00 somthe date
specified in such notice for prepayment if suchditton is not satisfied). The principal amounttbé Term Loans for which a prepayment notice iegjv
together with interest on such principal amount
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except with respect to Term Loans to which the BRate Option applies, shall be due and payabléeulate specified in such prepayment notice addteor
which the proposed prepayment is to be made. wlpgyments of the Term Loans will be applied pra ta remaining installments of principal (includin
without limitation, the final installment due at tudty.) Except as provided in _Section 2.2 the Borrower prepays a Term Loan but failssfzecify the
applicable Borrowing that the Borrower intends tegay, and during the continuance of any Eventefabit, then such prepayment shall be apfirstl, to all
outstanding portions of the Term Loans that areeBate Loans, armskcond, to all outstanding portions of the Term Loang #r@ LIBOR Rate Loans. Any
prepayment hereunder shall include all interest feed due and payable with respect to the Term lbeamng prepaid and shall be subject to the Borrswer
Obligation to indemnify the Lenders under Sectidh.3

(b) Reduction of the Term Loan CommitmenThe Term Loan Commitment shall be permanenttjuced and terminated in full on the Term Loan
Commitment Termination Date.

2.10 _[Intentionally omitted] .

2.11 _sharing of Payments by Lenders If any Lender shall, by exercising any rightsetoff, counterclaim or banker’s lien, by receipvoluntary payment,
by realization upon security, or by any other noo-mata source or otherwise, obtain payment ineetspf any principal of or interest on its Term heaor other
obligations hereunder resulting in such Lenderiving payment of a proportion of the aggregate amai its Term Loans and accrued interest thereootleer such
Obligations greater than its pro-rata share ofah®unt such Lender is entitled hereunder, thenLéraler receiving such greater proportion shalln(jfy the
Administrative Agent of such fact, and (b) purchéf®e cash at face value) participations in theriférans and such other Obligations of the otherdees; or make
such other adjustments as shall be equitable,atdth benefit of all such payments shall be shbyethe Lenders ratably in accordance with the egagte amount of
principal of and accrued interest on their respeclierm Loans and other Obligations owing themyigied that:

(a) if any such participations are purchased and alimyr portion of the payment giving rise thereteesovered, such participations shall be resci
and the purchase price restored to the extentaf secovery, without interest other than interesbiiier amounts, if any, required by Law (includicour
order) to be paid by the Lender or the holder makiinch purchase; ai

(b) the provisions of this Section 2.48all not be construed to apply to (x) any paynfieriuding the application of funds arising fronetbxistence of a
Defaulting Lender) made by the Borrower pursuardrtd in accordance with the express terms of tlenl@ocuments or (y) any payment obtained by a Liende
as consideration for the assignment of or sale paricipation in any of its Term Loans to any gage or participant, other than to the Borroweaoy
Subsidiary thereof (as to which the provisionshig Section 2.1%hall apply).
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The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agtedse extent it may effectively do so under amidie Law, that any Lender acquiring a participapomsuant to the
foregoing arrangements may exercise against theo®er rights of setoff and counterclaim with redpecsuch participation as fully as if such Lendare a direct
creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such jegration. This_Section 2.14hall not apply to any action taken by CoBank wibpect to any CoBank Equities held
by the Borrower, including pursuant_to Section €)2(

2.12 _Defaulting Lenders

(a) Defaulting Lender Adjustmen. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary conggirin this Agreement, if any Lender becomes a DifiguLender
then, until such time as such Lender is no londeefaulting Lender, to the extent permitted by aatile Law:

(i) Waivers and Amendmer. Such Defaulting Lend’s right to approve or disapprove any amendmentyavar consent with respect to 1
Agreement shall be restricted as set forth in gfenidion of Requisite Lender:

(ii) Defaulting Lender Waterfall Any payment of principal, interest, fees or otamounts received by the Administrative Agenttfe accour
of such Defaulting Lender (whether voluntary or aatory, at maturity, pursuant to Article 1&¢ otherwise) or received by the Administrative Ag&om ¢
Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 9.2ball be applied at such time or times as may berméned in good faith by the Administrative Agexrst follows
first , to the payment of any amounts owing by such DefauLender to the Administrative Agent hereundsgcond, as the Borrower may request (so lon
no Default or Event of Default exists), to the fimglof any Term Loan in respect of which such Dé#fiag Lender has failed to fund its portion therea
required by this Agreement, as determined in geaidtth by the Administrative Agenthird , if so determined by the Administrative Agent ahd Borrower, t
be held in a deposit account and released pramatader to satisfy such Defaulting Lendepotential future funding obligations with resperits Term Loar
under this Agreementourth, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Lemdsra result of any judgment of a court of compgteisdiction obtained t
any Lender against such Defaulting Lender as dtresauch Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obtigas under this Agreemerfifth , so long as no Default
Event of Default exists, to the payment of any antswwing to the Borrower as a result of any judghtd a court of competent jurisdiction obtainedthg
Borrower against such Defaulting Lender as a resfuluch Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligas under this Agreement; astkth, to such Defaultin
Lender or as otherwise directed by a court of caemggurisdiction;_providedhat if (x) such payment is a payment of the ppatiamount of such Defaulti
Lender’s Term Loan which such Defaulting Lender hasfully funded, and (y) such Term Loan was matla time when the conditions set forttSaction 4.
were satisfied or waived, such payment shall béiegbgolely to pay the Term Loans of all NBefaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior togeipplied t
the payment of any Term Loans of such Defaultingdes until such time as all Term Loans are held by
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the Lenders pro rata in accordance with the TermnL6ommitments under the Term Loan Facility. Amympents, prepayments or other amounts pe
payable to a Defaulting Lender that are appliedh@d) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lendespant to this Section 2.12(shall be deemed paid
and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and éactder irrevocably consents here

(iii) Certain Fees.

(A) No Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receing &nused Delayed Draw Commitment Fee for any pediaring which that Lend
is a Defaulting Lender (and the Borrower shall betrequired to pay any such fee that otherwise dvbal’e been required to have been paid to that.iDiefg
Lender).

(B) With respect to any Unused Delayed Draw Commitnf&# not required to be paid to any Defaulting Lermesuant to clause (
above, the Borrower shall not be required to payrémaining amount of any such f

(b) Defaulting Lender Cure If the Borrower and the Administrative Agent egrin writing that a Lender is no longer a DefagtiLender, the
Administrative Agent will so notify the parties le¢o, whereupon as of the effective date specifieslich notice and subject to any conditions seh firerein,
that Lender will, to the extent applicable, purehag par that portion of outstanding Term Loanghef other Lenders or take such other actions as the
Administrative Agent may determine to be necessagause the Term Loans to be held pro rata by ¢helers in accordance with the Term Loan Commitsent
under the Term Loan Facility, whereupon such Lendircease to be a Defaulting Lender; providedt no adjustments will be made retroactively wébpect
to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalfeoBorrower while that Lender was a Defaultingidler; and provided, further, that except to thesetxt
otherwise expressly agreed by the affected pari@shange hereunder from Defaulting Lender to kendll constitute a waiver or release of any claifrany
party hereunder arising from that Lender’s haviegrba Defaulting Lender.

Ill. INCREASED COSTS; TAXES; ILLEGALITY; INDEMNITY
3.1 _Increased Costs
(a)Increased Costs Genera. If any Change in Law sha

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve,igpdeposit, compulsory loan, insurance chargeimila requirement against assets
deposits with or for the account of, or credit exted or participated in by, any Lender (exceptm@sgrve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBR4Re);

(i) subject any Recipient to any Taxes (other thanl@emnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described in clausgshfough (iv) of the definition ¢
Excluded Taxes and (C) Connection Income Taxessdoans, loan principal, letters of credit,
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commitments, or other obligations, or its deposéserves, other liabilities or capital attributatiereto; o

(iii) impose on any Lender or the London interbank maakgt other condition, cost or expense (other thaxe$) affecting this Agreement
Term Loans made by such Lend

and the result of any of the foregoing shall bintwease the cost to such Lender or such othepRetiof making, converting to, continuing or maining any Term
Loan or of maintaining its obligation to make amgls Term Loan, or to increase the cost to such &erat to reduce the amount of any sum receivaeéagivable by
such Lender then, upon request of such Lenderhar ®ecipient, the Borrower will pay to such Lendeother Recipient, as the case may be, suchiadalitamount
or amounts as will compensate such Lender or &eeipient, as the case may be, for such additioretk incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) Capital Requirements|If any Lender determines in good faith that &hange in Law affecting such Lender or any lendiffige of such Lender «
such Lender’s holding company, if any, regardingited or liquidity requirements, has or would hate effect of reducing the rate of return on suehders
capital or on the capital of such LendeHolding company, if any, as a consequence ofAgreement, the Term Loan Commitments of such Ledehe
portions of the Term Loans made by such Lender level below that which such Lender or such Lersleduld have achieved but for such Change in
(taking into consideration such Lender’s policiesl &he policies of such Lendsrholding company with respect to liquidity and i@padequacy), then fra
time to time the Borrower will pay to such Lendack additional amount or amounts as will compensath Lender or such Lendeholding company for a
such reduction suffere

(c) Certificates for Reimburseme. A certificate of a Lender setting forth the ambor amounts necessary to compensate such Lendtsr foolding
company, as the case may be, as specified in gutd® 3.1and delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusibseat manifest error. The Borrower shall
such Lender the amount due under Section 3.Jand stated on any such certificate within fifte&s)(days after receipt there:

(d) Delay in Request. Failure or delay on the part of any Lender tmded compensation pursuant to tSection 3.Ishall not constitute a waiver
such Lender’s right to demand such compensatiavigedthat the Borrower shall not be required to comptnaa_ender pursuant to this Section fddany
increased costs incurred or reductions sufferecentman six (6) months prior to the date that suehder, as the case may be, notifies the Borrowéhe
Change in Law giving rise to such increased costeductions and of such Lendeihtention to claim compensation therefor (exdbat, if the Change in Le
giving rise to such increased costs or reductiensefroactive, then the six (6) month period refdrto above shall be extended to include the peof
retroactive effect thereof
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3.2 Taxes.
(a) Defined Terms. For purposes of thSection 3.Z, the term“Law” includes FATCA.

(b) Payments Free of TaxesAny and all payments by or on account of anyigaition of the Borrower hereunder or under any ott@an Document
shall be made free and clear of and without dednaii withholding for any Taxes, except as requirgdpplicable Law. If any applicable Law (as deti@ed
in the good faith discretion of an applicable Withding Agent) requires the deduction or withholdioigany Tax from any such payment by a Withholding
Agent, then the applicable Withholding Agent shwlentitled to make such deduction or withholding ahall timely pay the full amount deducted orhivéld
to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordanith applicable Law and, if such Tax is an Indéied Tax, then the sum payable by the Borrowetl siea
increased as necessary so that after such deduwstisthholding has been made (including such dédans and withholdings applicable to additional sum
payable under this Section 3.the applicable Recipient receives an amount efgugile sum it would have received had no such cemuor withholding been
made.

(c) Payment of Other Taxes by the Borrowerhe Borrower shall timely pay to the relevantv&mmental Authority in accordance with applicable
Law, or at the option of the Administrative Ageimely reimburse it for the payment of, any Otherdsa

(d) Indemnification by the Borrower The Borrower shall jointly and severally indefgréach Recipient, within ten (10) days after dechtrerefor, for
the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (includiglemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or atalile to amounts payable under this Section)3.2
payable or paid by such Recipient or required tavitleheld or deducted from a payment to such Reaipand any reasonable expenses arising therefravitio
respect thereto, whether or not such IndemnifiexeSavere correctly or legally imposed or assertethb relevant Governmental Authority. A certifieas to
the amount of such payment or liability deliveredtie Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Adiistrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent s
own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be cosigke absent manifest error.

(e) Indemnification by the LendersEach Lender shall severally indemnify the Admtirdtive Agent, within ten (10) days after demameréfor, for (i)
any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lendwert Enly to the extent that the Borrower has noeaay indemnified the Administrative Agent for such
Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligatiof the Borrower to do so), (ii) any Taxes atitédble to such Lender’s failure to comply with firevisions
of Section 11.7(djelating to the maintenance of a Participant Regiahd (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable torsuender, in each case, that are payable or
paid by the Administrative Agent in connection wéthy Loan Document, and any reasonable expensgsgatierefrom or with respect thereto, whethenatr
such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed oersed by the relevant Governmental Authority. Atiieate as to the amount of such payment or
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liability delivered to any Lender by the Adminidixee Agent shall be conclusive absent manifestrerEach Lender hereby authorizes the Administeafigent
to set off and apply any and all amounts at ang towing to such Lender under any Loan Documentleeraise payable by the Administrative Agent to the
Lender from any other source against any amountaltlee Administrative Agent under this paragragh (

(f) Evidence of PaymentsAs soon as practicable after any payment of Faxethe Borrower to a Governmental Authority parsuto this Section 3.2
the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative ekg the original or a certified copy of a receigued by such Governmental Authority evidencinchsuc
payment, a copy of the return reporting such paymenther evidence of such payment reasonablgfaatory to the Administrative Agent.

(9) Status of Lenders

(i) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption fromreduction of withholding Tax with respect to payrteemade under any Loan Docurr
shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrati&gent at the time or times prescribed by applealaw, at the time or times reasonably requesiethé
Borrower or the Administrative Agent, such propesbmpleted and executed documentation reasonatpliested by the Borrower or the Administrative A
as will permit such payments to be made withoutkatding or at a reduced rate of withholding. bidigion, any Lender, if reasonably requested by
Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall delivasch other documentation prescribed by applicable or reasonably requested by the Borrower o
Administrative Agent as will enable the Borrowertbe Administrative Agent to determine whether ot such Lender is subject to backup withholdin
information reporting requirements. Notwithstargdamything to the contrary in the preceding twotseces, the completion, execution and submissicuct
documentation (other than such documentation gét fo Section 3.2(q)(ii)(A), (a)(i)(B), (a)(ii)(C) and (q)(ii)(D) below) shall not be required if in t
Lenders reasonable judgment such completion, executiosubmission would subject such Lender to any nedterireimbursed cost or expense or w
materially prejudice the legal or commercial pasitof such Lende

(i) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the event that the Borrower is a U.S. Borro\

(A) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliveh®oBorrower and the Administrative Agent on or piio the date on which su

Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (amd fime to time thereafter upon the reasonableesigof the Borrower or the Administrative Age
executed originals of IRS Form-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from U&ldral backup withholding Ta

(B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is lgehtitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower ahe tAdministrative Agent (in su
number of copies
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as shall be requested by the recipient) on or padhe date on which such Foreign Lender becomesnder under this Agreement (and from time to
thereafter upon the reasonable request of the #®error the Administrative Agent), whichever of flelowing is applicable

(1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the bémneffi an income tax treaty to which the United &tas a party (x) wit
respect to payments of interest under any Loan Beat, executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRBm W-8 BENE, as applicable (or successor fa
establishing an exemption from, or reduction ofs Uederal withholding Tax pursuant to the “int¢testicle of such tax treaty and (y) with respecany othe
applicable payments under any Loan Document, IRBIR-8BEN or IRS Form W-8 BENE, as applicable (or successor form) establishingx@mption fron
or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax puastito the“business profi” or “other incom” article of such tax treat

(2) executed originals of IRS Form-8ECI (or successor form

(3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the bémnefi the exemption for portfolio interest undec®m 881(c) of the Code
(x) a Tax Compliance Certificate to the effect thath Foreign Lender is not (A) a “bank” within theeaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, (B)18
percent shareholder” of the Borrower within the nieg of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or (Crantrolled foreign corporation” described in Secti881
(c)(3)(C) of the Code and (y) executed original$R$ Form W-8BEN or IRS Form \-8 BEN-E, as applicable (or successor form)

(4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beifowner, executed originals of IRS Form 8MY (or successor formr
accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BENSIRorm W-8BEN-E, a Tax Compliance Certificate, IR&m W9, and/or other certificatic
documents from each beneficial owner, as appli¢caiievidedthat if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and anenore direct or indirect partners of s
Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interesemption, such Foreign Lender may provide a Tamg@iance Certificate on behalf of each such disew
indirect partner

(C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is lgehtitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower ahe tAdministrative Agent (in su
number of copies as shall be requested by theieatjpn or prior to the date on which such Fordignder becomes a Lender under this Agreementftam
time to time thereafter upon the reasonable recpfetste Borrower or the Administrative Agent), emtsdl originals of any other form prescribed by astile
Law as a basis for claiming exemption from or aurgithn in U.S. federal withholding Tax, duly comigld, together with such supplementary documentaiti
may be prescribed by applicable Law to permit the
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Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determihe tvithholding or deduction required to be made}

(D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Doatimweuld be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tieyposed by FATCA
such Lender were to fail to comply with the appbileareporting requirements of FATCA (including teosontained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of thel&€
as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to ther®woer and the Administrative Agent at the timeiores prescribed by law and at such time or tire@sonabl
requested by the Borrower or the Administrative itgaich documentation prescribed by applicable (ineluding as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(®1
the Code) and such additional documentation reddpmequested by the Borrower or the Administrathgent as may be necessary for the Borrower ar
Administrative Agent to comply with their obligatis under FATCA and to determine that such Lenderdmmplied with such Lender'obligations und:
FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and lattl from such payment. Solely for purposes of thause (D), “FATCA’shall include any amendme
made to FATCA after the date of this Agreem:

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certifiqatib previously delivered expires or becomes olisote inaccurate in any respect, it shall updath form or
certification or promptly notify the Borrower arfoet Administrative Agent in writing of its legal ibéity to do so.

(h) Treatment of Certain Refunddf any party determines, in its sole discretéexercised in good faith, that it has received anéfof any Taxes as to
which it has been indemnified pursuant to this BacB.2 (including by the payment of additional amountsspant to this Section 3 it shall pay to the
indemnifying party an amount equal to such refumat Enly to the extent of indemnity payments maddeun this_Section 3.@ith respect to the Taxes giving
rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket engees (including Taxes) of such indemnified partd aithout interest (other than any interest paidtiy

relevant Governmental Authority with respect to tsuefund). Such indemnifying party, upon the reqquef such indemnified party, shall repay to such
indemnified party the amount paid over pursuanthis paragraph (h) (plus any penalties, interesother charges imposed by the relevant Governmental

Authority) in the event that such indemnified pagyequired to repay such refund to such Govermahdwuthority. Notwithstanding anything to the ¢@ry in
this paragraph (h), in no event will the indemrfigarty be required to pay any amount to an indBsmg party pursuant to this paragraph (h) the paynhof

which would place the indemnified party in a lessdrable net after-Tax position than the indemdiffgarty would have been in if the Tax subject to

indemnification and giving rise to such refund had been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposetitaa indemnification payments or additional amsunt
with respect to such Tax had never been paid. géiagraph shall not be construed to require adgnmified party to make available its Tax returmsany
other information relating to its Taxes that it deeconfidential) to the indemnifying party or arther Person.
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3.3 lllegality . If any Lender determines in good faith that &hange in Law has made it unlawful for any Lendemeke, maintain or fund LIBOR Re
Loans, or to determine or charge interest ratescapon the LIBOR Rate Option, or if any GovernméAwthority has imposed material restrictions be authority
of such Lender to purchase or sell, or to take siépof, Dollars in the London interbank markegrthon written notice thereof by such Lender toBberower through
the Administrative Agent, any obligation of suchnder to make or continue LIBOR Rate Loans or toveonBase Rate Loans to LIBOR Rate Loans shall be
suspended until such Lender notifies the AdminiisteaAgent and the Borrower that the circumstargiesg rise to such determination no longer exidpon receipt
of such notice, the Borrowers shall, upon demaanhfsuch Lender (with a copy to the AdministrativgeAt), prepay or, if applicable, convert all LIBGRte Loans of
such Lender to Base Rate Loans, either on theltasbf the Interest Period therefor, if such Lendey lawfully continue to maintain such LIBOR Raians to such
day, or immediately, if such Lender may not lawfudbntinue to maintain such LIBOR Rate Loans. Upay such prepayment or conversion, the Borrowead also

pay accrued and unpaid interest and all other atequayable by Borrower under this Agreement (inclgcamounts payable under Section B&n the amount so
prepaid or converted.

3.4 _LIBOR Rate Option Unavailable; Interest After Default .

(a) Adjusted LIBOR Rate Unavailab. If prior to the commencement of any Interesidefor any Borrowing proposed to be subject toltHBOR Rate
Option:

(i) the Administrative Agent determines in good faithhich determination shall be conclusive and bindigent manifest error) that eit

Dollar deposits are not being offered to bankshim ltondon interbank LIBOR Rate market or that adégjand reasonable means do not exist for asdeg
the Adjusted LIBOR Rate for such Interest Periat

(i) the Requisite Lenders determine in good faith (Whdetermination shall be conclusive and bindingeabsnanifest error) that the Adjus

LIBOR Rate for such Interest Period will not adegliaand fairly reflect the cost to the lendersnudiking or maintaining the Term Loans for such lest
Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give noticertfaf to the Borrower and the Lenders as promptlgrasticable thereafter and, until the AdministratAgent
notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that theutitstances giving rise to such notice no longerteg$ any request to convert any Base Rate Loamrto

continue any LIBOR Rate Loan at, the LIBOR Ratei@pshall be ineffective, and (y) the Base Ratei@pshall apply to any and all Borrowings upon the
expiration of the Interest Period applicable theret

(b) Default Rate To the extent permitted by Law, immediately uploa occurrence and during the continuation of aanEwf Default under clause (g)

or (h) of Section 9.1 or immediately after written demand by the Reigeiisenders to the Administrative Agent after tloewrrence and during the continuation
of an Event of
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Default under clause (a) Section 9.3, then the principal amount of all Obligations $hegar interest at the Default Rate. The Borromeknowledges that tt
increase in rates referred to in this Section 3./gflects, among other things, the fact that suaimleoans or other amounts have become a substargiehter
risk given their default status and that the Lesdee entitled to additional compensation for stsk; and all such interest shall be payable byBberower
upon demand by the Administrative Agent.

3.5 _Indemnity. Upon demand of any Lender (with a copy to thenkdstrative Agent) from time to time, the Borrowsnall promptly compensate such
Lender for and hold such Lender harmless from asy (excluding any Applicable Margin), cost or exgeeincurred by it as a result of:

(a) any continuation, conversion, payment or prepayroé@iny Term Loan other than a Base Rate Loan dayaother than the last day of the Inte
Period for such Term Loan (whether voluntary, mamiga automatic, by reason of acceleration, or otise);

(b) any failure by the Borrower (for a reason, uthg the revocation of a Loan Request, other tharfailure of such Lender to make a Term Loan) to
prepay, borrow, continue or convert any Term Lotieothan a Base Rate Loan on the date or in trwiatmotified by the Borrower; or

(c) any assignment of a LIBOR Rate Loan on a dagrothan the last day of the Interest Period tloera$ a result of a request by the Borrower puitsuan
to Section 3.6

including interest paid but excluding any Applicallargin on LIBOR Rate Loans and including any losexpense arising from the cost, liquidationegmployment
of funds obtained by it to maintain such Term Loarfrom fees payable to terminate the deposits fndiith such funds were obtained.

For purposes of calculating amounts payable byBtireower to the Lenders under this Section,3&ch Lender shall be deemed to have funded d8®R_Rate Loan
made by it at the LIBOR Rate for such Term Loarabyatching deposit or other borrowing in the Londdarbank eurodollar market for a comparable arhand for
a comparable period, whether or not such LIBOR Ra#n was in fact so funded.

3.6 _Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lendrs.

(a) Designation of a Different Lending Offic. If any Lender requests compensation uiSection 3.3, or requires the Borrower to pay any Indemn
Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or anye@umental Authority for the account of any Lengersuant to_Section 3.20r suspends making
continuing LIBOR Rate Loans pursuant_to Section,3f8en such Lender shall (at the request of thedBar) use reasonable efforts to designate a difl
lending office for funding or booking its Term Laahereunder or to assign its rights and obligati@reunder to another of its offices, branchedfdiates, if,
in the good faith judgment of such Lender, suchgiedion or
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assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amouny@pke pursuant tSection 3.Jor Section 3.Zor eliminate the cause of the suspension pursoiSection 3.5,
as the case may be, in the future, and (ii) wowoldsnbject such Lender to any unreimbursed coskpense and would not otherwise be disadvantageaust
Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay allorasle costs and expenses incurred by any Lenadenimection with any such designation or assignn

(b) Replacement of LendersIf any Lender requests compensation under Sestib, or if the Borrower is required to pay any Indefied Taxes or
additional amounts to any Lender or any Governnigkiighority for the account of any Lender pursuemSection 3.2 or if any Lender suspends making or
continuing LIBOR Rate Loans pursuant to Section &8, in each case, such Lender has declined onablel to designate a different lending office in
accordance with Section 3.6@)ove or if any Lender is a Defaulting Lender dtan-Consenting Lender, then the Borrower may,sasdie expense and effort,
upon notice to such Lender and the Administratige®, require such Lender to assign and delegatieowt recourse (in accordance with and subjedhéo
restrictions contained in, and consents requiredSegtion 11.7, all of its interests, rights (other than itssiig rights to payments pursuant to Sectionds.1
3.2) and obligations under this Agreement and thetedldoan Documents to an Eligible Assignee thatl sissume such obligations (which assignee may be
another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignnpmnotidedthat:

(i) the Borrower or applicable assignee shall have feaitle Administrative Agent the assignment fea(ij) specified irSection 11.5;

(i) such Lender shall have received payment of an atemual to the outstanding principal of its Termahe, accrued interest thereon, acc
fees and all other amounts payable to it hereuaddrunder the other Loan Documents (including anguants under_Section 3)5from the assignee (to t
extent of such outstanding principal and accruést@st and fees) or the Borrower (in the caselaftbér amounts)

(iii) in the case of any such assignment resulfiogn a claim for compensation under Section®.Jayments required to be made pursua
Section 3.7, such assignment will result in a reduction inlrsaempensation or payments thereal

(iv) such assignment does not conflict with applicalde/iand

(v) in the case of any assignment resulting from a eehécoming a Nc-Consenting Lender, the applicable assignee shedl bansented to tl
applicable amendment, waiver or cons

A Lender shall not be required to make any sucigassent or delegation if, prior thereto, as a resfila waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the wiistances
entitling the Borrower to require such assignment delegation cease to apply.
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3.7 Survival . Each part's obligations under this Article 11l shall survitiee resignation of the Administrative Agent or agsignment of rights by, or tl
replacement of, a Lender, the termination of thenTeoan Commitments and the repayment, satisfactiatischarge of all obligations under any Loan @uent.

IV. CONDITIONS OF LENDING

The effectiveness of this Agreement and the obbgadf each Lender to make its Term Loans hereuadeisubject to (in addition to, in the case of Teem
Loans, the performance by the Borrower of its ddilimns to be performed hereunder at or prior tontla&ing of any such Term Loans) the satisfactiotheffollowing
conditions:

4.1 _Effectiveness The effectiveness of this Agreement on the @ip$ate is subject to the satisfaction of the folf@ conditions:

(a) Executed Loan and Other Docume. This Agreement shall have been duly authorizetiexecuted by the Borrower or other Persons, plicaple
in form and substance reasonably satisfactoryadgministrative Agent

(b) Closing Certificates; Opinior.

(i) Officer's Certificate. The Administrative Agent shall have receivedeatificate from a Financial Officer of the Borrowen form anc
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Adminig&r@é\gent, confirming compliance with the conditooprecedent set forth Sections 4.1(g)(i) and (i.

(i) Certificate of Secretary of the Borrow. The Administrative Agent shall have receivededtificate of the secretary or assistant secresé
the Borrower certifying that attached thereto tsu@ and complete copy of the articles of incorporeof the Borrower, and all amendments theregatified a:
of a recent date by the appropriate Governmentéhdity in its jurisdiction of incorporation or oagization, that attached thereto is a true and tetmpopy ¢
the bylaws of the Borrower as in effect on the daftsuch certification; that attached thereto isue and complete copy of the resolutions of tharéha
directors of the Borrower, authorizing the borroggrcontemplated hereunder, the execution, delisadyperformance of this Agreement and the othen
Documents, as applicable; and as to the incumbandygenuineness of the signature of each officdreoBorrower executing Loan Documet

(iii) Certificates of Good Standir. The Administrative Agent shall have receivedtiieates as of a recent date of the good standinthe
Borrower under the laws of its jurisdiction of ongzation.

(iv) Opinion(s) of Counse. The Administrative Agent shall have receivedagofable opinion of counsel to the Borrower addrds® the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders with respedhie Borrower and the Loan Documents, reasonaigfactory in form and substance to the Admintste
Agent.
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(c) Consent:.

(i) Governmental and Third Party ApprovalsThe Borrower shall have delivered to the Admiaiite Agent all necessary approv
authorizations and consents, if any, of all Pers@®vernmental Authorities, including the FCC atidagplicable PUCs, and courts having jurisdictieith
respect to the execution and delivery of this Agreset and the other Loan Documents, and all suchoapls shall be in form and substance reasoi
satisfactory to the Administrative Age!

(i) No Injunction, Etc. No action, proceeding, investigation, regulatiofegislation shall have been instituted or theeat in writing before, n
any adverse ruling received from, any Governmehtgihority to enjoin, restrain or prohibit, or totain substantial damages in respect of, or whicklaed t
or arises out of this Agreement or the other Loagubnents or the consummation of the transactiontentplated hereby or thereby, or which, as deterchin
the Administrative Agent in its reasonable disametiwould make it inadvisable to consummate thestations contemplated by this Agreement and stieh
Loan Documents

(d) Fees, Expenses, EtcThere shall have been paid, or shall subst&ntahcurrently with the closing be paid, by ther@over to the Administrativ
Agent the fees and other amounts set forth oreafsd irSection 2.tdue and payable on or prior to the Closing Datéhéoextent invoicec

(e) Litigation, Investigations, Audits, Et. There shall be no action, suit, proceeding eestigation pending against, or, to the knowled§ehe
Borrower, threatened in writing against or in antlyes manner relating adversely to, the Borrowearoy of its respective properties, in any court @iobe an'
arbitrator of any kind or before or by a®pvernmental Authority (including the FCC), excéipsuch as affect the telecommunications indugamgerally or (ii
as disclosed in the Borrower's Annual Report omfra0K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, wwatld reasonably be expected to have a Ma
Adverse Effect

(f) Know-Your-Customer. At least three (3) Business Days prior to thesig Date, the Administrative Agent shall haveeieed all documentatic
and other information in order to comply with reguments of Antiferrorism Laws which has been requested by the Aidtnative Agent of the Borrower
least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closirag&

(g) Other Condition:.

(i) The representations and warranties containéArticle V of this Agreement shall be (and such request btreower for the Term Loan sh
constitute a representation and warranty by thed®ar that such representations and warrantiesrare) correct and complete in all material respectand ¢
of the Closing Date, except that such represemsigmd warranties that are qualified in this Agreetby
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reference to materiality or a Material Adverse Effehall be true and correct in all respects, asuch date (except to the extent such represemsatior
warranties expressly relate to an earlier datejhiich case they shall be true, correct and comjiesdl material respects as of such earlier di

(ii) No event shall have occurred and be continuingaulgvresult from the execution and delivery of tAgreement or the consummation of
borrowing contemplated that would constitute anrwé Default or a Defaul

(iii) Since December 31, 2013, there shall not have etwany event or condition that has had or woultboaably be expected to hav
Material Adverse Effect

4.2 _Term Loans. The obligation of each Lender to make the Temwarls on the Delayed Draw Date, as applicable, bgestito the satisfaction of the
following conditions:

(a) Term Loan Commitment Termination Di¢. The Term Loan Commitment Termination Date shatlhave occurrec

(b) Deliveries. The Administrative Agent shall have receivedheatthe following in form and substance reasonalalisfactory to the Administrative
Agent:

(i) a certificate of the Borrower signed by a Finan€#icer of the Borrower, dated the Delayed Drawéstating that (a) all representations
warranties of the Borrower set forth_in Articledf this Agreement are true and correct in all mateespects, except that such representationsvancntie
that are qualified in this Agreement by referermentteriality or a Material Adverse Effect shallthee and correct in all respects, as of the Deldyeaw Dat
(or, if such representation or warranty makes egfee to an earlier date, as of such earlier dé#¢)no Event of Default or Default exists, (c) alateria
consents of any Governmental Authority or thirdtparecessary for the Acquisition shall have beetaiobd and be in full force and effect without citioe or
provision that would reasonably be expected to leav8uyer Adverse Condition’a§ defined in the Acquisition Agreement as on éftecthe Closing Date
(d) no event or condition has occurred since Deegrttb, 2013 that individually or in the aggregaas had, or is reasonably likely to have Sslter Materie
Adverse Effect” &s defined in the Acquisition Agreement in effentthe Closing Date), and (e) attached theretotisi® correct and complete copy of
Acquisition Agreement, together with all schedukegyibits, appendices, attachments and amendntenreta, as in effect on the Delayed Draw D

(i) a duly executed Compliance Certificate dated thiay®el Draw Date and evidencing a Total LeveragéoRdtno greater than 3.95:1.00 ¢
proforma basis after giving effect to the Term Leand the Acquisitior

(iii) a certificate dated the Delayed Draw Date and signe the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary ofBbeower certifying that (a) ¢
information
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certified to in the certificate delivered to therAuhistrative Agent and the Lenders on the ClosirgeDpursuant tSection 4.1(b)(iiremains true and correct
all respects as of the Delayed Draw Date, or pingidipdates to any changes therein, (b) each oBtiganizational Documents attached thereto habeer
modified since the Closing Date and remains in fotte and effect or providing updates to any cleantperein and (c) all corporate actions takenhia
Borrower in connection with this Agreement and dtleer Loan Documents remain in full force and effised authorize the transactions contemplated #s
Delayed Draw Date

(iv) a duly completed, executed Loan Request for thenTarans requested to be made on the Delayed Drde; Daluding notice of election
to Interest Periods (if applicable

(v) a duly completed, executed Solvency Certificateaigby a Financial Officer of the Borrow:

(vi) evidence, in form and substance reasonably satisfad¢o the Administrative Agent, that (A) the Adsition has been or is bei
consummated on terms and conditions consistent tvéhAcquisition Agreement in the form attachedhe certificate delivered to the Administrative At
pursuant to_Section 4.2(b)(j) in all material respectsubstantially concurrently with the making of therii Loans, other than any amendments, conse
waivers thereto that are not materially adverséheoLenders (absent the prior consent of the Lendehich consent shall not be unreasonably withioe
delayed; provided that an increase or reductiadheénpurchase price by 10% or less shall not be ddematerially adverse to the Lendersand (B) all materi
governmental and thirgarty consents, subordinations or waivers, as egilie, required to consummate the Acquisition Hzen obtained and are in full fo
and effect, including any required material perpatsthorizations or consents, of all applicable &omental Authorities, including the FCC and alplégable
PUCs, in each case without condition or provisibat twould reasonably be expected to have a “Buytrefse Condition” gs defined) in the Acquisitit
Agreement in effect on the Closing D&

(vii) an executed letter from the Borrower with respecaty proceeds of the Term Loans being disburseithitd parties authorizing tl
Administrative Agent to distribute such proceedsehalf of the Borrower in accordance with thernstions set forth in such lett; and

(viii) any Term Loan Note requested by any Len
(c) Payment of Fees The Borrower shall have paid, or shall concutyepay, all fees and expenses related to the Tlayams and the Loan Documents

payable on or before the Delayed Draw Date as rediy this Agreement, any Fee Letter or any otloan Document.
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(d) Representations and Warranties; No Defa. At the time of and immediately after giving efféo the making of any Term Loan on the Dela
Draw Date: (i) the representations and warrantfeb@ Borrower set forth in Article V of this Agreent shall then be true and correct in all mategapects,
except that such representations and warrantiésathagqualified in this Agreement by reference tatenality or a Material Adverse Effect shall bagrand
correct in all respects, as of such date (excaparig such representation and warranty that bteftss is made only as of an earlier date, whichessgmtation
and warranty shall remain true and correct in ateral respects as of such earlier date) anch@iEvent of Default or Default shall have occureedi be
continuing or would result from the making of sticdrm Loan or Term Loans.

V. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

In order to induce the Administrative Agent and tlemders to enter into this Agreement and to mhkeTerm Loans, the Borrower hereby represents and
warrants to the Administrative Agent and each Lerniat:

5.1 _Organization, Powers, Governmental Approval.

(a) The Borrower and each Principal Subsidiary (1) é®gporation duly organized, validly existing andgiood standing under the laws of the jurisdic
of its organization, (2) has all requisite powed authority to own its property and assets andatoyoon its business as now conducted and (3)atifipd to dc
business in every jurisdiction where such qualfara is required, except where the failure so talify would not have a Material Adverse Effect. €
Borrower's execution, delivery and performance of the Loacubnents are within its corporate powers, have loedgy authorized by all necessary action
do not violate or create a default under (i) laWy,its constituent documents, or (iii) any contreal provision binding upon it, except to the extén the case «
violations or defaults described under clausesr(ijiii)) such violation or default would not reambly be expected to result in a Material AdverffedE anc
would not have an adverse effect on the validitpding effect or enforceability of this Agreement any other Loan Documents and would not mate!
adversely affect any of the rights of the Admirasitre Agent or any Lender under or in connectiothwhis Agreement or any other Loan Documents. Ed
the Loan Documents constitutes the legal, valid kimdling obligation of the Borrower enforceable iaghit in accordance with its terms (except ash
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankayp reorganization, insolvency, moratorium andeotlaws affecting the rights of creditors generalty
general principles of equity, including an implieavenant of good faith and fair dealin

(b) Except for (1) any Governmental Approvals regdiin connection with the funding of the Term Lsafsuch approvals being Borrowing
Approvals ") and (2) any Governmental Approvals the failure item which could not reasonably be expected tolrés a Material Adverse Effect or afft
the validity or enforceability of this Agreementamy other Loan Document, all Governmental Apprevatjuired in connection with the execution andvdey
by the Borrower of this Agreement and the
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other Loan Documents and the performance by theoBer of its obligations hereunder and thereunderetbeen, and, prior to the time of any Borrowt
Borrowing Approvals will be, duly obtained, are ,(@m the case of Borrowing Approvals, will be) inllfforce and effect without having been amende
modified in any manner that may impair the abibifythe Borrower to perform its obligations undeistAgreement, and are not (or, in the case of Burrg
Approvals, will not be) the subject of any pendappeal, stay or other challen

5.2 _Financial Statements The Borrower has furnished or otherwise maddahla to the Administrative Agent, for itself aitd Subsidiaries, its most recent
filings with the Securities and Exchange CommissianForms 10-K and 10-Q. Such Forms 10-K and 106@at contain any untrue statement of a materiztl da
omit to state a material fact necessary to makesaatgment therein, in light of the circumstancaden which it was made, not misleading. Each ef fthancial
statements in such Forms 10-K and 10-Q has beeheach of the financial statements to be furnigheduant to Section 8:&ill be, prepared in accordance with
GAAP applied consistently with prior periods, extap therein noted, and fairly presents or wiltljapresent in all material respects the consoéiddinancial position
of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the daecof and the results of the operations of the®ver and its Subsidiaries for the period thedeeh

5.3 _No Material Adverse Change Since the date of the Borrower’s most recerdrfaial statements contained in its Annual ReporForm 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, there has meematerial adverse change in, and there has rectno event or condition which is likely to resita material
adverse change in, the financial condition, resaflisperations, business, assets or operatiofseedBorrower and the Subsidiaries taken as a witdbeifig understood
that the consummation of an Asset Exchange shaiamstitute such a material adverse change).

5.4 _Title to Properties; Possession Under Lease

(a) To the best of the Borrowes’knowledge, each of the Borrower and the Princidisidiaries has good and marketable title tojatid leasehol
interests in, or other rights to use or occupy, all its materialgenies and assets, except for minor defectslenttiat do not interfere with its ability to cond
its business as currently conducted or to utilizehsproperties and assets for their intended pepoAll such material properties and assets arednd clear
Liens, other than Liens expressly permittecSection 7.1.

(b) Each of the Borrower and the Principal Subsidgahas complied with all obligations under allten&al leases to which it is a party and all swedisks
are in full force and effect, except where such failure to dgrop maintain such leases in full force and effeould not have a Material Adverse Effect. Each
of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries enjoys peaaeid undisturbed possession under all such mbhiesaes except where such failure would not have a
Material Adverse Effect.
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5.5 Ownership of Subsidiaries. The Borrower owns, free and clear of any Liethgo than Liens expressly permitted Section 7.1), all of the issued ar
outstanding shares of common stock of each of timeiPal Subsidiaries.

5.6 _Litigation; Compliance with Laws.

(a) There is no action, suit, or proceeding, or anyegomental investigation or any arbitration, in eaese pending or, to the knowledge of
Borrower, threatened against the Borrower or arthefSubsidiaries or any material property of drgreéof before any court or arbitrator or any gowegntal o
administrative body, agency, or official which (Hallenges the validity of this Agreement or arfyeotLoan Document, (2) may reasonably be expeotbae
a material adverse effect on the ability of therBaver to perform any of its obligations under tAigreement or any other Loan Document or on thetsigh ol
benefits availableto the Lenders under this Agreement or any other Loan Dru or (3) except as disclosed in the Borrowerisudal Report on Form 1K-
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, mayarably be expected to have a Material AdversecE

(b) Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidigri® in violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or in default with respéz any judgment, writ,
injunction or decree of any Governmental Authonityiere such violation or default could reasonale\ahticipated to result in a Material Adverse Bifec

(c) Except as set forth in or contemplated by tharfcial statements or other reports referred ®eation 5.2and which have been delivered or otherwise
made available to the Administrative Agent on apipto the date hereof, (1) the Borrower and edcitsoSubsidiaries have complied with all Envirormte
Laws, except to the extent that failure to so cgnigphot reasonably likely to have a Material AdseeEffect, (2) neither the Borrower nor any ofStsbsidiaries
has failed to obtain ,maintain or comply with any permit, license or atapproval under any Environmental Law, except wterch failure is not reasonably
likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, (3) neiththe Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries haseire notice of any failure to complywith any
Environmental Law or become subject to any liapilinder any Environmental Law, except where sudbréaor liability is not reasonably likely to hawe
Material Adverse Effect, (4) no facilities of th@Bower or any of its Subsidiaries are used to mgaremy Specified Substance in violation of any lexcept to
the extent that such violations, individually ortire aggregate, are not reasonably likely to haMaterial Adverse Effect, and (5) the Borrower vgase of no
events, conditions or circumstances involving aejeBRse of a Specified Substance that is reasofikbly to have a Material Adverse Effect.
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5.7 _Adreements

(a) Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiariea arty to any agreement or instrument or sultgeany corporate restriction that has resulte
could reasonably be anticipated to result, in agvak Adverse Effect

(b) Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiaii®in default in any manner under any provisibarmy indenture or other agreement or instrument
evidencing Indebtedness, or any other materialesgeat or instrument to which it is a party or byiethit or any of its properties or assets are oy tv@bound,
where such default could reasonably be anticipttedsult in a Material Adverse Effect.

5.8 _Federal Reserve Regulations No part of the proceeds of the Term Loans wl used, whether directly or indirectly, and whetitremediately,
incidentally, or ultimately, for any purpose whiehtails a violation of, or which is inconsistenthyithe provisions of the Margin Regulations.

5.9 _Investment Company Act Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiaigean “investment company” as defined in, or sabje regulation under, the
Investment Company Act of 1940.

5.10 _Use of Proceeds The Borrower will use the proceeds of the Tewars solely for the purposes described in thealggitragraphs to this Agreement.

5.11 _Tax Returns. Each of the Borrower and each of the Subsidian@s filed or caused to be filed all Federalestatd local and non-U.S. tax returns
required to have been filed by it and has paidanised to be paid all taxes (whether or not shoveuah tax returns) and satisfied all of its witlthiog tax obligations,
except (A) taxes that are being contested in gadtti by appropriate proceedings and for which tleer@ver shall have set aside on its books adeqeatves in
accordance with GAAP and (B) where such failuréléoor pay would not reasonably be expected toltés a Material Adverse Effect.

5.12 _No Material Misstatements No statement, information, report, financialketaent, exhibit or schedule furnished by or on Hesfahe Borrower to the
Administrative Agent or any Lender in connectiorthwihe syndication or negotiation of this Agreemenany other Loan Document or included hereinherein or

delivered pursuant hereto or thereto containedta@ms or will contain any material misstatementfadt or intentionally omitted, omits, or will omib state any
material fact necessary to make the statementsithén the light of the circumstances under whtwy were, are, or will be made, not materiallylegsling.

5.13 _Employee Benefit Plans

(a) Each Plan is in compliance with ERISA, excefpr such noncompliance that has not resulted, awttmot reasonably be anticipated to result,
Material Adverse Effect
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(b) No Plan has an accumulated or waived fundirfigidacy within the meaning of Section 412 or Sewxt#18B of the IRC and no failure to satisfy the
minimum funding standard under Section 412 of € has occurred, whether or not waived, with ressfgeany Plan , except for any such deficiencyaiufe

that has not resulted, and could not reasonabgnbeipated to result, in a Material Adverse Effect
(c) No proceedings have been instituted to termimaty Plan, exceptfor such proceedings where the termination of a Bks not resulted, and could
not reasonably be anticipated to result, in a Matédverse Effect.

(d) Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary or ERI&filiate has incurred anyliability to or on account of a Plan under ERISAh@r than obligations
to make contributionsin accordance with such Plan), and no conditiostexihich presents a material risk to the Borrowreany Subsidiary of incurring such
a liability, except for such liabilities that have notesulted, and could not reasonably be anticipatedgult, in a Material Adverse Effect.

5.14 _Insurance. Each of the Borrower and the Principal Subsidé&amaintains insurance with financially sound aeplutable insurers, or self-insurance,
with respect to its properties and business aghisstor damage of the kind customarily insuredrejdy reputable companies in the same or sinilsiness and of
such types and in such amounts (with such dededailounts) as is customary for such companies wmdar circumstances.

5.15 _Patriot Act; FCPA. Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is impbance in all material respects with the USA PatAct. The Borrower has
implemented and maintains in effect policies aratpdures intended to ensure compliance in all aatespects by the Borrower, its Subsidiaries @it respective
directors, officers and employees (in their capesias such) with the FCPA and applicable Sanctamd the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, and tdtteavledge of the
Borrower or such Subsidiary, its respective offic@mployees and directors (in their capacitiesuah), are in compliance with the FCPA and apple&anctions in
all material respects. None of the Borrower, ampsidiary or, to the knowledge of the Borrower acls Subsidiary, any of their respective directafficers or
employees, is a Sanctioned Person. No Term Losm,06 proceeds or other transaction contemplatethéytoan Documents will violate the FCPA or apalile

Sanctions.
VI. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees thangpds this Agreement is in effect and until paymeitill of all Obligations (other than contingent
obligations in respect of which no claim has beewl@), unless the Requisite Lenders shall othemiigetheir written consent, the Borrower shall perf and comply

with all covenants in this Article VI
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6.1 Existence; Businesses and Propertic.

(a) Preserve and maintain, cause each of the painBubsidiaries to preserve amuaintain, and cause each other Subsidiary to preserd maintai
(where the failure by any such other Subsidiargdgreserve and maintain would likely result in atdfial Adverse Effect), its corporate existengghts ani
franchises, except in connection with an Asset Brge, provided however, that the corporate existence of any Principal Sliési may be terminated
such termination is not disadvantageous to the Attnative Agent or any Lende

(b) continue to own all of the outstanding shares ofizmn stock of eac Principal Subsidiary, except in connection with Asset Exchange

(c) comply, and cause each of the Subsidiaries to ogmp all material respects, with all applicable lawdesy regulations and orders, including
Environmental Laws

(d) pay, and cause each the Subsidiaries to pay, before any such amourtsrbe delinquent, (i) all Taxes imposed upon it poruits property, ar
(i) all claims (including claims for labor, matal$, supplies, or services) which might, if unpdidcome a Lien upon its property, unless, in ease,c the
validity or amount thereof is being disputed in ddaith, and the Borrower has maintained adequesterves with respect thereto, in each case wheraithre
to so pay would be reasonably expected to cause a Materiaérse Effect

(e) keep, and cause each of the Subsidiaries to keepeipbooks of record and account, containing cetephnd accurate entries of all financial
business transactions of the Borrower and suchi@absin all material respect

(f) continue to carry on, and cause each Principal i8ialog to continue to carry on, substantially ttene type of business as the Borrower or
Principal Subsidiary conducted as of the date Hemad business reasonably related thereto, excepthfanges in such business that result from arl
Exchange; an

(g) maintain or cause to be maintained insurandé fimancially sound and reputable insurers, of-geurance, with respect to its properties
business and the properties and business of thedaities against loss or damage of the kinds ouatity insured against by reputable companiesénstme ¢
similar businesses, such insurance to be of symstand in such amounts (with such deductible atepas is customary for such companies under gi
circumstances

provided, however, that the foregoing shall not limit the right of tBerrower or any of its Subsidiaries to engageniy mansaction not otherwise prohibited
by Section 7.2 7.3or7.4.

6.2 _Maintaining Records. Maintain all financial records in accordancehn@AAP and, upon reasonable notice, permit the Adbtrative Agent and each
Lender to visit and
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inspect the financial records of the Borrower a@ismnable times and as often as reasonably requestied make extracts from a copies of such financial recorc
and permit any representatives designated by tmeiristrative Agent or any Lender to discuss thaiesf finances and condition of the Borrower wtib ippropriate
officers thereof and, with the Borrower’s consemhich shall not be unreasonably withheld), the pedelent accountants therefor; providechowever, that if the
Borrower shall so require, a single representaivall be appointed by the Requisite Lenders toaiseithe rights granted to the Lenders under _thidién 6.2;
provided, further, that when an Event of Default exists the AdministeaAgent or any Lender may do any of the foregpiapon reasonable notice, at any time
during normal business hours (without appointmérat single representative by the Lenders).

6.3 _Use of Proceeds The Borrower will use the proceeds of the Tewars solely for the purposes described in thealggitragraphs to this Agreement.

6.4 _CoBank Equity. So long as CoBank is a Lender hereunder, theoBer will acquire equity in CoBank in such amouatsl at such times as CoBank
may require in accordance with CoBank’s Bylaws @agital Plan (as each may be amended from timin®),t except that the maximum amount of equity that
Borrower may be required to purchase in CoBankoimection with the Term Loans made by CoBank hateumay not exceed the maximum amount permitted by
CoBank’s Bylaws and Capital Plan at the time thigse®ment is entered into. The Borrower acknowlsdgeeipt of a copy of (i) CoBank’s most recentuaimeport,
and if more recent, CoBank’s latest quarterly rep@) CoBank’s Notice to Prospective Stockholdarsl (i) CoBank’s Bylaws and Capital Plan, whidéscribe the
nature of all of the Borrower’s stock and otheriggs in CoBank acquired in connection with itsrpagge loan from CoBank (theCoBank Equities ") as well as
capitalization requirements, and agrees to be bbyrtde terms thereof.

(a) Each party hereto acknowledges that Col's Bylaws and Capital Plan (as each may be amemdedtime to time) shall govern (x) the rights
obligations of the parties with respect to the CuB&quities and any patronage refunds or otheriligions made on account thereof or on accourthe
Borrower’s patronage with CoBank, (y) the Borrovgegligibility for patronage distributions from Cofa(in the form of CoBank Equities and cash) an)
patronage distributions, if any, in the event cfate of a participation interest. CoBank resethesright to assign or sell participations in allamy part of it
Term Loans or Term Loan Commitments on a-patronage basi:

(b) Each party hereto acknowledges that CoBanlatstatutory first lien pursuant to the Farm Crédit of 1971 (as amended from time to time) on all
CoBank Equities that the Borrower may now own orehéier acquire, which statutory lien shall be @wBank’s sole and exclusive benefit. The CoBank
Equities shall not constitute security for the @htions due to any other Lender. To the exterttahg of the Loan Documents create a Lien on thBaD&
Equities or on patronage accrued by CoBank foatteaunt of the Borrower (including, in each caseceeds thereof), such Lien shall be for CoBanéle and
exclusive benefit and shall not be subject to pedasharing hereunder. Neither the CoBank Equitiesangraccrued patronage shall be offset
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against the Obligations except that, in the evéandEvent of Default, CoBank may elect to applg ¢lash portion of any patronage distribution drestent of
equity to amounts due under this Agreement. ThedBeer acknowledges that any corresponding taxliiptassociated with such application is the sole
responsibility of the Borrower. CoBank shall hax@ obligation to retire the CoBank Equities upory &vent of Default, Default or any other default the
Borrower or at any other time, either for applioatio the Obligations or otherwise.

VII. NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees thangpds this Agreement is in effect and until paymerfitill of all Obligations (other than contingent
obligations in respect of which no claim has bee@), unless the Requisite Lenders shall othergiigetheir written consent, the Borrower shall perf and comply
with all covenants in this Article VIland the Borrower will not:

7.1 _Liens; Restrictions on Sales of Receivable<Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exisir permit any of the Subsidiaries to create, inassume, or suffer
to exist, any Lien on any of its property now owrmdhereafter acquired to secure any IndebtedniesedBorrower or any such Subsidiary, or sell ssign any
accounts receivable (other than in the ordinaryrsmwf business substantially in accordance wiéhBbrrower's past practice), other than: (A) Liensurred or
deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure suaaty appeal bonds, leases, return-of-money bondso#irer similar obligations (exclusive of
obligations of the payment of borrowed money); fBdges or deposits to secure the utility obligatiof the Borrower incurred in the ordinary cour§®usiness; (C)
Liens upon or in property now owned or hereafteguired to secure Indebtedness incurred (1) solefyttfe purpose of financing the acquisition, cargion or
improvement of such property, provided that suatebtedness shall not exceed the fawarket value of the property being acquired, coreséd or improved or (2) to
refinance, refund, renew or extend any Indebteddessribed in subclause (1) that does not incréeeserincipal amount thereof except by the amotitcerued and
unpaid interest and premium thereon and reasomedteand expense in connection with such refinancafunding, renewal or extension so long as tleed securing
such Indebtedness shall be limited to all or pathe same property that secured the Indebtededéisanced, refunded, renewed or extended; (D) Lenthe assets of
any Person merged or consolidated with or inta@ioordance with Section 7)4he Borrower or any Principal Subsidiary that ever effect at the time of such merger
or consolidation; (E) Liens for taxes, assessmantsgovernmental charges or levies, which are eabtlye or which are being contested in good fajtfafmpropriate
proceedings; (F) Liens securing Indebtedness ofBii@ower or any Subsidiary to the Rural Electafion Administration or the Rural Utilities Serviger any
successor to any such agency) in an aggregateigairemount outstanding at any time not to exce28,(0,000; (G) carriers’, warehousemen’s, meclsgnic
materialmen’s, repairmen’s, supplier’s or otheellkiens arising in the ordinary course of busiresating to obligations not overdue for a periochadre than 60 days
or which are bonded or being contested in goodh flajt appropriate proceedings; (H) pledges or dépasiconnection with workers’ compensation lawssonilar
legislation or to secure public or statutory obfigas; (I) Liens or deposits to secure the perforoeaof bids, trade contracts, leases, statutorigatins, surety and
appeal bonds,
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performance bonds and other obligations of a likeire incurred in the ordinary course of businé¥seasements, rights of way, restrictions androtheumbrance

incurred which, in the aggregate, do not materiaitgrfere with the ordinary conduct of busined§) (estrictions by Governmental Authorities on thgerations,

business or assets of the Borrower or its Subsididhat are customary in the Borrower’s and itsRiiaries’ businesses; (L) sales of accounts vabé pursuant to,
and Liens existing or deemed to exist in connechith, any Securitization Transactions, providedt the aggregate amount of all such Securitizatiom3Jaations
shall not at any time exceed $150,000,000; anddf#¢r Liens securing Indebtedness in an aggregateigal amount, when aggregated, without duplaratiwith the

amount of Indebtedness of Subsidiaries outstanglimguant to Section 7.7(3not to exceed $200,000,000 at any one time dstg; provided however, that the

Borrower or any Subsidiary may create, incur, agsomsuffer to exist other Liens (in addition t@hs excepted by the foregoing clauses (A) throddh ¢n its assets
so long as (1) such Liens equally and ratably sethe Obligations pursuant to documentation in famd substance reasonably satisfactory to the Adtrative Agent

and (2) at the time of any incurrence of Indebtedrgecured by Liens in reliance on this provise,abgregate principal amount of all such Indebtssliecurred in
reliance on this proviso (including the Obligatipnahen aggregated, without duplication, with theoant of Indebtedness of Subsidiaries outstandimgyant to
Section 7.qother than clauses (1) through (4) of Section),7shall not exceed the Maximum Priority Amounsath time.

7.2 _Ownership of the Principal Subsidiaries Sell, assign, pledge, or otherwise transferigpake of any shares of common stock, voting stoclstock
convertible into voting or common stock of any Bipal Subsidiary, except (A) to another Subsidiany,(B) in connection with an Asset Exchange; pied,
however, that the Borrower may pledge any shares of comntmek svoting stock, or stock convertible into vatior common stock of any Principal Subsidiary so
long as such pledge equally and ratably secure®ltigations pursuant to documentation in form anldstance reasonably satisfactory to the Admirniegr@gent.

7.3 _Asset Sales Except in connection with an Asset Exchangegmjteany Principal Subsidiary to sell, assign, dnestvise dispose of telecommunications
assets (whether in one transaction or a seriesan$actions), if the net, after-tax proceeds ttHfese® used by the Borrower or any Subsidiary tgaye(other than a
mandatory prepayment in accordance with the terfitisecapplicable governing documents, includingspant to any put provision) Indebtedness incurfeat the date
hereof which Indebtedness has a maturity later thenMaturity Date (other than bridge or other ficiags incurred in connection with an asset puret@ssale,
including acquisition indebtedness or indebtedioéss acquired entity or indebtedness incurre@fimance indebtedness outstanding as of the datefie

7.4 _Mergers. Merge or consolidate with, or sell, assign, ¢easr otherwise dispose of (whether in one traimmaabr a series of transactions) all or
substantially all of its assets (whether now owoetiereafter acquired); except in connection wittAaset Exchange, to any Person, or permit anycipahSubsidiary
to do so, except that any Subsidiary may mergedntsubject to Section 7,3ransfer assets to the Borrower or any other iflisivg and the Borrower may merge with
any Person; providedhat, immediately thereafter and after giving effisereto, no event shall occur or be continuingchviconstitutes an Event of Default or a
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Default and, in the case of any such merger tolwttie Borrower is a party, either the Borrowethis surviving corporation or the surviving entitfyr{ot the Borrower
has a consolidated net worth (as determined inrdaose with GAAP) immediately subsequent to suchgereat least equal to the Consolidated Net Woftthe
Borrower immediately prior to such merger and esgple assumes the obligations of the Borrower hefeynprovided, however, that, notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Borrower and any of the PrincipabSidiaries may sell assets in the ordinary coufsésdusiness and may sell or otherwise disposearh out or
obsolete equipment on a basis consistent with gosthess practices.

7.5 _Restrictions on Dividends

(a) Enter into or permit any Principal Subsidiary tdegninto, any contract or agreement (other that witgovernmental regulatory authority hay
jurisdiction over the Borrower or such PrincipalbSigiary) restricting the ability of such Princip@ubsidiary to pay dividends or make distributidoshe
Borrower in any manner that would impair the apitf the Borrower to meet its present and futurggaions hereunde

(b) In the case of the Borrower only, declare or malkectly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment,mzur any obligation (contingent or otherwise
do so, in each case if any Event of Default hasiwed and is continuing at the time of such actorwill result therefrom (but excluding the paymeri
dividends declared and announced by the BoardrefcRirs at a time when no Event of Default exist

7.6 _Transactions with Affiliates. Except in connection with an Asset Exchange,asetansfer any property or assets to, or pureftasacquire any property
or assets from, or otherwise engage in any othes#ctions with, any of its Affiliates (or permityaof its Subsidiaries to do any of the foregoirecept that as long as
no Default or Event of Default shall have occureedl be continuing, the Borrower or any Subsidiagyrengage in any of the foregoing transactionsifAthe
ordinary course of business at prices and on tammsconditions not less favorable to the Borrowesuzh Subsidiary than could be obtained on ansatemigth basis
from unrelated third parties, (B) as otherwise rbayrequired by any Federal or state Governmentahdkity, (C) so long as such transactions are natenally
disadvantageous to the Borrower or (D) so longuak sransactions are solely among the Borroweroaedor more of its Subsidiaries.

7.7 _Subsidiary Indebtedness Permit any Subsidiary to enter into, directlyimdirectly, issue, incur, assume or Guaranteeladgbtedness unless (A) the
Obligations are guaranteed by such Subsidiary parigpassu basis pursuant to documentation in &orchsubstance reasonably satisfactory to the Adtrative Agent
and (B) at the time of any incurrence of such Indébess, the aggregate principal amount of suchbbedness of Subsidiaries (including any Guaraofethe
Obligations but excluding Indebtedness permittectlayises (1) through (4) below), when aggregate thie principal amount of Indebtedness securediégs in
reliance on the final proviso to Section 7.4hall not exceed the Maximum Priority Amount atls time, except (1) Indebtedness in effect atithe such Subsidiary
becomes a Subsidiary of the Borrower, so long ek fwdebtedness was not entered into solely
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in contemplation of such Person becoming a Subyidiithe Borrower (and any refinancing, refundirenewal or extension of such Indebtedness that dot
increase the principal amount thereof except byatheunt of accrued and unpaid interest and prentiiemeon and reasonable fees and expenses in clamect
with such refinancing, refunding, renewal or exteny (2) any Indebtedness in effect as of the i@p®ate that is listed on Schedule {and any refinancing,
refunding, renewal or extension of such Indebtesinesthe extent not increasing the principal amdheteof except by the amount of accrued and unpaid
interest and premium thereon and reasonable fedseapenses in connection with such refinancingumaihg, renewal or extension), (3) additional
Indebtedness, when aggregated, without duplicatigth, the principal amount of Indebtedness secimgdliens in reliance on Section 7.1(Mpot to exceed
$200,000,000 at any one time outstanding and @gHdtedness of a Subsidiary to the Borrower or arddabsidiary.

7.8 _AntiTerrorism Laws . The Borrower covenants and agrees that it shdll amd shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries knpwingly, directly or
indirectly, (a) conduct any business or engageaking or receiving any contribution of funds, goaiservices to or for the benefit of any Persdnjestt to Executive
Order No. 13224, (b) deal in, or otherwise engageny material transaction relating to, any propertinterests in property blocked pursuant to Etiee Order No.
13224 or any other Anti-Terrorism Law, or (c) engag any transaction that violates any of the gidloins set forth in any Anti-Terrorism Law.

VIII. FINANCIAL COVENANTS AND REPORTING

The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees thatrep ds this Agreement is in effect and until paymienfull of all Obligations (other than contingent
obligations in respect of which no claim has bee@), unless the Requisite Lenders shall othergiigetheir written consent, the Borrower shall peri and comply
with all covenants in this Article VIII For the purposes of this Article Vllkll covenants calculated for the Borrower shalthlculated on a consolidated basis for the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

8.1 _Total Leverage Ratia The Borrower shall maintain at all times, meaduat each fiscal quarter end, a Total Leverag® Rets than or equal to 4.5:1.0;
provided, that if after the Closing Date the Borrower pa®s any other holder of Indebtedness with additionanore restrictive financial covenants thanfeeth in
this Section 8.1 then this Agreement shall be deemed to includd, this Agreement shall be amended to contain, sultfitional and more restrictive financial
covenants.

8.2 _Financial Statements and Other Reports The Borrower will and will cause its Subsidiarieo maintain a system of accounting establishedl an
administered in accordance with sound businesstipeacto permit preparation of financial statemeintsconformity with GAAP consistently applied (iteimg
understood that quarterly financial statementsnaterequired to have footnote disclosures and abgest to normal year-end audit adjustments). Bbeower will
deliver each of the financial statements and atiyeorts described below to the Administrative Agent
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(a) Quarterly Financials Within 65 days after the end of each of the finsee fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of ther®wer, consolidated balar
sheets and related statements of income and eash @f the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as ofdbee of such fiscal quarter and the then elapseiibp of
the fiscal year (which requirement shall be deeswttsfied by the delivery of the Borrower’'s QuastéReport on Form 1@ (or any successor form) for s
quarter), each certified by a Financial Officeffaigly presenting in all material respects the fioial condition and results of operations of therBaer and it
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordaitbeGAAP consistently applied, subject to the afeseof footnotes and normal y-end audit adjustment

(b) Year-End Financials As soon as available and in any event within 1aysdafter the end of each fiscal year of the Boemwonsolidated balar
sheets and the related statements of income ahdfloass of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries ashef close of such fiscal year (which requiremeretisbe
deemed satisfied by the delivery of the Borrowétswual Report on Form 1K-(or any successor form) for such year), all adliby KPMG LLP or othe
independent public accountants of recognized natistanding, certified without any material qualifiion or exception as to the scope of such auding
“going concern”or like qualification by such accountants, and agganied by an opinion of such accountants to tfecethat such consolidated finan:
statements fairly present in all material respéwutsfinancial condition and results of operationshe Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consadiddiasis i
accordance with GAAP consistently appli

(c) The Borrower Compliance Certificatd.ogether with each delivery of financial statensesit the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuar@eotion
8.2(a)or 8.2(b), the Borrower will deliver a Compliance Certifieadf the Borrower (1) certifying as to whether afddét has occurred and, if a Default
occurred, specifying the details thereof and artioadaken or proposed to be taken with respecetbeand (2) setting forth reasonably detailed daton:s
(including with respect to any pro forma effectagivto a Material Transaction) demonstrating compkawith_Section 8.&s of the last day of the most rec
fiscal quarter covered by such financial statem

(d) Budget. As soon as available and in any event within 8fsdster the beginning of the Borrov's fiscal years, the Borrower will deliver a Budgé
the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiariestmh fiscal year.

(e) SEC Filings.Promptly upon the mailing or filing thereof, copief all financial statements, reports and proxteshents mailed to the Borroner’
public shareholders, and copies of all registrasimiements (other than those on Form S-8) and Beifs (to the extent that such Form 8sikdisclose actual
potential adverse developments with respect t@treower or any of its Subsidiaries that constitatecould reasonably be anticipated to constitatelateria
Adverse Effect) filed with the Securities and Exegge Commission (th* SEC ") (or any successor thereto) or énational securities exchang
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(f) Litigation and Other Notice: Promptly upon any Financial Officer of the Borraviezcoming aware of the following, Borrower willgwide writter
notice thereof to the Administrative Age

(i) any Event of Default or Default, specifying theuratand extent thereof and the corrective actibar(y) proposed to be taken with res)
thereto;

(ii) the filing or commencement of, or any written netaf intention of any Person to file or commenasy, action, suit or proceeding, whethe
law or in equity or by or before any Governmentaltifority, against the Borrower or any of the Sulasids which is reasonably likely to be adver
determined and which, if adversely determined, @reasonabhbe anticipated to result in a Material Adverse Efffand

(iii) any development with respect to the Borrower or @apsidiary that has resulted in, or could reaslyriad anticipated to result in, a Mate
Adverse Effect

(g) ERISA Events. Promptly after (1) the occurrence thereof, noti€amy ERISA Termination Event ¢“prohibited transactic’, as such term
defined in Section 4975 of the IRC, with respecany Plan that results, or could reasonably beipatied to result, in a Material Adverse Effect,ieihnotice
shall specify the nature thereof and the Borrowprigposed response thereto, and (2) actual knowléugreof, copies of any notice of PBGGhtention ti
terminate or to have a trustee appointed to adteinisy Plan.

(h) Other Informatior. Promptly, from time to time, such other informatioagarding the Borrow’s operations, business affairs and financial cavd
or compliance with the terms of this AgreementhasAdministrative Agent or any Lender (through #&dministrative Agent) may reasonably requ

(i) Delivery of Information. Documents required to be delivered pursuant toi@8e8.2(a), (b)or (c)(to the extenainy such documents are include
materials otherwise filed with the SEC (or any sssor thereto)) may be delivered electronically iasd delivered, shall be deemed to have beeneteld ol
the date (1) onwvhich the Borrower posts such documents, or prevaldéink thereto at www.frontier.com; or (2) on wtisuch documents are posted or
Borrower’s behalf on an Internet or intranet wedsit any, to which each Lender and the AdministeAgent have access (whether a commercial, {andy
website or whether sponsored by the Administrafigent); providedhat: (i) the Borrower shall deliver paper copiésach documents to the Administral
Agent or any Lender that requests the Borrower @bvelr such paper copies until a written request to cease eiélig paper copies is given by
Administrative Agent or such Lender and (ii) therBaver shall notify the Administrative Agent (byldeopier or electronic mail) of the posting of asyct
documents and provide to the Administrative Ageptebectronic mail electronic versionsi.€. , soft copies) of such documents. Notwithstandingtlinc
contained
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herein, in every instance the Borrower sl be required to provide paper copies of the CompédDertificates required tSection 8.2(c to the Administrativi
Agent. Except for Compliance Certificates, the Alstrative Agent shall have no obligation to resfuthe delivery or to maintain copies of the docots
referred to above, and in any event shall haveespansibility to monitor compliance by the Borroweth any such request for delivery, and each Lestial
be solely responsible for requesting delivery toritmaintaining its copies of such docume

IX. EVENTS OF DEFAULT
9.1 _Events of Default An Event of Default means the occurrence orterise of any one or more of the following:

(a) Payment The Borroweishall fail to pay (1) any principal of the Term lusawhen and as the same shall become due and payéitgther at the d
date thereof or at a date fixed for prepaymentetbieor otherwise, or (2) any interest on the Temars or any fee or any other amount (other thaanaoun
referred to in clause (1) of this Section 9.1)(@pyable under this Agreement or under any otleamLDocument, when and as the same shall becomand
payable, and such failure shall continue unremefitied period of five Business Days;

(b) Default in Other Agreement#\ny breach by the Borrower or any of its PrinciBabsidiaries of any agreement or instrument redat Indebtedne
occurs that results in any Indebtedness of anyoomeore of the Borrower and its Principal Subsigisiin an aggregate principal amount exceeding0$B000(
becoming due prior to its scheduled maturity ot grebles or permits the holder or holders of arghdndebtedness or any trustee or agent on ttsearbehal
to cause any such Indebtedness to become due,requoe the prepayment, repurchase, redemptiatef@asance thereof, prior to its scheduled matun
each case after giving effect to any applicablegyzeriod; or, as a result of any such breachsaol Indebtedness shall be required to be preptidr(than b
a regularly scheduled required prepayment, pursisaany put right (or similar right) of the holdgrereof, or by the exercise by the Borrower or Brincipa
Subsidiary of its right to make a voluntary prepayt) in whole or in part prior to its stated matyrior there occurs under any Swap Contract any
Termination Date (as defined in such Swap Contrastyiting from (1) any event of default under s&etap Contract as to which the Borrower or anydhped
Subsidiary is the Defaulting Party (as definedunrsSwap Contract) or (2) any Termination Eventd@lined in such Swap Contract) under such Swaytr@a
as to which the Borrower or any Principal Subsigiaran Affected Party (as defined in such Swaptat) and, in either event, the Swap Terminati@iue
owed by the Borrower or such Subsidiary as a rékateof is greater than $50,000,000; provitted this_Section 9.1(tshall not apply to any Indebtedness
becomes due as a result of a voluntary redemptiaepayment of such Indebtedness effected in aacealwith the terms of the agreement governing
Indebtedness and which is not prohibited by thise&gent; o
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(c) Breach of Warrant. A ny representation or warranty made or deemed mgd® bn behalf of the Borrower or any of its Sulisigs in or it
connection with this Agreement or any other Loarcinent or any amendment or modification hereohereof, or any waiver hereunder or thereundem
any report, certificate, financial statement orentdocument furnished pursuant to or in connectiith this Agreement or any other Loan Document iy
amendment or modification hereof or thereof, or amjver hereunder or thereunder, shall prove teeHaeen incorrect when made or deemed made i
material respec or

(d) Breach of Certain Provisiol. Failure of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiarte perform or comply with any term or conditiamtained irSection
6.1(f), 6.30r8.1, orinArticle VII ; or

(e) Other Defaults Under Loan Documel. T he Borrower shall fail to observe or perform anyemant, condition or agreement contained in
Agreement (other than those specified in Sectioh&®or 9.1(d)) or any other Loan Document and such failure stmitinue unremedied for a period of
days after the earlier to occur of (1) the Borrowbktaining knowledge thereof and (2) the date tiwdice thereof shall have been given to the Borrduwyethe
Administrative Agent or any Lend;; or

(f) Default in Other IndebtednessT he Borrower or any Principal Subsidiary shall failmake any payment of any amount in respect aébiretiness
an aggregate principal amount of $50,000,000 oemehen and as the same shall become due and paftd giving effect to any applicable grace pdsicor

(9) Involuntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of ReceivercE An involuntary proceeding shall be commenced omabluntary petition shall be filed ir
court of competent jurisdiction seeking (1) liquida, reorganization or other relief in respectteé Borrower or any of its Principal Subsidiariests debts, ¢
of a substantial part of its assets, under any faéde state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivershigimilar law now or hereafter in effect or (2) tAppointmer
of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestratmsezwator or similar official for the Borrower onyaof its Principal Subsidiaries or for a substaingiart of it:
assets, and, in any such case, such proceedirgfitomp shall continue undismissed for a period@for more days or an order or decree approvirgdering
any of the foregoing shall be entered

(h) Voluntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver; E The Borrower or any of its Principal Subsidiar&sall (1) voluntarily commence a
proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidatioeorganization or other relief under any Federastate bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership onilsir lan
now or hereafter in effect, (2) consent to theitagon of, or fail to contest in a timely and appriate manner, any proceeding or petition desdrib&ectior
9.1(a), (3) apply for or consent to the appointment @éeeiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, coas®ror similar official for the Borrower or any df
Principal Subsidiaries or for a substantial partitefassets, (4) file an answer admitting the nmgteallegations of a petition filed against it imyasuct
proceeding,
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(5) make a general assignment for the benefiteditors or (6) take any action for the purposeffefating any of the foregoing; «

(i) Judgment and Attachmer. One or more judgments for the payment of momegn aggregate amount in excess of $50,000,000 l#haéndere
against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiariegimy combination thereof and the same shall remadglisaharged for a period of 30 consecutive dayingd
which execution shall not be effectively stayedany action shall be legally taken by a judgmeetitor to attach or levy upon any assets of thed@®eer o
any of its Subsidiaries to enforce any such judgmar

() ERISA; Pension PlansA Plan shall fail to maintain the minimum fundistandard required by Section 412(a) of the IRCafoy plan year or
waiver of such standard is sougfdr granted under Section 412(c), or a Plan is all $tave been terminated or the subject of termongproceedings und
ERISA, or the Borrower or an ERISA Affiliate hasinred a liability to or on account of a Plan un8ection 4062, 4063, 4064, 4201 or 4204 of ERISAl
there shall result from any such event or evehagerial Adverse Effect; c

(k) Change in Contrc. A Change in Control shall occt

9.2 _Consequences of Event of Default

(a) Events of Default Other Than Bankruptcy, Insoley or Reorganization Proceedingd an Event of Default specified under Sectioh @therthar
Section 9.1(gpr (h)) shall occur and be continuing, the Lenders ardAtiministrative Agent shall be under no furtheligdtion to make Term Loans and
Administrative Agent may, and upon the requesthef Requisite Lenders, shall by written notice ® Borrower, declare the unpaid principal amounthe
Term Loans then outstanding and all interest actcthereon, any unpaid fees and all other Indebtdié the Borrower to the Lenders hereunder
thereunder to be forthwith due and payable, anddnee shall thereupon become and be immediatelpnidipayable to the Administrative Agent for thedf
of each Lender without presentment, demand, protesy other notice of any kind, all of which &ereby expressly waived; a

(b) Bankruptcy, Insolvency or Reorganization Praiegs. If an Event of Default specified under Sectioh(§) or (h) shall occur, the Lenders shall be

under no further obligations to make Term Loangheder and the unpaid principal amount of the Teoans then outstanding and all interest accruectime
any unpaid fees and all other Indebtedness of treoer to the Lenders hereunder and thereundensaiically shall be immediately due and payablehouit
presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kitha@f which are hereby expressly waived; and

(c) Setoff . If an Event of Default shall have occurred aedcbntinuing, each Lender and each of their resmeéffiliates is hereby authorized at any
time and from time to time, to the fullest extertmitted by applicable law, to set off and apply an
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and all deposits (general or special, time or demprovisional or final, in whatever currency) ayaime held, and other obligations (in whateverency) ai
any time owing, by such Lender or any such Afféiato or for the credit or the account of the Baxgo against any and all of the obligations of therBwer
now or hereafter existing under this Agreementmy ather Loan Document to such Lender or its respedffiliates, irrespective of whether or not $uc
Lender or Affiliate shall have made any demand uritles Agreement or any other Loan Document ankoalgh such obligations of the Borrower may be
contingent or unmatured or are owed to a brandlteodr Affiliate of such Lender different from theanch, office or Affiliate holding such depositabligated

on such indebtedness; providint in the event that any Defaulting Lender ska#rcise any such right of setoff, (x) all amowsusset off shall be paid over
immediately to the Administrative Agent for furthegpplication in accordance with the provisions e€t®n 2.12and, pending such payment, shall be segregated
by such Defaulting Lender from its other funds ale@med held in trust for the benefit of the Adntiaisve Agent and the Lenders, and (y) the Defaglti
Lender shall provide promptly to the Administratikgent a statement describing in reasonable détailObligations owing to such Defaulting Lendert@s
which it exercised such right of setoff. The rglf each Lender and its respective Affiliates urtties Section are in addition to other rights aathedies
(including other rights of setoff) that such Lendeiits respective Affiliates may have. Each Lemaigrees to notify the Borrower and the AdminiseeatAgent
promptly after any such setoff and applicationMiedthat the failure to give such notice shall not etffihe validity of such setoff and application .

(d) Application of Proceeds After the exercise of remedies provided for liis tSection 9.3or after the Term Loans have automatically become
immediately due and payable), any amounts receimeatcount of the Obligations shall be appliedHeyAdministrative Agent in the following order:

First , to payment of that portion of the Obligations stituting fees, indemnities, expenses and otheruatso(including fees, charges and
disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agpayable to the Administrative Agent in its cajpaes such;

Second, to payment of that portion of the Obligations stitnting indemnities, expenses, and other amo(aiter than principal, interest and
fees) payable to the Lenders (including fees, @s@nd disbursements of counsel to the respectéwnedrs and amounts payable under Articlg X
ratably among them in proportion to the amountsidlesd in this claus8econdayable to them;

Third , to payment of that portion of the Obligations stitating unpaid principal of the Term Loans, rdyatmong the Lenders in proportion to
the respective amounts described in this cldimsel held by them;

Fourth, to payment of all other Obligations, ratably amdhe Lenders in proportion to the respective an®described in this clause®urth
held by them;
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Last, the balance, if any, after Payment in Full ofodiithe Obligations, to the Borrower or as othesaisquired by Law
X. THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

10.1 _Appointment and Authority. Each of the Lenders (on behalf of itself andheaitits Affiliates) hereby irrevocably appoints Bank to act on its behalf
as the Administrative Agent hereunder and undether Loan Documents and authorizes the Adminiggagent to take such actions on its behalf andxercise
such powers as are delegated to the Administraent by the terms hereof or thereof, together wsitbh actions and powers as are reasonably ineidéereto. The
provisions of this Article Xare solely for the benefit of the Administrativeekd and the Lenders, and the Borrower shall noé himhts as a third party beneficiary of
any of such provisions. It is understood and agthatthe use of the term “agent” herein or in atiyer Loan Documents (or any other similar ternthweéference to
the Administrative Agent is not intended to connaitgy fiduciary or other implied (or express) obtigas arising under agency doctrine of any appleddw. Instead
such term is used as a matter of market customisaintended to create or reflect only an admiaiste relationship between contracting parties.

10.2 _Rights as a Lender The Person serving as the Administrative Agemetinder shall have the same rights and powets gapacity as a Lender as any
other Lender and may exercise the same as thowgtrd not the Administrative Agent and the termritler” or “Lenders” shall, unless otherwise expnegstiicated
or unless the context otherwise requires, inclbdeRerson serving as the Administrative Agent hetedin its individual capacity. Such Person a@adAifiliates may
accept deposits from, lend money to, own securifesict as the financial advisor or in any othdvisory capacity for and generally engage in amdlof business
with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Atiiié thereof as if such Person were not the Admatise Agent hereunder and without any duty to aoteherefor to
the Lenders.

10.3 _No Fiduciary Duty. The Administrative Agent shall not have any dsitor obligations except those expressly set foetlein and in the other Loan
Documents and its duties hereunder shall be adimtiie in nature. Without limiting the generalitj the foregoing, the Administrative Agent:

(a) shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other ii@glduties, regardless of whether a Default or EvéDefault has occurred and is continui

(b) shall not have any duty to take any discretionarjon or exercise any discretionary powers, exaiptretionary rights and powers expre
contemplated hereby or by the other Loan Documiaiisthe Administrative Agent is required to exsecas directed in writing by the Requisite Lender
such other number or percentage of the Lenderiak s expressly provided for herein or in theeothoan Documents); providetat the Administrativ
Agent shall not be required to take any action, thratts good faith opinion or the good faith ominiof its counsel, may expose the Administrativesrtgtc
liability or that is contrary to any Loan Documemtapplicable Law, including for the avoidance ofidit any action that may be in violation
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of the automatic stay under any Debtor Relief Lawhat may effect a forfeiture, modification orrtenation of property of a Defaulting Lender in \atibn o
any Debtor Relief Law; an

(c) shall not, except as expressly set forth hereiniarttle other Loan Documents, have any duty tolag; and shall not be liable for the failur
disclose, any information relating to the Borrowerany of its Affiliates that is communicated toalbtained by the Person serving as the Adminiseahigen
or any of its Affiliates in any capacit

10.4 _Exculpation. The Administrative Agent shall not be liablett® Lenders for any action taken or not taken Ifj) iwith the consent or at the request of
the Requisite Lenders (or such other number orgmage of the Lenders as shall be necessary, threa8dministrative Agent shall believe in good fiaghall be
necessary, under the circumstances as provideecitioSs 11.Jand_9.2) or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligencwillful misconduct as determined by a court
of competent jurisdiction by final and non-appef#gbhdgment. The Administrative Agent shall be med not to have knowledge of any Default or Eveéribefault
unless and until notice describing such DefauEwent of Default is given to the Administrative Agdy the Borrower or a Lender.

(a) The Administrative Agent shall not be responsilddtte Lenders for or have any duty to the Lenderastertain or inquire into (i) any statem
warranty or representation made in or in connectigth this Agreement or any other Loan Documeri),tiie contents of any certificate, report or o
document delivered hereunder or thereunder or imection herewith or therewith, (iii) the perforncanor observance of any of the covenants, agresnm
other terms or conditions set forth herein or tme@ the occurrence of any Default or Event of &#f, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectivess o
genuineness of this Agreement, any other Loan Decdirar any other agreement, instrument or docurmeft) the satisfaction of any condition set foirl
Article IV or elsewhere herein, other than to canfreceipt of items expressly required to be dedideo the Administrative Ager

10.5 Reliance by the Administrative Agent The Administrative Agent shall be entitled tdyrapon, and shall not incur any liability for ratg upon, any
notice, request, certificate, consent, statemestrument, document or other writing (including algctronic message, Internet or intranet websitgipg or other
distribution) believed by it to be genuine and &vé been signed, sent or otherwise authenticatetiebproper Person. The Administrative Agent afsty rely upon
any statement made to it orally or by telephone laelieved by it to have been made by the propesdPerand shall not incur any liability for relyitigereon. In
determining compliance with any condition hereurtdethe making of a Term Loan that by its terms nfnesfulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender, théministrative
Agent may presume that such condition is satisfadtosuch Lender unless the Administrative Agdratlishave received notice to the contrary from suehder prior
to the making of such Term Loan. The AdministrathPgent may consult with legal counsel (who maygensel for the Borrower), independent accountantsother
experts selected by it, and shall not be liable
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for any action taken or not taken by it in accoawith the advice of any such counsel, accountamgxperts

10.6 _Delegation of Duties The Administrative Agent may perform any andddlits duties and exercise its rights and poweretnder or under any other
Loan Document by or through any one or more sagjents appointed by the Administrative Agent. Raeninistrative Agent and any such subgent may perform
any and all of its duties and exercise its rigits powers by or through their respective Relatetida The exculpatory provisions of this Artitleshall apply to any
such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of the Adminisgahgent and any such sutagent, and shall apply to their respective acésiiin connection with the
syndication of the Term Loan Facility as well ag\aties as Administrative Agent. The Administragigent shall not be responsible for the negligesromisconduct
of any sub-agents except to the extent that a afladmpetent jurisdiction determines in a finatlaron-appealable judgment that the Administratigert acted with
gross negligence or willful misconduct in the sé@tof such sub agents.

10.7 _Filing Proofs of Claim. In case of the pendency of any proceedings uadgrDebtor Relief Law or any other judicial prodiegy relating to the
Borrower, the Administrative Agent (irrespective whether the principal of any Term Loan shall thendue and payable as herein expressed or by agataor
otherwise and irrespective of whether the Admiatste Agent shall have made any demand therefca)l $fe entitled and empowered (but not obligateg) b
intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:

(a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount lo¢ bwing and unpaid principal and interest in respe the Obligations and to file such ol
documents as may be necessary or advisable in trdeave the claims of the Lenders and the Adnratise Agent (including any claim for the reasor
compensation, expenses, disbursements and adveintesLenders and the Administrative Agent andrtrespective agents and counsel and all other ate
due the Lenders and the Administrative Agent uiSections 2..and3.5) allowed in such proceedin

(b) to collect and receive any monies or other pryppayable or deliverable on any such claimstardistribute the same; and

(c) any custodian, receiver, assignee, trusteeidiégor, sequestrator or other similar officialainy such judicial proceeding is hereby authorize@dch
Lender to make such payments to the Administratigent and, in the event that the Administrative Aigehall consent to the making of such paymentscdir
to the Lenders, to pay to the Administrative Ageny amount due for the reasonable compensatioenseg, disbursements and advances of the Admtivistra
Agent and its agents and counsel, and any othenat®idue the Administrative Agent under Sectioiis 22.9(b)and_3.5.

10.8 _Resignation or Removal of the Administratie Agent. The Administrative Agent may at any time giveio® of its resignation to the Lenders and the
Borrower. Upon receipt of any such notice of reatipn, the Requisite Lenders shall have the right,
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consultation with the Borrower, to appoint a susoesAdministrative Agent that is reasonably acdeletéo the Borrower. If no such successor shaleHzeer

so appointed by the Requisite Lenders and sha# hagepted such appointment within thirty (30) daysr the retiring Administrative Agent gives roatiof its
resignation (or such earlier date as the Requisitelers may approve)(theResignation Effective Date"), then the retiring Administrative Agent may (but
shall not be obligated to) on behalf of the Lendeafgpoint a successor Administrative Agent meetirg qualifications set forth above; provided, ttighe
Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower atfte Lenders that no qualifying Person has acceptiett appointment, then the Administrative Agent’s
resignation shall nonetheless become effectivedom@ance with such notice on the Resignation Effe®ate. If the Person serving as Administrathgent is

a Defaulting Lender pursuant to clause (iv) of dedinition thereof, the Requisite Lenders may hi® éxtent permitted by applicable law, by noticeviiting to
the Borrower and such Person remove such PersAdragistrative Agent and, in consultation with tBerrower, appoint a successor reasonably acceptable
the Borrower. If no such successor shall have Iseeappointed by the Requisite Lenders and shak la@eepted such appointment within 30 days (or such
earlier day as shall be agreed by the Requisiteléms) (the “Removal Effective Date”), then such removal shall nonetheless becometaftein accordance
with such notice on the Removal Effective Date.

With effect from the Resignation Effective Date the Removal Effective Date, as applicable, (i) te#ring or removed Administrative Agent shall be
discharged from its duties and obligations hereuade under the other Loan Documents (except thete case of any collateral security held by thienistrative
Agent on behalf of the Lenders under any of thenLbacuments, the retiring or removed Administra#gent shall continue to hold such collateral sitggumtil such
time as a successor Administrative Agent is appdinand (ii) except for any indemnity payments owethe retiring or removed Administrative Agent,mayments,
communications and determinations provided to bdeniyy, to or through the Administrative Agent shiaditead be made by or to each Lender directly] suth time
as the Requisite Lenders appoint a successor Asimtive Agent as provided for above in this Sectl®.8. Upon the acceptance of a successor’'s appointagent
Administrative Agent hereunder, such successor shateed to and become vested with all of thetsighowers, privileges and duties of the retiring retired or
removed) Administrative Agent (other than any right indemnity payments owed to the retiring or seed Administrative Agent), and the retiring or @rad
Administrative Agent shall be discharged from dllits duties and obligations hereunder or underatmer Loan Documents (if not already dischargedefiom as
provided above in this Section). The fees payall¢he Borrower to a successor Administrative Agemll be the same as those payable to its prestacesless
otherwise agreed between the Borrower and suctessec After the Resignation Effective Date or Remnoval Effective Date, as applicable, the piows of this
Article X and Section 11.8hall continue in effect for the benefit of suctirieg or removed Administrative Agent, its subgents and their respective Related Parties in

respect of any actions taken or omitted to be tdleany of them while the retiring or removed Adistrative Agent was acting as Administrative Agent.

10.9 _NonReliance on the Administrative Agent and Other Lené@rs. Each Lender acknowledges that it has, indepetydand without reliance upon the
Administrative Agent or any other Lender or anyth#ir Related Parties and based on such documedtsfrmation as
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it has deemed appropriate, made its own creditaisahind decision to enter into this AgreementchBzender also acknowledges that it will, indepentiyeand
without reliance upon the Administrative Agent ayather Lender or any of their Related Parties laamkd on such documents and information as it fsbai
time to time deem appropriate, continue to makevts decisions in taking or not taking action undebased upon this Agreement, any other Loan Decam
or any related agreement or any document furnisleeeunder or thereunder.

10.10 _Enforcement By its acceptance of the benefits of this Agreatrand the other Loan Documents, each Lender sighae (i) the Loan Documents may
be enforced only by the Administrative Agent, agtirpon the instructions or with the consent of R&tpiLenders as provided in this Agreement arnjdn@i Lender
shall have any right individually to enforce or ls¢e enforce this Agreement or the other Loan Doents or to realize upon any collateral or otheusgcgiven to
secure the payment and performance of the Obligstio

10.11 _No Other Duties, etc Anything herein to the contrary notwithstandittge Administrative Agent shall not have any powelgties or responsibilities
under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Daenisy except in its capacity, as applicable, agtministrative Agent or a Lender hereunder.

10.12 _No Reliance on the Administrative Ageh$ Customer Identification Program. Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that neitioér Lender, nor
any of its Affiliates, participants or assigneesaynrely on the Administrative Agent to carry outckuLender’s, Affiliate’s, participant's or assigreeustomer
identification program, or other obligations regairor imposed under or pursuant to the USA Pakiitor the regulations thereunder, including thgutations
contained in 31 CFR 103.121 (as hereafter amendegbtaced, the CIP Regulations”), or any other Anti-Terrorism Law, including apyograms involving any of
the following items relating to or in connectiontlwiany of the Borrower, their Affiliates or theigents, the Loan Documents or the transactions hdeguor
contemplated hereby: (i) any identity verificatipnocedures, (ii) any recordkeeping, (iii) compansovith government lists, (iv) customer notices(oy other
procedures required under the CIP Regulationsdr sther Laws.

XI. MISCELLANEOUS

11.1 _Modifications, Amendments or Waivers With the written consent of the Requisite Lesdehe Administrative Agent, acting on behalf of thle
Lenders, and the Borrower may from time to timeeemito written agreements amending or changingpayision of this Agreement or any other Loan Dueat or
the rights of the Lenders or the Borrower hereurmtehereunder, or may grant written waivers orsesits hereunder or thereunder. Any such agreemaiver or
consent made with such written consent shall becgffe to bind all the Lenders and the Borroweovpted, that no such agreement, waiver or conseyt fme made
that will:

(a) extend or increase the Term Loan Commitment oflamder (or reinstate any obligation to make thenTeoans terminated pursuantSection 9.7)
without the written consent of such Lender whosenTeoan Commitment is being extended or
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increased (it being understood and agreed thati\eewaf any condition precedent set forthSection 4.zor 4.3 or of any Default, Event of Default, mandat
prepayment or a mandatory reduction in Term Loam@dments is not considered an extension or iner@a3erm Loan Commitments of any Lend«

(b) postpone any date fixed by this Agreement or ahgrotoan Document for any payment (excluding maogaprepayments of principal, intere
fees or other amounts due to the Lenders (or atiyenfi) or any scheduled or mandatory reductiohefTterm Loan Commitments hereunder or under arst
Loan Document) without the written consent of eaender entitled to receive such payment or whosenTleoan Commitments are to be reduced, it t
understood that the waiver of any mandatory pregayrof the Term Loans (or any definition relatigreto) shall not constitute a postponement of datg
scheduled for the payment of principal or inter

(c) reduce the principal of, or the rate of interestcsfred herein on, any Term Loan or any fees oeomounts payable hereunder or under any
Loan Document without the written consent of eaehder directly affected thereby; providedhowever, that only the consent of the Requisite Lendesadl
be necessary (A) to amend the definition of “Def&Ate” or to waive any obligation of the Borrower to payerest at the Default Rate or (B) to amend
financial covenant hereunder (or any defined teseditherein) even if the effect of such amendmentidvbe to reduce the rate of interest on the Tlesems o
to reduce any fee payable hereun

(d) changeSection 2.1%in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharingagments required thereby without the writtensmnt of each Lender direc
affected thereby

(e) change any provision of thSection 11.Jor the definition of*Requisite Lende” or otherwise change the percentage of the Lendeishvghall b
required for the Lenders to take any action hereowithout the written consent of each Lender direeffgcted thereby; ¢

(f) release the Borrower without the consent of eactdee

providedthat (i) no agreement, waiver or consent that wonélify the interests, rights or obligations of théministrative Agent may be made without the veritt
consent of such Administrative Agent, and (ii) ottlg consent of the Administrative Agent and therBoer shall be required for any amendment to the [Eetter; and
provided, furtherthat, if in connection with any proposed waiver,eatiment or modification referred to in Sectionsl{d)through_11.1(flabove, the consent of the
Requisite Lenders is obtained but the consent efasrmore of such other Lenders whose consentjigrezl is not obtained (each &bn-Consenting Lender”), then
the Borrower shall have the right to replace arghddon-Consenting Lender with one or more replacgrbenders pursuant to Section 3.6

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,Defaulting Lender shall have any right to approvelisapprove any amendment, waiver or consenuheer (and
any amendment,
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waiver or consent which by its terms requires tbesent of all Lenders or each affected Lender neagffected with the consent of the applicable Lemd¢her thai
Defaulting Lenders), except that (x) the Term L&owmmitment of such Defaulting Lender may not beeased or extended without the consent of such dreod
amounts due to it permanently reduced without tiresent of such Lender, and (z) any waiver, amentoremodification requiring the consent of all Lensl or each
affected Lender that by its terms affects such Dléfeg Lender disproportionately adversely relativeother affected Lenders (other than solely essalt of differing
amounts of the Term Loans held by such Defaultiagder vis-a-vis the other Lenders) shall requieectbnsent of such Defaulting Lender.

11.2 _No Implied Waivers; Cumulative Remedies No course of dealing and no delay or failuréhef Administrative Agent or any Lender in exeraijsany
right, power, remedy or privilege under this Agresmor any other Loan Document shall affect angotr future exercise thereof or operate as a wahereof, nor
shall any single or partial exercise thereof préelany further exercise thereof or of any othehtriggower, remedy or privilege. The rights and edrmas of the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders under thisesgnent and any other Loan Documents are cumulatisenot exclusive of any rights or remedies thay twould
otherwise have.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaimedlein or in any other Loan Document, the authdotgnforce rights and remedies hereunder and uhdeother
Loan Documents against the Borrower shall be vestetusively in, and all actions and proceedinglgatin connection with such enforcement shallsifuted and
maintained exclusively by, the Administrative Agdat the benefit of the Lenders; provided however, that the foregoing shall not prohibit (a) the Adistrative
Agent from exercising on its own behalf the rightel remedies that inure to its benefit (solelytincapacity as Administrative Agent) hereunder ander the other
Loan Documents, (b) any Lender from exercisingfgeights in accordance with Section gubject to the terms of Section 2)12r (c) any Lender from filing proofs
of claim or appearing and filing pleadings on itendbehalf during the pendency of a proceedingiredb the Borrower under any Debtor Relief Law.

11.3 _Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver

(a) Costs and ExpensesThe Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable outpotket expenses incurred by the Administrative rAgend its Affiliate:
(including the reasonable fees, charges and distmasts of a single external counsel for the Adrraive Agent)in connection with the syndication of
Term Loan Facility, the preparation, negotiatioxe@ition, delivery and administration of this Agrent and the other Loan Documents, or any amend,
modifications or waivers of the provisions hereotteereof (whether or not the transactions contetepl hereby or thereby shall be consummated), igradl
out of pocket expenses incurred by the Administeafigent or any Lenddincluding the reasonable fees, charges and dietmansts of a single counsel for
Administrative Agent and the Lendefselected by the Administrative Agent) plus oneitiolaal counsel if any Lender reasonably determitieg due to
conflict its interests are better represented Ipasgte counsel ) , in connection with the enforagmoe protection of its rights (A) in connectiontihis
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Agreement and the other Loan Documents, includisgights under this Section, or (B) in connectigth the Term Loans made hereunder, including ak
out of pocket expenses incurred during any work@structuring or negotiations in respect of suemT Loans

(b) Indemnification by the Borrower The Borrower shall indemnify the Administratidgent (and any sub-agent thereof) and each Lemaer,each
Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (sach Person being called amntiemnitee ) against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless fiamy,and all
losses, claims, damages, liabilities and relatgabeges (including the reasonable fees, chargeglishdrsements of a single counsel for the Inderagite
(selected by the Administrative Agent) plus onei@aldal counsel if any Indemnitee reasonably detees that due to a conflict its interests are bbette
represented by separate counsel) incurred by adgninitee or asserted against any Indemnitee byPamgon (including the Borrower) other than such
Indemnitee and its Related Parties arising ouinofpnnection with, or as a result of (i) the exemuor delivery of this Agreement, any other Ldaocument or
any agreement or instrument contemplated hereliyeseby, the performance by the parties heretbeif tespective obligations hereunder or thereundéne
consummation of the transactions contemplated fevelthereby, (ii) any Term Loan or the use or g use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii) any ddua
alleged presence or Release of Specified Substamcesfrom any property owned or operated by tber@ver or any of its Subsidiaries, or any liakilinder
Environmental Laws related in any way to the Borowr any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any actuapmspective claim, litigation, investigation aiopeeding
relating to any of the foregoing, whether basedcontract, tort or any other theory, whether brougita third party or by the Borrower, and regarslle$
whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provithed such indemnity shall not, as to any Indenenitee available to the extent that such lossefmsla
damages, liabilities or related expenses (x) ateraegned by a court of competent jurisdiction byafiand nonappealable judgment to have resulted the
gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Imfétee or (y) result from a claim brought by ther®aver against an Indemnitee for breach in bad faft
such Indemnitee’s obligations hereunder or undgroginer Loan Document, if the Borrower has obtaiadthal and nonappealable judgment in its favosoch
claim as determined by a court of competent juctsali. This_Section 11.3(tshall not apply with respect to Taxes other thay Baxes that represent losses,
claims, damages and other similar amounts arisomg finy non-Tax claim.

(c) Reimbursement by LendersTo the extent that the Borrower for any reasals to indefeasibly pay any amount required urmeagraph (a) or (b)
of this Section to be paid by it to the AdminisiratAgent (or any sub-agent thereof) or any Rel&tardty of any of the foregoing, each Lender selieeajrees
to pay to the Administrative Agent (or any such-sgient) or such Related Party, as the case magubk,Lender’s pro rata share (determined as dirtieethat
the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemniyngat is sought based on each Lender’s Pro Rat& Shauch time) of such unpaid amount (including a
such unpaid amount in respect of a claim assefteith Lender); providegdthat the unreimbursed expense or indemnified kdagm, damage,
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liability or related expense, as the case may las, wcurred by or asserted against the Administatigent (or any such s-agent) in its capacity as such,
against any Related Party of any of the foregottmg for the Administrative Agent (or any such sagent) in connection with such capacity.

(d) Waiver of Consequential Damages, Et€o the fullest extent permitted by applicablem-@he Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waigayg
claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory ofiliigh for special, indirect, consequential or ptive damages (as opposed to direct or actual desshagsing
out of, in connection with, or as a result of, tAigreement, any other Loan Document or any agreemreimstrument contemplated hereby, the transastio
contemplated hereby or thereby, any Term Loan eruge of the proceeds thereof. No Indemniteeresfeio in_Section 11.8hall be liable for any damages
arising from the use by unintended recipients of iaformation or other materials distributed byhtough telecommunications, electronic or otheorinfation
transmission systems in connection with this Agreetnor the other Loan Documents or the transactongemplated hereby or thereby.

(e) Payments All amounts due under this Section shall be p&yaot later than ten (10) days after demand there
(f) Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section khall survive the resignation of the Administrativgent or any assignment of rights by, or

the replacement of, a Lender, the termination effterm Loan Commitments, the termination of thisegnent and the repayment, satisfaction or disehafrg
all obligations under any Loan Document.

11.4 _Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Commutetion .

(a) Notices Generall. Except in the case of notices and other comnatinigzs expressly permitted to be given by telepHamel except as provided
paragraph (b) below), all notices and other comieations provided for herein shall be in writing astall be delivered by hand or overnight courievise,
mailed by certified or registered mail or sent bgdimile (i) if to a Lender, at its address (orsfatle number) set forth in its Administrative Qtiesnaire o
(ii) if to any other Person, to it at its addressf@csimile number) set forth on Schedule 1.1(BYotices sent by hand or overnight courier sernvicanailed b
certified or registered mail, shall be deemed teehizeen given when received; notices sent by falesshall be deemed to have been given when sgoék
that, if not given during normal business hourstfa recipient, shall be deemed to have been givéne opening of business on the next businessadaize
recipient). Notices delivered through electronmmemunications, to the extent provided in paragi@hbelow, shall be effective as provided in :
paragraph (b}

(b) Electronic CommunicationsNotices and other communications to the Lentersunder may be delivered or furnished by elereommunication
(including e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuamrazedures approved by the
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Administrative Agentprovidedthat the foregoing shall not apply to notices ty aender pursuant tArticle Il if such Lender has notified the Administrat
Agent that it is incapable of receiving notices einsuch Article by electronic communication. Themfinistrative Agent or the Borrower may, in itsafigtion,
agree to accept notices and other communicatioitshereunder by electronic communications purstaprocedures approved by it; provididt approval of
such procedures may be limited to particular nstmecommunications.

Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise pres@ji@ notices and other communications sent te-amil address shall be deemed received upon the
sender’s receipt of an acknowledgement from thenuhéd recipient (such as by the “return receipuestpd” function, as available, return e-mail dreotwritten
acknowledgement), and (ii) notices or communicatiposted to an Internet or intranet website shaltibemed received upon the deemed receipt by taedied
recipient, at its e-mail address as describedérfdhegoing clause (i), of notification that sudaftioe or communication is available and identifythg website address
therefor;_providedhat, for both clauses (i) and (ii) above, if sunchice, email or other communication is not sentrduthe normal business hours of the recipierghsu
notice or communication shall be deemed to have best at the opening of business on the next éssiday for the recipient.

(c) Change of Address, etcAny party hereto may change its address or ff@itsinumber for notices and other communicationgineder by notice to
the other parties hereto.

(d) Platform.

(i) The Borrower agrees that the Administrative Ageay/mbut shall not be obligated to, make the Comuatiuns (as defined below) availa
to the other Lenders by posting the CommunicatiomsDebt Domain, Intralinks, Syndtrak or a substdliytisimilar electronic transmission system (the “
Platform ).

(i) The Platform is provided “as is” and “as awdile.” The Agent Parties (as defined below) do not warthetadequacy of the Platform
expressly disclaim liability for errors or omissfim the Communications. No warranty of any kiexpress, implied or statutory, including, withotitation,
any warranty of merchantability, fitness for a marar purpose, non-infringement of thipérty rights or freedom from viruses or other cddéects, is made |
any Agent Party in connection with the Communiaadior the Platform. In no event shall the Admnaiste Agent or any of its Related Parties (coliey,
the “ Agent Parties”) have any liability to the Borrower, any Lender ayather Person or entity for damages of any kimcluding, without limitation, dire:
or indirect, special, incidental or consequentehdges, losses or expenses (whether in tort, comtratherwise) arising out of the Borrower’s e tBorrowers
or the Administrative Agent’s transmission of conmiwations through the Platform. Communications ” means, collectively, any notice, dems
communication, information, document or other matgrovided by or on behalf the Borrower pursuanany Loan Document or the transactions contereg
therein which is distributed to
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the Administrative Agent or any Lender by meanslettronic communications pursuant to this Seciioeiuding through the Platforr

11.5 _Severability. The provisions of this Agreement are intendede®everable. If any provision of this Agreem&mll be held invalid or unenforceable in
whole or in part in any jurisdiction, such provisishall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffectiveahe extent of such invalidity or unenforceabiltjthout in any manner
affecting the validity or enforceability thereofamy other jurisdiction or the remaining provisidreseof in any jurisdiction.

11.6 _Duration; Survival. All representations and warranties of the Boepwaontained herein or made in connection herestittl survive the execution and
delivery of this Agreement, the completion of thensactions hereunder, the termination of this Agrent and Payment In Full. All covenants and agesgs of the
Borrower contained herein relating to the paymémtrmcipal, interest, premiums, additional compaitn or expenses and indemnification, includingsthset forth in
the Term Loan Notes, Sections 2.92.10, 2.11, 2.12and_11.3or in any other provision of any Loan Document,lisbarvive Payment In Full and shall protect the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders and any otheemditees against events arising after such terinimas well as before. All other covenants ancegrents of the
Borrower shall continue in full force and effeabrin and after the date hereof and until Paymenulh F

11.7 _Successors and Assigns

(a) Successors and Assigns Generallhe provisions of this Agreement shall be bigdipon, and inure to the benefit of, the partiegteeand the
respective successors and assigns permitted hesrbgpt that the Borrower may not assign or otteswiansfer any of its rights or obligations hedzi
without the prior written consent of the Adminisiva Agent and each Lender and no Lender may assigitherwise transfer any of its rights or obligat
hereunder except (i) to an assignee in accordaitbetive provisions of this Section, (ii) by way rticipation in accordance with the provisiondto$ Sectior
or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a setyuiniterest subject to the restrictions of thistiec(and any other attempted assignment or trahgfany part
hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in thisr@gment, expressed or implied, shall be constrm@drnfer upon any Person (other than the partiestdethei
respective successors and assigns permitted hePeltjcipants to the extent provided in this Sectmd, to the extent expressly contemplated heribla
Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agerd the Lenders) any legal or equitable right,e@yror claim under or by reason of this Agreem

(b) Assignments by LendersAny Lender may at any time assign to one or namsignees all or a portion of its rights and ail@ns under this
Agreement (including all or a portion of its Ternedn Commitment and the Term Loan at the time owind); providedthat any such assignment shall be
subject to the following conditions:

(i) Minimum Amounts
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(A) in the case of an assignment of the entire neimg amount of the assigning Lendeiferm Loan Commitment and/or the Term Lc¢
at the time owing to it or contemporaneous assigrisn® related Approved Funds that equal at Ié@samount specified in clause (B) below in the eggte ¢
in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an atifilof a Lender or an Approved Fund, no minimumwarhoeed be assigned; &

(B) in any case not described in clause (i)(A) of #@use (b), the aggregate amount of the Term Loamritments (which for th
purpose includes Term Loans outstanding thereurwer)) the applicable Term Loan Commitment is tian in effect, the principal outstanding balanténhe
Term Loan owed to the assigning Lender subjectatthesuch assignment (determined as of the dat&sbgnment and Assumption with respect to :
assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agemtif “ Trade Date” is specified in the Assignment and Assumption,fak® Trade Date) shall not be |
than $5,000,000 unless each of the Administratiger and, so long as no Event of Default has oeduand is continuing, the Borrower otherwise cotg
(each such consent not to be unreasonably withdredelayed)

(ii) Proportionate Amounts Each partial assignment shall be made as agressit of a proportionate part of all the assigriiegders rights
and obligations under this Agreement with respe¢hé Term Loan or the Term Loan Commitment assig

(iii) Required Consent. No consent shall be required for any assignrarogpt to the extent required by paragraph (b))iBthis Section ar
in addition:

(A) the consent of the Borrower (such consent not torseasonably withheld or delayed) shall be reguineless (x) an Event of Defa
has occurred and is continuing at the time of saasdignment or (y) such assignment is to a LendeAffliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund; prosithal
the Borrower shall be deemed to have consentedyteach assignment unless it shall object thergtwiiiten notice to the Administrative Agent withiar
(10) Business Days after having received noticeetifeand provided further, that the Borrowes’consent shall not be required during the prinsgndicatiol
of the Term Loan Facility; an

(B) the consent of the Administrative Agent (such cahs®t to be unreasonably withheld or delayed)ldi®tequired for assignments
respect of (i) any unfunded Term Loan Commitmehsich assignment is to a Person that is not adrewith a Term Loan Commitment, an Affiliate of &
Lender or an Approved Fund with respect to suctdeenor (ii) any Term Loan to a Person who is nbeader, an Affiliate of a Lender or an ApprovechBL

(iv) Assignment and AssumptionThe parties to each assignment shall executedetider to the Administrative Agent an Assignmeimic
Assumption, together
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with a processing and recordation fee of $3,500vided that the Administrative Agent may, in itdesdiscretion, elect to waive such processing aedndatiol
fee in the case of any assignment. The assignités ifiot a Lender, shall deliver to the Adminggive Agent an Administrative Questionnai

(v) No Assignment to Certain Person®No such assignment shall be made to (i) thed®eer or any of the Borrowes’Affiliates or Subsidiarie
or (ii) to any Defaulting Lender or any of its Sidiaries, or any Person who, upon becoming a Lehdezunder, would constitute any of the foregoiegsBn
described in this clause (A

(vi) No Assignment to Natural Persc. No such assignment shall be made to a naturabR«

(vii) Certain Additional Payment. In connection with any assignment of rights amtigations of any Defaulting Lender hereunder,soct
assignment shall be effective unless and untigddition to the other conditions thereto set féwthein, the parties to the assignment shall mage additione
payments to the Administrative Agent in an aggregahount sufficient, upon distribution thereof pprapriate (which may be outright payment, purchds
the assignee of participations or subparticipatiensother compensating actions, including fundiwgh the consent of the Borrower and the Admiitwe
Agent, the applicable pro rata share of Term Lgaesiously requested but not funded by the Defagltiender, to each of which the applicable assigme
assignor hereby irrevocably consent), to (x) pay satisfy in full all payment liabilities then owédy such Defaulting Lender to the Administrativeefg an
each other Lender hereunder (and interest acchezddn), and (y) acquire (and fund as appropritdlll pro rata share of all Term Loans in ac@rde witt
its Pro Rata Share. Notwithstanding the foregoinghe event that any assignment of rights anigabibns of any Defaulting Lender hereunder shatidme
effective under applicable Law without complianciéhvithe provisions of this paragraph, then thegas=t of such interest shall be deemed to be a Diefy
Lender for all purposes of this Agreement untillsaompliance occur:

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof byAtministrative Agent pursuant to this Section, framd after the effective date specified in eachighssent and
Assumption, the assignee thereunder shall be & fmathis Agreement and, to the extent of the egerassigned by such Assignment and Assumptiorg thevrights
and obligations of a Lender under this Agreememd, the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to tienexf the interest assigned by such AssignmethtAmsumption,
be released from its obligations under this Agre®ngand, in the case of an Assignment and Assummtiwvering all of the assigning Lender’s rights atdigations
under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease ta party hereto) but shall continue to be entitedhe benefits of Sections 2,4 3.1, 3.2(subject to the
requirements and limitations of Section 3.2nd_11.3with respect to facts and circumstances occurrimgy po the effective date of such assignment; wred, that
except to the extent otherwise expressly agredtidnffected parties, no assignment by a Defaultergder will constitute a waiver or release of atgim of any party
hereunder arising from that Lender’s having be®etaulting Lender. Any assignment or transfer Hyeader of rights or obligations under this Agreatthat does
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comply with this Section shall be treated for puwg® of this Agreement as a sale by such Lendematfticipation in such rights and obligations irc@dance witt

Section 11.7(dpelow.

(c) Redister. The Administrative Agent, acting solely for thparpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall mairdaione of its offices in Greenwood
Village, Colorado a copy of each Assignment andufgstion delivered to it and a register for the relation of the names and addresses of the Leraleishe
Term Loan Commitments of, and principal amountéaoid stated interest on) the Term Loans owingdohd.ender pursuant to the terms hereof from tine t
time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclesibsent manifest error, and the Borrower, the Adtmative Agent and the Lenders shall
treat each Person whose name is recorded in thistBegursuant to the terms hereof as a Lendeuhdes for all purposes of this Agreement. The Regi
shall be available for inspection by the Borrowed any Lender, at any reasonable time and from tintiene upon reasonable prior notice.

(d) Participations Any Lender may at any time, without the consgnbr notice to, the Borrower or the Administratikgent, sell participations to any
Person (other than a natural person or the Borrmwemy of the Borrower's Affiliates or Subsidiag)e(each a ‘Participant ”) in all or a portion of such
Lender’s rights and/or obligations under this Agneat (including all or a portion of its Term Loam@mitment and/or the Term Loans owing to it); pded
that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agneat shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender skatiain solely responsible to the other partiestoefior the
performance of such obligations and (iii) the Bareo, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shatitinue to deal solely and directly with such denin
connection with such Lender’s rights and obligagiamder this Agreement. For the avoidance of daaath Lender shall be responsible for the indgmumiter
Section 11.3(clvith respect to any payments made by such Lendiés Rarticipant(s). A sale of a participatioreirgist may include certain voting rights, which
unless such participant is a Voting Participanglidbe limited to significant matters such as (Agreases in the commitment of such participantré@)ctions
of interest rates, principal or fees, (C) extensiofh scheduled maturities or times for paymenty eductions in voting percentages, in each casetty
affecting such participant.

Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which adeersells such a participation shall provide thathsLender shall retain the sole right to enfortus t
Agreement and to approve any amendment, modificaiiowaiver of any provision of this Agreement; yiced that such agreement or instrument may provide that
such Lender will not, without the consent of thertiégpant, agree to any amendment, modificationwaiver with respect tQ_Section 11that affects such
Participant. The Borrower agrees that each Ppatitishall be entitled to the benefits of Secti®rdls 3.5and_3.2(subject to the requirements and limitations therei
including the requirements under Section @& Being understood that the documentation requireder_Section 3.2hall be delivered to the participating Lender)jte
same extent as if it were a Lender and had acqusendterest by assignment pursuant to paragrbpbf(this_Section 11.7 providedthat such Participant (A) agrees
to be subject to the provisions of Section 86if it were an assignee under paragraph (b)isfSkction 11.7 and (B) shall not be entitled to receive any tgea
payment under Section 3ot 3.2, with respect to any participation, than its
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participating Lender would have been entitled tceree, except in the case of a Voting Participarly,oto the extent such entitlement to receive @atgr paymer
results from a Change in Law that occurs afterRheticipant acquired the applicable participati®@ach Lender that sells a participation agreeshetBorrower’'s
request and expense, to use reasonable effortofmerate with the Borrower to effectuate the priovis of Section 3.6vith respect to any Participant. To the extent
permitted by Law, each Participant also shall léled to the benefits of Section 9.2@Jj though it were a Lender; providiét such Participant agrees to be subject to
Section 2.12s though it were a Lender. Each Lender that sefiarticipation shall, acting solely for this posp as an agent of the Borrower, maintain a registe
which it enters the name and address of each Baricand the principal amounts of (and statedrésteon) each Participant’s interest in the Termasoor other
obligations under the Loan Documents (tHedfticipant Register ”); providedthat no Lender shall have any obligation to diselaB or any portion of the Participant
Register (including the identity of any Participamtany information relating to a Participant’sergst in any Term Loan Commitments, the Term Laaniss other
obligations under any Loan Document) to any Peesarept to the extent that such disclosure is nacgds establish that such Term Loan Commitmerg, Tarm
Loans or other obligation is in registered form em&ection 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulationse &htries in the Participant Register shall be
conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lenut seat each Person whose name is recordeceildnticipant Register as the owner of such ppéiimn for all
purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding anyceotd the contrary. For the avoidance of doulet,Administrative Agent (in its capacity as Adminative Agent)
shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Répant Register. CoBank reserves the right togassr sell participations in all or part of its Tet.oan Commitments
or its outstanding Term Loan hereunder on a norepage basis.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, any Rpatit that is a Farm Credit Lender that (i) haschased a participation in a minimum amount of $8,000,
(ii) has been designated as a voting Participarit ating Participant ") in a notice (a “Voting Participant Notice ") sent by the relevant Lender (including any
existing Voting Participant) to the Borrower ana tAdministrative Agent and (iii) receives, prior becoming a Voting Participant, the prior writteonsent of the
Borrower (unless an Event of Default has occurmdiia continuing) the consent of the Administrathgent (such consent to be required only to thergxand under
the circumstances it would be required if such MptParticipant were to become a Lender pursuaantassignment in accordance with Section 11.y@)d such
consent is not required for an assignment to astiagi Voting Participant), shall be entitled toeais if such Voting Participant were a Lender dmalters subject to a
vote by Lenders, and the voting rights of the sgliLender (including any existing Voting Participashall be correspondingly reduced, on a dollasefollar
basis. Each Voting Participant Notice shall ineudith respect to each Voting Participant, thernfation that would be included by a prospectivaedss in an
Assignment and Assumption. Notwithstanding thedoming, each Farm Credit Lender designated as iag/Barticipant in Schedule 11sRhall be a Voting Participant
without delivery of a Voting Participant Notice amdthout the prior written consent of the Adminéive Agent. The selling Lender (including anystixig Voting
Participant) and the purchasing Voting Participstmll notify the Administrative Agent within thr¢8) Business Days of any termination, reductiorinorease of the
amount of, such participation. The Administratdgent shall be entitled to conclusively rely onarrhation contained in Voting Participant Notices afl other
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notices delivered pursuant hereto. The votingtsiglf each Voting Participant are solely for thedfé of such Voting Participant and shall not iato any assignee
participant of such Voting Participant that is adtarm Credit Lender.

(e) Certain Pledges Any Lender may at any time pledge or assigncarsty interest in all or any portion of its rightsder this Agreement to secure
obligations of such Lender, including any pledgeassignment to secure obligations to a FederalrRedgank or other central bank; providéwt no such
pledge or assignment shall release such Lenderdrgnof its obligations hereunder or substitute suyh pledgee or assignee for such Lender asyalmmto.

11.8 _Confidentiality. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Lendegeee to maintain the confidentiality of the Imf@tion (as defined below), except
that Information may be disclosed (a) to its A#fis and to its Related Parties (it being undedstioat the Persons to whom such disclosure is médbke informed of
the confidential nature of such Information andrinsted to keep such Information confidential); {b)the extent required or requested by any regujauthority
purporting to have jurisdiction over such Personiter Related Parties (including any self-regulataythority, such as the National Association ofuhasce
Commissioners); (c) to the extent required by aaplie laws or regulations or by any subpoena oila@itegal process; (d) to any other party herét;n connection
with the exercise of any remedies hereunder oradg other Loan Document or any action or proaegdelating to this Agreement or any other Loan Woent or
the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereur{@esubject to an agreement containing provisianssgantially the same as those of this Sectiofi) tny assignee of
or Participant in, or any prospective assigneerdParticipant in, any of its rights and obligatiamsder this Agreement, or (ii) any actual or prasive party (or its
Related Parties) to any swap, derivative or otrersaction under which payments are to be madefleyence to the Borrower and its obligations, fgseement or
payments hereunder; (g) on a confidential basis) tany rating agency in connection with rating tBorrower or its Subsidiaries or the Term Loanilfgac(ii) the
CUSIP Service Bureau or any similar agency in cotioe with the issuance and monitoring of CUSIP bens with respect to the Term Loan Facility or) i@ any
credit insurance provider relating to the Borrowad its Obligations; (h) with the consent of therBwer; or (i) to the extent such Information (9domes publicly
available other than as a result of a breach sf $iwiction, or (y) becomes available to the Admiaiste Agent, any Lender or any of their respectffiliates on a
nonconfidential basis from a source other tharBibower.

For purposes of this Section]riformation ” means all information received from the Borroveerany of its Subsidiaries relating to the Borrowemany of its
Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesstegr than any such information that is availabléhe Administrative Agent or any Lender on a ramfadential basis
prior to disclosure by the Borrower or any of itgSidiaries; provided that, in the case of infoiibrateceived from the Borrower or any of its Sulmigs after the date
hereof, such information is clearly identified hettime of delivery as confidential. Any Persoguieed to maintain the confidentiality of Informati as provided in
this Section shall be considered to have compliigk its obligation to do so if such Person has eised the same degree of care to maintain thedsmtality of such
Information as such Person would accord to its oamfidential information.
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11.9 _Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness

(a) This Agreement may be executed in counterparts lfgrdifferent parties hereto in different countetpl each of which shall constitute an origi
but all of which when taken together shall constita single contract. This Agreement and the dtban Documents, and any separate letter agreemeth
respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agemstitute the entire contract among the parékging to the subject matter hereof and superaageand a
previous agreements and understandings, oral dtewyirelating to the subject matter hereof. Ek@spprovided in Article 1V, this Agreement shall beco
effective when it shall have been executed by tHeihistrative Agent and when the Administrative Agehall have received counterparts hereof thagr
taken together, bear the signatures of each oftther parties hereto. Delivery of an executed tenpart of a signature page of this Agreement logifaile o
in electronic (i.e.“pdf’ or “tif”) format shall be effective as delivery of a manuabkgcuted counterpart of this Agreemt

(b) Electronic Execution of AssignmentsThe words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,”damwords of like import in any Assignment and Asstiop
shall be deemed to include electronic signaturetherkeeping of records in electronic form, eachmbich shall be of the same legal effect, validity
enforceability as a manually executed signaturtheruse of a paper-based recordkeeping systerheasase may be, to the extent and as providedh fany
applicable law, including the Federal Electronigriitures in Global and National Commerce Act, teevN ork State Electronic Signatures and Records dxct
any other similar state laws based on the UnifolettEonic Transactions Act.

11.10 _CHOICE OF LAW; SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION; WAIVER OF VENUE: SERVICE OF PROCESS; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement and the other Loan Documentsaaycclaims, controversy, dispute or cause of adtidrether in contract or tort
otherwise) based upon, arising out of or relatmghis Agreement or any other Loan Document (excpto any other Loan Document, as expresslyosth
therein) and the transactions contemplated heretytteereby shall be governed by, and construeddnrdance with, the law of the State of New Yorkheui
regard to conflicts of law principles that requirepermit application of the laws of any other stat jurisdiction

(b) SUBMISSION TOJURISDICTION. THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS, FOR ITSELF AND ITS
PROPERTY, TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THEDWRTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SITTING IN NEW YORROUNTY AND
OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF THE SOUTHERDISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FRONANY
THEREOF, IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OBR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOUMENT, OR
FOR RECOGNITION OR ENFORCEMENT OF ANY JUDGMENT,
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AND EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY AND UNCRDITIONALLY AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF AN SUCH
ACTION OR PROCEEDING MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED INSUCH NEW YORK STATE COURT OR, TO THE FULLEST EXTHN
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURTEACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL DGMENT IN
ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE MD MAY BE ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT @ THE
JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY LAW. ®THING IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMINT
SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT THAT THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR ANY LENDER MAY OTHERWISE HAVE TO BRING ANY ACTON OR
PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHEROAN DOCUMENT AGAINST THE BORROWER OR ITS PROPERTSHN THE
COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION.

(c) WAIVER OF VENUE. THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED
BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY ACTI® OR
PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGRMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT IN ANY COURT REFERED TO IN
THIS SECTION 11.10. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WXES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, THE DEFENSE OF AN INCONVENIENT FORM TO THE MAINTENANCE OF SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDINGNIANY
SUCH COURT AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT ANY SUCH DEFERIS

(d) SERVICE OF PROCESSEACH PARTY HERETO IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO SERVEIOF PROCESS IN THE MANNER PROVIDED
FOR NOTICES IN_SECTION 11.4 NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT WILL AFFECT THE RIGHDF ANY PARTY HERETO TO SERVE PROCESS IN
ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW.

(e) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TOHE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTY ARISING
OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHERQAN DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBOR
THEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OHR THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT @M
REPRESENTATIVE, ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR ATTORNEY ORANY OTHER PERSON HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR &RWISE,
THAT SUCH OTHER PERSON WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OFITGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND
(B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERED HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT WD THE
OTHER LOAN
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DOCUMENTS BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVER AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION

11.11 _USA Patriot Act Notice Each Lender that is subject to the USA Patrict #nd the Administrative Agent (for itself and mot behalf of any Lender)
hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to #rguirements of the USA Patriot Act, it is requitedbbtain, verify and record information that idéas the Borrower,
which information includes the name and addregb®Borrower and other information that will alleuch Lender or Administrative Agent, as applicabdeidentify
the Borrower in accordance with the USA Patriot.AThe Borrower shall, promptly following a requédst the Administrative Agent or any Lender, providé
documentation and other information that the Adstmative Agent or such Lender requests in ordeotoply with its ongoing obligations under appli@tknow your
customer” and anti-money laundering rules and a@nis, including the Patriot Act.

11.12 _Payments Set Aside To the extent the Borrower makes a payment pymeats to the Administrative Agent for the ratabémefit of the Lenders or the
Administrative Agent receives any such payment Whpayments or any part thereof are subsequentblidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferenset aside
and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, recaivany other party under any proceeding underetytor Relief Law, other applicable Law or equitabluse, then, to
the extent of such payment or proceeds repaidQtiigations or part thereof intended to be satisBball be revived and continued in full force affitct as if such
payment or proceeds had not been received by theristrative Agent.

11.13 _Interest Rate Limitation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary congairin any Loan Document, the interest paid or ajjteebe paid under the
Loan Documents shall not exceed the maximum rat@ofusurious interest permitted by applicable (e “ Maximum Rate ”). If the Administrative Agent or any
Lender shall receive interest in an amount thaeeds the Maximum Rate, the excess interest shalppked to the principal of the Term Loans orif éxceeds such
unpaid principal, refunded to the Borrower. Inatetining whether the interest contracted for, cedr@r received by the Administrative Agent or adler exceeds the
Maximum Rate, such Person may, to the extent puhnity applicable Law, (a) characterize any payrtteattis not principal as an expense, fee, or premriather than
interest, (b) exclude voluntary prepayments andeffiects thereof, and (c) amortize, prorate, atlecand spread in equal or unequal parts the aotalunt of interest
throughout the contemplated term of the Obligatioeeunder.
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[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, by theficefs thereunto duly authorized, have executeslAlgreement as of the day and year first aboveensrit
BORROWER:

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION, as Borrower

By: /s/ John M. Jureller
Name: John M. Jureller
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief FinahOfficer

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]



[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

COBANK, ACB , as Administrative Agent and as a Lender

By: /sl GaryFranke
Name: Gary Franke
Title:  Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreeme




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]
BNP PARIBAS, as a Lender
By: /s/ Kwang KyurChoi

Name: Kwang Kyun Choi
Title: Vice President

By: /s/ MariaMulic
Name: Maria Mulic, CFA
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreeme




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

FIFTH THIRD BANK, AN OHIO BANKING CORPORATION, as a Lender

By: /sl ValerieSchanzer
Name: Valerie Schanzer
Title: V.P.

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]
COMPASS BANK, as a Lender

By: /sl RajNambiar
Name: Raj Nambiar
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: /s/ PhilipMuscato
Name: Philip Muscato
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]
TD BANK, N.A,, as a Lender

By: /s/ DavidPeriman
Name: David Perliman
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement]




[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]
THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND PLC, as a Lender

By: /sl AlexDaw
Name: Alex Daw
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreeme




SCHEDULE 1.1(B)
C OMMITMENTS OF LENDERS AND ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES

Part 1 - Commitments of Lenders and Addresses for Notices enders

LENDER AND AMOUNT OF PRO RATA SHARE
ADDRESS COMMITMENT
FOR TERM LOANS
COBANK, ACB
5500 SOUTH QUEBEC
STREET
GREENWOOD VILLAGE
COLORADO 80111
ATTENTION: _ $135,000,000 * 38.57%
COMMUNICATIONS

BANKING GROUP
TELEPHONE: 303-740-4000
TELECOPY: 303-224-2718

BNP PARIBAS
787 SEVENTH AVENUE

NEW YORK, NY 10019

ATTENTION: MARIA MULIC $50,000,00 14.29%
TELECOPY: 212-471-6368

FIFTH THIRD BANK, AN
OHIO BANKING

CORPORATION

38 FOUNTAIN SQUARE

PLAZA

CINCINNATI, OH 45263 $50,000,00( 14.29%
ATTENTION: VALERIE

SCHANZER

TELECOPY: 212-299-3036

COMPASS BANK

2200 POST OAK BLVD., #1500

HOUSTON, TX 77056

ATTENTION: DENISE $30,000,000 8.57%
WOLFENBERGER

TELECOPY: 866-984-8668

KEYBANK NATIONAL

ASSOCIATION

1700 BAUSCH & LOMB

PLACE

ROCHESTER, NY 14604 $30,000,000 8.57%
ATTENTION: PHIL

MUSCATO

TELECOPY: 585-238-4142
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TD BANK, N.A.

444 MADISON AVE., 2™

FLOOR

NEW YORK, NY 10022 $30,000,000 8.57%
ATTENTION: SHIVANI

AGARWAL

TELECOPY: 212-308-0486

THE ROYAL BANK OF
SCOTLAND PLC

600 WASHINGTON BLVD.
STAMFORD, CT 06901 $25,000,00( 7.14%

ATTENTION: ALEX DAW
TELECOPY: 203-873-3426

1The above amount reflects the gross commitmeno&adk, ACB, of which $59,165,000 will be participdtwithin the Farm Credit System to eleven votind aon-
Voting Farm Credit System lending institutions.




SCHEDULE 1.1(B)
C OMMITMENTS OF LENDERS AND ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES

Part 2 - Addresses for Notices to Borrower and Guamntors:

A DMINISTRATIVE AGENT :

CoBank, ACB

5500 South Quebec Street

Greenwood Village

Colorado 80111

Attention: Communications Banking Group
Telephone: (303) 740-4000

Telecopy: (303) 224-2718

BORROWER:

Frontier Communications Corporation

3 High Ridge Park

Stamford, CT 06905

Attention: John M. Jureller, Executive Vice Presitland Chief Financial Officer
Telephone: (203) 614-5995

Telecopy: (203) 614-4661



SCHEDULE 7.7

Subsidiary Indebtedness

As of March 31, 2014
($ in Thousands
Frontier Indebtedness
Citizens Rural Company Rur

FFB 6.052% due Jan. 3, 20 $ 2,999
FFB 6.206% due Jan. 3, 20 5,827
Total Frontier Subsidiary Indebtedness $ 8,826

Spinco Assumed Indebtednes
Verizon North Inc
6.73% Debentures, Series G, due Feb. 15, $ 200,000

Verizon West Virginia Inc
8.40% Debentures due Oct. 15, 2( 50,000

Total Assumed Spinco Subsidiary Indebtednes $ 250,000

Capital Lease Obligations
Citizens Telecommunications Company of Minnesota,

LLC

NESC Minnesota (fiber ring $ 6,269
Frontier Communications Northwest Ir

1800 41st, Everett, Washingt 18,446
Total Capital Lease Obligations $ 24,715

Finance Lease Obligation:



Obligations in connection with the contributicto
limited liability companies owned by the Frontier
Communications Pension Plan (a) made in 2011 by
Frontier North Inc., Commonwealth Telephone
Company LLC and Frontier Communications
Corporation Corporate Services Inc., and consisting
of properties located at 100 Communications Drive,
Sun Prairie, WI; Country Club Road, Dallas, PA;
6430 Oakbrook Parkway, Fort Wayne IN and 8001
West Jefferson Blvd, Fort Wayne, IN and (b) made in
2013 by Frontier North Inc., Frontier
Communications of the Carolina LLC, Frontier West
Virginia Inc. and Citizens Telecommunications
Company of California Inc., and consisting of
properties located at 601 N US 131, Three Rivers,
MI; 400 S Pike RD W, Sumter, SC; 1500 Maccorkle
Ave SE, Charleston, WV and 9260 E. Stockton Blvd.,
Elk Grove, CA $ 79,698

Total Finance Lease Obligations $ 79,698

Total Subsidiary Indebtedness $ 363,239



SCHEDULE 11.7
VOTING PARTICIPANTS

AgStar Financial Services, FLCA
1921 Premier Drive
Mankato, MN 56001

Badgerland Financial, FLCA
1430 North Ridge Dr.
Prairie du Sac, Wl 53578-1092

Farm Credit Bank of Texas
4801 Plaza on the Lake Drive
Austin, TX 78746

Farm Credit Services of America, FLCA
5015 S. 118 Street
Omaha, NE 68137

Farm Credit Mid-America, FLCA
1601 Ups Drive
Louisville, KY 40223

United FCS, FLCA d/b/a

FCS Commercial Finance Group
600 South Highway 169, Suite 850
Minneapolis, MN 55426



frontier

Communications

Exhibit 10. 2
January 15, 2014

Mark Nielsen

3 Parley Lane
Ridgefield CT 06877
Dear Mark,

I tis my pleasure to confirm our offer of employmhéor the position of Senior Vice President , GaheCounsel & Secretary . The work locationtfiis position will be Stamford,
CTand you will be reporting to Maggie Wilde®st Chairman and Chief Executive Officer . Yetart date will be March 4, 2014.

Your executive compensation program includiesir principle components:

1) Annual base salaryof $325,000 (less applicable taxs) paid on a se-monthly basis

2) Cash bonusunder the Frontier Bonus Ple“FBF”) with an annual target incentive 75% of yourannualbase salar(initially $ 243,75C) which will be paid out based «
company and personal performanYour first year payout will be prorated based onrystart date

3

-

Restricted stock awards, which aregenerally granted in the first quarter of each ydestricted shares ven three equalannual installments (33% per year,
commencing one year from the date of grant , wité-dhird of the r estricted s hares vesting armbiyeéng unrestricted upon each annual anniversasy/.dahe annual target
for your position is currentl$ 450,000 You will receive dividends , to the extent dignds are declared by the Board of Directors, bshakes , whether vested or un
vested . The company’s current annual dividen&pdgivhich is subject to change at the discretibthe Board of Directors) is $0.40 per share Clated quarterly in an
amount 01$0.10 per share per quart Your first year payout will be prorated based omrystart date

4

=

Performance Sharesunder the FrontiecLong Term Incentive Plan (LTIF, with an annual performance share target valu one-third of your annual target for restrict
stock awards .  The LTIP target is an annuabtgieat will be paid out based on company perforrearover a three year period (initially, 201 £1% ). The performance
metrics (which are subject to change for futurendrs) are currently Operating Cash Flow and T8ktereholder Return.You will earn performance shares at the end of
three year period based on the company’s peebce over the three-year measurement period omtegics for that award . Dividends that would have been payable
any earned shares during a three year periodwiflaid at the end of the three year period.our¥ward for the 2014-2016 measurement periodoeifbrorated based on
your start date

You will be eligible for a cash bonus and restdcs¢éock award for 201 4 with awards paid in thstfiquarter of 201 5. Y ou will be eligible for award under the LTIP commencing
with the 201 4 -201 6 performance period. Frangserves the right to implement or discontinueceive compensation plans at its own discretid@tigibility for any given plan
does not guarantee award values since Frontier's



Executive Compensation Program is based on perfurenaf the company and the executive. Furtheayds are subject to the terms and conditions afitter’'s compensation
plans.

As a sign-on bonus, you will be grant@®,000 restricted shares (subject to the approval of the Compensation Cittes) as part of your new hire compensation.hese shares
will vest in three equal annual installments 8% per year) , commencing one year from your siabe:.

If, within one year following a “Change in Contrq#s defined below) of the Company, you have a &&&jpn from Service ” (as defined below) eithecdiese (a) your employment
is terminated by the Company without “Cause” (dingel below) or (b) you terminate your employmesigaresult of (i) a material decrease in your Isasary, target bonus or long
term incentive compensation target from those fiectimmediately prior to the Change in Control éory reason other than Cause; (ii) a material egioc of your principal office
location (for this purpose, a relocation more tB@mmiles from the Company’s Stamford, Connecti@&dyuarters will be automatically deemed mateoial)ii) a material decrease in
your responsibilities or authority for any reasohes than Cause (and prior to your terminating yemaployment you provide the Company with noticéhef decrease or relocation
within 90 days of the occurrence of such conditibe, Company does not remedy the condition witfimi@ys of such notice, and you Separate from Sewithin two years of the
initial occurrence of one or more such conditiogs)y shall be entitled to a lump sum payment etjuahe year's base salary and 100% of your bongst@rorated for the plan year
(based on the then current level of salary and &temget or, if greater, that in effect immediatetior to the Change in Control), all restrictiamsrestricted shares held by you shall
immediately lapse and such restricted shares kbatime fully-vested and non-forfeitable and alfg@nance shares granted to you under the Long-Tiecemtive Plan (LTIP) or
other performance incentive plan pursuant to aoperdnce-based vesting schedule shall immediateahged by you and non-forfeitable, with the nundfeshares earned equal to
the target level of shares granted. The lump sayment will be made on the Expiration Date, asraefibelow.

A “Change in Control” shall be deemed to have oelir

(A) When any “person” as defined in Section 3(ajBthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ame(tfe “Exchange Act”), and as used in Section la(d 14(d) thereof,
including a “group” as defined in Section 13(d}leé¢ Exchange Act (but excluding the Company andsagidiary and any employee benefit plan sponsaredtintained by the
Company or any subsidiary (including any trustesusth plan acting as trustee)), directly or indiyedecomes the “beneficial owner” (as definedRine 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act), of securities of the Company representing 58#%nore of the combined voting power of the Conygthen outstanding securities; or

(B) Upon the consummation of any merger or othesiress combination involving the Company, a saiubstantially all of the Company's assets, ligtih or dissolution of the
Company or a combination of the foregoing transasti(the “Transactions”) other than a Transactiomédiately following which the shareholders of @@mpany immediately prior
to the Transaction own, in the same proportiofeagt 51% of the voting power, directly or inditgcof (i) the surviving corporation in any such mger or other business
combination; (ii) the purchaser of or successahéoCompany’s assets; (iii) both the surviving cogion and the purchaser in the event of any coatizin of Transactions; or (iv)
the parent company owning 100% of such survivingamtion, purchaser or both the surviving corgoraéind the purchaser, as the case may be.

“Cause” shall mean your (a) willful and continueddre (other than as a result of physical or matiteess or injury) to perform your material dugien effect immediately prior to the
Change in Control which continues beyond 10 dates afwritten demand for substantial performanatelizered to you by the Company, which demandi sthatify and describe
each failure with sufficient specificity to allow



you to respond, (b) willful or intentional condubtt causes material and demonstrable injury, naopetr otherwise, to the Company or (c) conviciénor a plea ofiolo contendere
to, a crime constituting (i) a felony under the $a0f the United States or any State thereof, pa(ihisdemeanor involving moral turpitude. Forsthurposes, no act or failure to act
on your part shall be considered “willful” or “intBonal” unless it is done, or omitted to be dogeybu in bad faith and without reasonable beliet your action or inaction was in the
best interests of the Company. Any act or faiteract based upon authority given pursuant to @ugen duly adopted by the Board of Directors aséd upon the advice of counsel
for the Company shall be conclusively presumedetddne, or omitted to be done, by you in good faittl in the best interests of the Company.

If it is determined (as hereafter provided) that payment or distribution by the Company to oryour benefit, whether paid or payable or distrilbute distributable pursuant to the
terms of this letter agreement or otherwise purstear by reason of any other agreement, polian program or arrangement, including without tation any stock option,
restricted stock award, stock appreciation rigtgionilar right, or the lapse or termination of aesgtriction on or the vesting or exercisabilityanfy of the foregoing (a “Severance
Payment”), would be subject to the excise tax inspdsy Section 4999 of the Code (or any successweigion thereto) by reason of being “contingentochange in ownership or
control” of the Company, within the meaning of $&et280G of the Code (or any successor provisienetio) or to any similar tax imposed by state ealdaw, or any interest or
penalties with respect to such excise tax (suclotasxes, together with any such interest andlfiesaare hereafter collectively referred to as‘xcise Tax”), then the Severance
Payment shall be payable either (i) in full or &g to such lesser amount which would result ipention of the Severance Payment being subjettedkcise Tax (“Capped
Payment”), whichever of the foregoing amounts,rtigkinto account the applicable federal, state andllincome taxes and the Excise Tax, results im yeceipt on an after-tax basis,
of the greatest amount of economic benefits to potwithstanding that all or some portion of suelnéfits may be taxable under Section 4999 of theeCo

Subject to the provisions of immediately precediagagraph, all determinations required to be masuant to this letter agreement, including whettreExcise Tax is payable by
you and the amount of such Excise Tax, shall beenbgdhe nationally recognized firm of certifiedgtio accountants (the “Accounting Firm”) used bg thompany prior to the
Change in Control (or, if such Accounting Firm deeb to serve, the Accounting Firm shall be a matily recognized firm of certified public accountsiselected by you). The
Accounting Firm shall be directed by the Companyau, as applicable, to submit its preliminary deti@ation and detailed supporting calculationsdthithe Company and you
within 15 calendar days after the date of your teation of employment, if applicable, and any otiech time or times as may be requested by the @oyngr you. If the

Accounting Firm determines that any Excise Taxagable by you, the Company shall either (x) makegnt of the Severance Payment, or (y) reduce ¢er8nce Payment by the
amount which, based on the Accounting Firm’s deteation and calculations, would provide you witle Bapped Payment (except that any portion of trer&ace Payment that
constitutes deferred compensation that is subgeettion 409A shall not be reduced, and its tintkfarm of payment shall not be altered as a resutis process), and pay to you
such reduced amount, in each case, less any Ekai@s, federal, state, and local income and empgoymithholding taxes and any other amounts reduivebe deducted or withheld
by the Company under applicable statute or reguatif the Accounting Firm determines that no Ercrax is payable by you, it shall, at the same @it makes such
determination, furnish you with an opinion that yrave substantial authority not to report any Exdiax on your federal, state, local income or otherreturn. All fees and expenses
of the Accounting Firm and opinion letter shailaid by the Company in connection with the caltohs required by this letter.

The provisions in this letter regarding lapsingestrictions on restricted stock and the earningesformance shares in certain circumstances iekat of a Change in Control will
remain in effect as



long as you are a member of the Senior Leaderskgpil(“SLT"). If at any time you are no longer amieer of the SLT, such provisions will not apply.

You shall not receive any payments or benefitstiichvyou may be entitled hereunder unless you agregecute a release of all then existing claigarest the Company, its
subsidiaries, affiliates, shareholders, directofficers, employees and agents in relation to caietating to or arising out of your employmenttee business of the Company;
provided, however, that any such release shabaobr prevent you from responding to any litigatar other proceeding initiated by a released pamty asserting any claim or
counterclaim you have in such litigation or othesqeeding as if no such release had been givemsagh party, nor shall it bar you from claiminghts that arise under, or that are
preserved by, this letter agreement. To compli wits paragraph, you must sign and return theselsvithin 45 days of the termination of your ergpient, and you must not
revoke it during a seven-day revocation period lieafins when the release is signed and returniett@ompany. Then following the expiration of trégocation period, there shall
occur the “Expiration Date,” which is the 53rd dajfowing the date of termination of your employnten

To the extent that a payment of Section 409A corsagon under this letter agreement is based upanhaving a termination of employment, “terminatmfremployment” shall
have the same meaning as “Separation from Seruiger Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code. In i, to avoid having such a separation from sEndccur after your
termination of employment, you shall not have (ajteur termination of employment) any duties op@ssibilities that are inconsistent with the teration of employment being
treated as such a separation from service as afateeof such termination.

Please be advised that your health and welfarefiteendll begin on your 9 1st day of employment aasla Frontier employee, you will be eligiblgtoticipate in a full range of
benefits. Please bring all of the original pagek with you on your first day of work.

This offer and subsequent employment is contingpoh Frontier’s receipt of acceptable results obackground check and reference checks includimgjnal record check, drug
screening, and verification of education, emplepirand professional references. Certain positigtslso require a motor vehicle or credit checlRll drug screens mustb e
completed within 48 hours from when you receivedhain of custody form.  The drug test wél fegistered by Frontier.

Federal law requires that you provide documentatio®) confirming your eligibility to work in th&nited States. A list of documents that yoay use to establish your identity
and employment eligibility can be found througlr electronic on-boarding tool, Red Carpet . eaBe bring the appropriate documents with you wherreport to work on  your
first day.

Assuming the contingencies noted above are meyam@ommence employment with Frontier, as a d@wof accepting this offer of employment with Rtier you agree that
should you leave employment with Frontier at atigne in the future for any reason, you will notisit, either directly or indirectly, any Froetiemployee for employment with any
other employer for a period of one (1) year aftaun Jeave employment with Frontier ; providétwever, that nothing shall prohibit you from penfing, or having performed on
yolt_Jr_be_haIf, a general solicitation for employeesspecifically focused at Frontier's employee®tiyh the use of media, advertisement, electrohib@ards or other general, public
solicitations .

This offer is not an express or implied contracbnpise or guarantee of employment, of any particutesition, or of any particular term or conditiof employment. Your
employment by Frontier is at will and is subjexthe conditions set forth in Frontier's Code @fi@uct as well as all other Frontier policies aagplicable Federal, State and local
laws.



On behalf of Frontier, | welcome you to our tearRlease do not hesitate to contact me with anytiquess regarding this offer. To acknowledge yaoceptance of this offer, please
sign the bottom of this offer letter and fax (2BB34-5054) or email a scanned copy back to me ttiredPlease return the original signed offeételewith your original new hire
paperwork as soon as convenient.

Sincerely,
/s/ Jim Oddo
Jim Oddo

VP, Talent Acquisition & Development
Frontier Communications Corporation

Acceptance of Offer

By signing below, | hereby accept the Frontier'statgent offer of employment. | understand thatll wnot have a contract of employment with Frentior a specified period of
time. | further agree to abide by policie s pnocedures established by Frontier.

s/ Mark Nielsen Eebruary 10, 2014
Mark Nielsen Date
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Exhibit 10. 3

June 9, 2014

D onald Daniels
47 Woodchuck Lane
Ridgefield, CT 06877

Dear Donald ,

| tis my pleasure to confirm our offer of employmhéor the position of S enior V ice P resident @wahtroller.  The work location for this positiwill be Stamford, CT a n d you
will be reporting to John Jureller, E xecutive e resident and C hief F inancial O fficelour start date will be determined upon acceptance.

Your executive compensation program includesir principle components:

1) Annual base salaryof $270,000(less applicable taxs) paid on a se-monthly basis

2) Cash bonusunder the Frontier Bonus Ple*FBF") with an annual target incentive 50% of yourannualbase salar(initially $135,000)which will be paid out based ¢

3
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company and personal performance. Your first pegout will be prorated based on your start c

Restricted stock awards, which aregenerally granted in the first quarter of each ydRestricted shares vein three equalannual installments (33% per year,
commencing one year from the date of grant , wite-quarter of the r estricted s hares vesting @edring unrestricted upon each annual anniversatgy.dThe annual
target for your position is currently $11 5, 0.00v our first year payout will be prorated basedyour start date. You will receive dividends the extent dividends are
declared by the Board of Directors, on all sharebether vested or un vested . The company’s suarnual dividend policy (which is subject to cerat the discretion of
the Board of Directors) is $0.40 per sh, declared quarterlin an amount 0$0.10 per share per quart

Performance Sharesunder the FrontieLong Term Incentive Plan (LTIF, with an annual performance share taof $35,000 The LTIP target is an annual grant that\
be paid out based on company performance oveea year period (initially, 201 5 - 201 7 ). Therformance metrics (which are subject to changéutoire gran t s) are
currently Operating Cash Flow and Total ShareftoReturn. You will earn performance shares ateiid of each three year period based on theaoy’s performance
over the three-year measurement period on therianétor that award .  Dividends that would h&een payable on any earned shares during a teezeperiod will be pai
at the end of the three year peri

You will be eligible for a cash bonus and restdcs¢ock award for 201 4 with awards paid in thstfiquarter of 201 5. Y ou will be eligible for award under the LTIP commencing
with the 201 5 -201 7 performance period. Frorméserves the right to implement or discontinue ettee compensation plans at its own discretidligibility for any given plan
does not guarantee award values since Frontier's



Executive Compensation Program is based on perfurenaf the company and the executive. Furtheayds are subject to the terms and conditions afitter’'s compensation
plans.

As a sign-on bonus, you will be grant&@,000restricted shares (subject to the approval of the@nsation Committee) as part of your new hiregemmeation.  These shares will
vest in three equal annual installments (33.3e%ypar) , commencing one year from your start.date

You will also receive a $25,000 cash sign on bgsubject to applicable taxes) contingent upon etiecwf a twelve (12) month prorated promissoryen@ttached). The sign on
bonus is paid after thirty (30) days of employment.

Please be advised that your health and welfarefiteméll begin on your 9 1st day of employment aasla Frontier employee, you will be eligibletaticipate in a full range of
benefits. Please bring all of the original paek with you on your first day of work.

This offer and subsequent employment is contingpoh Frontier’s receipt of acceptable results obackground check and reference checks includimginal record check, drug
screening, and verification of education, emplegptrand professional references. Certain positiohsliso require a motor vehicle or credit checRll drug screens mustb e
completed within 48 hours from when you receivedhain of custody form.  The drug test wél iegistered by Frontier.

Federal law requires that you provide documentgtios®) confirming your eligibility to work in th&nited States. A list of documents that ymay use to establish your identity
and employment eligibility can be found througlr electronic on-boarding tool, Red Carpet . eaBé bring the appropriate documents with you wiloerreport to work on  your
first day.

Assuming the contingencies noted above are meyam@ommence employment with Frontier, as a d@wdof accepting this offer of employment with Rtier you agree that
should you leave employment with Frontier at atije in the future for any reason, you will notisit, either directly or indirectly, any Froetiemployee for employment with any
other employer for a period of one (1) year aftaun jeave employment with Frontier ; providémwever, that nothing shall prohibit you from penfiing, or having performed on
your behalf, a general solicitation for employeesspecifically focused at Frontier's employeestigh the use of media, advertisement, electrobibf@ards or other general, public
solicitations .

This offer is not an express or implied contracbnpise or guarantee of employment, of any particutesition, or of any particular term or conditiof employment. Your
employment by Frontier is at will and is subjexthe conditions set forth in Frontier's Code @in@uct as well as all other Frontier policies aagplicable Federal, State and local
laws.



On behalf of Frontier, | welcome you to our tearRlease do not hesitate to contact me with anytiquess regarding this offer. To acknowledge yaoceptance of this offer, please
sign the bottom of this offer letter and fax (2BB34-5054) or email a scanned copy back to me ttiredPlease return the original signed offeételewith your original new hire
paperwork as soon as convenient.

Sincerely,
/s/ Jim Oddo
Jim Oddo

VP, Talent Acquisition & Development
Frontier Communications Corporation

Acceptance of Offer

By signing below, | hereby accept the Frontier'statgent offer of employment. | understand thatll wnot have a contract of employment with Frentior a specified period of
time. | further agree to abide by policie s pnocedures established by Frontier.

/s/ Donald Daniels June 10, 2014
Donald Daniels Date



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
1, Mary Agnes Wilderotter, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report Form 10- Q of Frontier Communications Cogpion ;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescoatain any untrue statement of a material éaadmit to state a material fact necessarynake the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under whiathsstatements were made, not misleading withesp the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includid this report, fairly present in all material pests the
financial condition, results of operations andtcliows of the registrant as of, and for, theqas presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offi@nd | are responsible for establishing andntaaiing disclosure controls and procedures &med in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootrer financial reporting (as defined in ExcbarAct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for thegistrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls pratedures, or caused such disclosure contralpeaotedures to be designed under our supervigiognsure that
material information relating to the registramgcluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is m&dewn to us by others within those entitiesrtipalarly during
the period in which this report is being prepiare

b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cordw@r financial reporting to be designed under aupervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the néfabi  of financial reporting and the preparatiaf financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generabcepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thestegnt's disclosure controls and procedures @medented in this report our conclusions ableteffectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as oéideof the period covered by this report basedumh evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changthim registrant's internal control over financggborting that occurred during the registrant'stmecent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the sea of an annual report) that has materially affiscer is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internantol over financial reporting; and



5. The registrant's other certifying officeddrhave disclosed, based our most recent evaluation of internal control deaincial reporting, to th
registrant's auditors and the audit committé¢éhe registrant's board of directors (or passperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and maakweaknesses in the design or operation oériral control over financial reporting whicteaeasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability toarl, process, summarize and report financial médion; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, ttiravolves management or other employees who hasigréficant role in the registrant's internal aohtover
financial reporting.

Date: August7, 2014 /sl Mary Agnes Wilderotte
Mary Agnes Wilderotte
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
1, John M. Jureller , certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report Form 10- Q of Frontier Communications Cogpion ;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescoatain any untrue statement of a material éaamit to state a material fact necessarynake the statements
made, in light of the ¢ ircumstances under whigthsstatements were made, not misleading witeso the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includid this report, fairly present in all material pests the
financial condition, results of operations andtcliows of the registrant as of, and for, theqais presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offi@nd | are responsible for establishing andntaaiing disclosure controls and procedures &med in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootrer financial reporting (as defined in ExcbarAct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for thegistrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls pratedures, or caused such disclosure corrmlprocedures to be designed under our superyisi@msure that
material information relating to the registramgcluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is m&dewn to us by others within those entitiesrtipalarly during
the period in which this report is being prepiare

b) Designed such internal control oveafiaial reporting, or caused such internal cordwar financial reporting to be designed undersupervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the iélabi  of financial reporting and the preparati@f financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generabcepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thestegnt's disclosure controls and procedures @edented in this report our conclusions ableteffectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as oéideof the period covered by this report basedumh evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changdhia registrant's internal control over finahaieporting that occurred during the registrantsst recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarten the case of an annual report) that has materiadfjected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internantol over financial reporting; and



5. The registrant's other certifying officeddrhave disclosed, based our most recent evaluation of internal control deaincial reporting, to th
registrant's auditors and the audit committé¢éhe registrant's board of directors (or passperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and maakweaknesses in the design or operation oériral control over financial reporting whicteaeasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability toarl, process, summarize and report financial médion; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, ttiravolves management or other employees who hasigréficant role in the registrant's internal aohtover
financial reporting.

Date: August7, 2014 /s/ John M. Jurelle
John M. Jurelle
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly Report of FrentiCommunications Corporation (the "Company")Fenm 10- Q for the period ended June 30 , 2014lex$ With the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohéthe "Report"), I, Mary Agnes Wilderotter, &man and Chief Executive Officer of the Compacsrtify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopteslipat to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley AcD6P2that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requivents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S ecuriirshange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respectse financial condition and results of operatiohthe Company.

[s/ Mary Agnes Wilderotter

Mary Agnes Wilderotter

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
August 7,2014

This certification is made solely for purpose ofl&.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledgedsdrd contained therein, and not for any othepqae.

A signed original of this written statement rigqd by Section 906, or other document authetitigaacknowledging, or otherwise adopting the atgre that appears
in typed form within the electronic version ofsthwritten statement required by Section 906, een provided to Frontier Communications Cafion and will be
retained by Frontier Communications Corporatind durnished to the Securities and Exchange i@ission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly Report of FrentiCommunications Corporation (the "Company")Fenm 10- Q for the period ended June 30 , 2014lex$ With the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateohdthe "Report’), I, John M. Jureller , Chiein&ncial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuaot 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to $e@€6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requivents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiesiange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respectse financial condition and results of operatiafdhe Company.
[s/ JohnM. Jureller
John M. Jureller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
August 7 ,2014

This certification is made solely for purpose ofll&.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledgedstahcontained therein, and not for any other pgepo

A signed original of this written statement riggqd by Section 906, or other document authentigaticknowledging, or otherwise adopting the sigreathat appears in
typed form within the electronic version of thigitten statement required by Section 906, has)be®vided to Frontier Communications Corporatand will be
retained by Frontier Communications Corporatind durnished to the Securities and Exchange Casion or its staff upon request.



